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Question 2 Attachment:

The Nominating and Governance Committee works with the Board on an annual basis to determine the
appropriate characteristics, skills and experience for the Board as a whole and its individual members. In
evaluating the suitability of individual Board members, the Board and the Nominating and Governance
Committee will take into account factors such as the individual’s general understanding of marketing,
finance and other disciplines relevant to the success of a publicly traded company; performance as a
member of Envestnet’s Board; understanding of Envestnet’s business; education and professional
background, including current employment and other Board memberships; reputation for integrity; and
any other factors they consider to be relevant. The Board evaluates each individual in the context of the
Board as a whole, with the objective of recommending a group that can best perpetuate the success of
the business and represent stockholder interests through the exercise of sound judgment, using its
diversity of experience.

When reviewing candidate’s qualifications, the Nominating and Governance Committee considers the
refevance of their experience and background as well as their independence, judgment, understanding
of our business or other related industries and such other factors as the Nominating and Governance
Committee determines are relevant in light of the needs of the Board and our Company.

In evaluating the suitability of individual Board members, the Board and the Nominating and
Governance Committee take into account numerous factors such as the individual’s general
understanding of marketing, finance and other disciplines relevant to the success of a publicly traded
company; performance as a member of the Board; understanding of the Company’s business; education
and professional background, including current employment and other Board memberships; reputation
for integrity; gender; race and any other factors they consider to be relevant. The Board evaluates each
individual in the context of the Board as a whole, with the objective of recommending a group that can
best advance the success of the Company’s business, and represent shareholder interests through the
exercise of sound judgment, using its diversity of experience. Any search firm engaged to assist the
Board or the Nominating and Governance Committee in identifying candidates for appointment to the
Board is specifically directed to include diverse candidates.

For executive officers, the Company considers the relevance of their experience and background as well
as their judgment, understanding of our business or other related industries and such other factors
deemed relevant in light of the needs of the Company.



Question 3 Attachment:
Bill Crager —Male

Luis Aguilar - Male

Anil Arora = Male

Ross Chapin — Male
Gayle Crowell — Female
James Fox — Male
Valerie Mosley — Female

Gregory Smith — Male

Question 4 Attachment:

Bill Crager — White or Caucasian

Luis Aguilar — Hispanic or Latino

Anil Arora — Other

Ross Chapin — White ¢or Caucasian

Gayle Crowell — White or Caucasian

lames Fox — White or Caucasian

Valerie Mosley — Black or African American

Gregory Smith — White or Caucasian

Question 5 Attachment:

The Board believes that it is important that the Board members represent a diverse mix of
viewpoints. The Nominating and Governance Committee works with the Board on an annual basis to
determine the appropriate characteristics, skills and experience for the Board as a whole and its
individual members in light of the needs of the Board, including the extent to which the current
compaosition of the Board reflects a diverse mix of knowledge, experience, skills and backgrounds. The
skills and backgrounds collectively represented on the Board should reflect the diverse nature of the
business environment in which the Company operates.



Question 6 Attachment:

In evaluating the suitability of executive officers, the Company takes into account numerous factors such
as the individual's general understanding of technology, wealth management, marketing, finance and
other disciplines relevant to the success of a publicly traded company; understanding of the Company’s
business; education and professional background; reputation for integrity; gender; race and any other
factors they consider to be relevant. Any search firm engaged to assist the Company in identifying
executive officer candidates is specifically directed to include diverse candidates.
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CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
Purpose

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (this “Code”) of Envestnet, Inc. (“Envestnet”)
summarizes the values, principles and business practices that guide the business conduct of Envestnet and
also provides a set of basic principles to guide Covered Persons (as defined below) regarding the
minimum ethical requirements expected of them. This Code supplements Envestnet’s existing employee
policies and also supplements various other codes of ethics, policies and procedures that have been
adopted by Envestnet or by particular entities within Envestnet. All Covered Persons arc expected to
become familiar with this Code and to apply these principles in the daily performance of their jobs.

Overview

This Code is applicable to all employees, officers, directors, and temporary/contract employees of
Envestnet and all of its U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, “Covered Persons™).

Envestnet is committed to uphold ethical standards in all of its corporate and business activities.
All Covered Persons are expected to perform their work with honesty, truthfulness and integrity and to
comply with the general principles set forth in this Code. Covered Persons are also expected to perform
their work with honesty and integrity in any areas not specifically addressed by this Code.

It is the responsibility of all Covered Persons to maintain a work environment that fosters
integrity, respect and fairness. Envestnet requires all Covered Persons to conduct themselves in a lawful,
honest and ethical manner in all of Envestnet’s business practices.

All Covered Persons are expected to seek the advice of a supervisor, a manager, the Human
Resources Department, or, the Legal and Compliance Department (including the General Counsel of
Envestnet) for additional guidance or if there is any question about issues discussed in this Code.

If any Covered Person observes possible unethical or illegal conduct, such concerns or complaints
should be reported as set forth in “Reporting Violations of this Code” below.

For the purposes of this Code, the term “Executive Officer” shall mean those officers of
Envestnet, as shall be determined by the Board from time to time, who are subject to the reporting
obligations of Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. For purposes of this
Code, the term “Director” shall mean a member of the Board of Directors of Envestnet.

Compliance with Applicable Laws, Rules and Regulations
Compliance with Applicable Laws, Rules and Regulations

All Covered Persons of Envestnet are required to comply with all of the applicable laws, rules and
regulations of the United States and other countries, and the states, counties, cities and other jurisdictions,
in which Envestnet conducts its business, although traffic violations and other minor offenses will not be
considered violations of this Code. Local laws may in some instances be less restrictive than the
principles set forth in this Code. In those situations, Covered Persons should comply with this Code,
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even if the conduct would otherwise be legal under applicable laws. On the other hand, if local laws are
more restrictive than this Code, Covered Persons should comply with applicable laws. Although it is not
expected that all Covered Persons will know the details of these laws, rules and regulations, it is
important for all Covered Persons to seek advice on compliance with any laws, rules and regulations if
any questions regarding compliance arise.

Trading in Envestnet Securities

Trading in Envestnet securities based on inside information is both unethical and illegal.
Generally, persons who have material non-public information about Envestnet are not permitted to buy,
sell or otherwise trade in Envestnet securities. This restriction extends to tipping others about or sharing
with others such material non-public information, since individuals receiving such information might use
it to trade in Envestnet securities.

Envestnet has adopted an Insider Trading Policy, governing trading in Envestnet securities.

Conflicts of Interest

All Covered Persons are required to conduct themselves in a manner and with such ethics and
integrity so as to avoid a conflict of interest, either real or apparent.

A “conflict of interest” is any circumstance where an individual’s personal interest interferes
with the interests of Envestnet. A conflict of interest can arise when a Covered Person takes actions or
has interests that may make it difficult to perform his or her related work objectively and effectively.
Conflicts of interest also may arise when a Covered Person, or a member of his or her family, receives
improper personal benefits as a result of his or her position with Envestnet. Some of the areas where a
conflict of interest could arise include:

* Employment by a competitor, regardless of the nature of the employment, while employed
by Envestnet.

e Placement of business with any firm or organization in which a Covered Person, or any
member of the Covered Person’s family. has a substantial ownership interest or
management responsibility.

» Making endorsements or testimonials for third parties.

e Disclosing Envestnet’s confidential information to a third party without the prior consent
of an Executive Officer.

All questions regarding conflicts of interest and whether a particular situation constitutes a

conflict of interest should be directed to the Legal and Compliance Department. See also “Reporting
Violations of this Code” below.

Confidentiality

Covered Persons are responsible for maintaining the confidentiality of information entrusted to
them as a result of their roles with Envestnet, except when disclosure is authorized or legally mandated.

Page 3 of 14



The sensitive nature of the investment business requires that Envestnet keep its customers’ confidence
and trust. Covered Persons must be continuously sensitive to the confidential and privileged nature of the
information to which they have access concerning Envestnet and its clients and customers, and must
exercise the utmost discretion when discussing any work-related matters with third parties. FEach
Covered Person must safeguard Envestnet’s confidential information and not disclose it to a third party
{other than a third party having a duty of confidentiality to Envestnet) without the prior consent of senior
management.

“Confidential information™ includes but is not limited to information, knowledge, ideas,
documents or materials that are owned. developed or possessed by Envestnet or that in some other
fashion are related to confidential or proprietary matters of Envestnet, its business, customers,
shareholders, Covered Persons or brokers. It includes all business, product, marketing. financial,
accounting, personnel, operations, supplier, technical and research information. It also includes computer
systems, software, documentation, creations, inventions, literary works, developments, discoveries and
trade secrets. Confidential information includes any non-public information of Envestnet that might be
of use to competitors, or harmful to Envestnet, its customers or sharcholders, if disclosed.

All employees of Envestnet are expected to sign an acknowledgment regarding the confidentiality
policy set forth above at the time they become employed with Envestnet.

Covered Persons are expected to comply with the confidentiality policy not only for the duration
of their employment or service with Envestnet, but also after the end of their employment or service with
Envestnet.

All reports and records prepared or maintained pursuant to this Code shall be considered
confidential and shall be maintained and protected accordingly.

Ownership of Intellectual Property

Envestnet owns all of the work performed by Covered Persons at and/or for Envestnet, whether
partial or completed. All Covered Persons shall be obligated to assign to Envestnet all intellectual
property that is created or developed by Covered Persons, alone or with others, while working for
Envestnet.

“Intellectual Property” includes all trademarks and service marks, trade secrets, patents and
patent subject matter and inventor rights in the United Siates and foreign countries and related
applications. It includes all United States and foreign copyrights and subject matter and all other literary
property and author rights, whether or not copyrightable. It includes all creations, not limited to
inventions, discoveries, developments, works of authorship, ideas and know-how. It does not matter
whether or not Envestnet can protect them by patent, copyright, trade secrets, trade names, trade or
service marks or other intellectual property rights. It also includes all materials containing any
intellectual property. These materials include but are not limited to computer tapes and disks. printouts,
notebooks, drawings, artwork and other documentation. To the extent applicable, intellectual property
constitutes a “work made for hire” owned by Envestnet, even if it is not a trade secret.
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Envestnet will not be considered to have a proprietary interest in a Covered Person’s work
product if: (i} the work product is developed entirely on the Covered Person’s own time without the use
or aid of any of Envestnet’s resources, including without limitation, equipment, supplies, facilities or
trade secrets; (i) the work product does not result from the Covered Person’s employment with
Envestnet; and (iii} at the time a Covered Person conceives or reduces the creation to practice, it is not
related to Envestnet’s business nor Envestnet’s actual or expected research or development.

All Covered Persons must disclose to Envestnet all intellectual property conceived or developed
while working for Envestnet. If requested, a Covered Person must sign all documents necessary to
memorialize Envestnet’s ownership of intellectual property under this policy. These documents include
but are not limited to assignments and patent, copyright and trademark applications.

Non-Envestnet Business Activities

Covered Persons, other than Directors who do not also serve in management positions with
Envestnet, must obtain prior, written approval from Envestnet’s General Counsel or his/her designee
before accepting an invitation to serve as a director or trustee of another business.

Covered Persons, other than Directors who do not also serve in management positions with
Envestnet, must obtain prior written approval from Envestnet’s General Counsel or his/her designee
before making any investment in a client, potential client, or other business entity with which Envestnet
has or may have dealings, if the employee is in a position to influence Envestnet’s decision to do business
with the client, potential client, or business entity. This restriction does not apply to an investment in a
publicly-held company if the investment constitutes less than 5 percent of the ownership of that
company.

Directors, other than Directors who do not also serve in management positions with Envestnet,
must obtain prior approval from Envestnet’s General Counsel or Chief Executive Officer in connection
with this section.

Personal Use of Corporate Opportunities

Corporate opportunities belong to Envestnet. Covered Persons who become aware of an
opportunity that would be appropriate for Envestnet must pursue that opportunity on behalf of
Envestnet, if it is interested, and not on behalf of themselves. Furthermore, Covered Persons may not
use Envestnet’s property, information or position for personal gain, and must not compete with
Envestnet.
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Fair Dealing

Each Covered Person must deal fairly with Envestnet’s customers, suppliers, competitors, officers
and employees. Covered Persons should use their best judgment and avoid actions that could be construed
as taking unfair advantage or using unfair dealing practices. Examples include manipulating people,
concealing necessary information, abusing privileged information or misrepresenting facts.

Fairness also requires that Covered Persons deal with competitors at arm’s length. For example,
agreements to restrain trade by setting prices with competitors violate antitrust laws designed to encourage
competition.

Protection and Use of Property

All Covered Persons should protect Envestnet’s assets and ensure they are used for legitimate
business purposes during employment with Envestnet. Improper use includes unauthorized personal
appropriation or use of Envestnet’s assets, data or resources, including computer equipment, software and
data.

Standards of Business Conduct

Envestnet is committed to fostering a work environment in which all individuals are treated with
respect and dignity. Each individual should be permitted to work in a business-like atmosphere that
promotes equal employment opportunities.

The following conduct will not be tolerated and could result in disciplinary action, including
termination:

* Any act which causes doubt about a Covered Person’s integrity, such as the falsifying of
Envestnet records and documents, competing in business with Envestnet, divulging trade
secrets, or engaging in any criminal conduct.

e Any act which may create a dangerous situation. such as carrying weapons, firearms or
explosives on Envestnet’s premises or surrounding areas, assaulting another individual, or
disregarding property and safety standards.

o The use, sale or purchase or attempted use, sale or purchase of alcohol or illegal drugs
while at work, or reporting to work in a condition not fit for work, such as reporting to
work under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs.

* Insubordination, including refusal to perform a job assignment or to follow a reasonable
request from a Covered Person’s manager or supervisor, or discourteous conduct toward
customers, associates, supervisors or shareholders.

e Falsification or destruction of any timekeeping record, intentionally clocking in on another
Covered Person’s attendance or timekeeping record, assisting another Covered Person’s
tampering with their attendance record or tampering with one’s own attendance record.

e Failure to perform work which meets the standards/expectations of the Covered Person’s
position.

o Excessive absenteeism, chronic tardiness, or consecutive absence without notification or
authorization.
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e Any act of dishonesty or falsification of any of Envestnet’s records or documents,
including obtaining employment based on false, misleading, or omitted information.

A Covered Person or Envestnet may terminate the employment or service relationship at will, at
any time, without cause or advance notice, subject to the terms of any applicable employment agreement.
Thus, Envestnet does not strictly adhere to a progressive disciplinary system since each incident of
misconduct may have a different set of circumstances or differ in its severity. Envestnet will take such
disciplinary action as it deems appropriate and commensurate with any misconduct of the Covered
Person.

Employment Practices

Envestnet will not give any person any preferred conditions of employment because of familial or
personal relationships. All personnel decisions are, and will be, based on sound management practices
and the individual merits of each applicant.

Envestnet is firmly committed to providing equal opportunity in all aspects of employment and
will not tolerate any illegal discrimination or harassment of any kind. Examples include derogatory
comments based on race, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, age, physical or mental disability,
religion or ethnicity, veteran status and unwelcome sexual advances.

Improper Payments, Business Entertainment and Gifts

Envestnet employees are prohibited from offering any payment, bribe, kickback, gift or other
thing of value to or for the benefit of any customer, government official or other person for the purpose
of improperly influencing a business decision or obtaining any improper advantage in conducting
Envestnet’s business or representing Envestnet’s interests.

Envestnet employees are also prohibited from soliciting. demanding or receiving any payment,
bribe, kickback, gift or other thing of value for their personal benefit from any customer, government
official or other person as a condition of, or otherwise in connection with, doing business with Envestnet,
including receiving favorable treatment from Envestnet.

The giving and receiving of ordinary and reasonable business entertainment and gifts can be a
legitimate means of establishing and maintaining business relationships. Certain types of entertainment
and gifts, however, may also create improper appearances and expectations or feelings of commitment or
obligation. In addition, providing gifis, entertainment, business amenities or any other thing of value in
any amount to government or public employees or officials may be prohibited under applicable law.

Before accepting any business entertainment or gifts from any customer, supplier or other entity
that does or seeks to do business with Envestnet, you should carefully consider whether accepting the
business entertainment or gift would give rise to a conflict of interest. Envestnet employees are required
to exercise sound judgment and comply with this Code and all applicable laws in all matters related to
business entertainment and gifts. Consult with the Legal and Compliance Department should you have
any questions in connection with these matters.
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Envestnet employees are not permitted to provide cash or other monetary gifts to, or accept the
same from, customers, government officials or other Envestnet business relations. You may provide to or
accept from customers and other Envestnet business relations (other than government officials)
permissible business entertainment, which includes meals, beverages. recreation, lodging, transportation
and tickets to sporting or other events, in each case if they are associated with a business purpose. You
may also provide or receive reasonable gifts of nominal value to or from customers and other Envestnet
business relations (other than government officials). Although what constitutes a gift of nominal value
will depend upon the circumstances, employees should generally consider no more than $100 per
calendar year per customer, supplier or other entity to constitute nominal value. You should consult with
the Legal and Compliance Department if you have questions about the appropriateness of any particular
gift or entertainment.

Business entertainment, gifts and gratuities to government officials are highly regulated, often
prohibited and may even subject an individual to criminal penalties. Before giving or offering any meal,
gratuity, business entertainment or gifts to a government official, you are required to have clearance from
the Legal and Compliance Department.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
FCPA Governance

Envestnet is firmly committed to administering the procedural controls necessary to prohibit
employees from engaging in the activities contemplated by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977
(the “FCPA™). Following the guidelines set forth by the FCPA, Envestnet strictly prohibits unauthorized
facilitation payments (“Facilitation Payments™) to govemment officials of foreign countries (“Foreign
Officials™).

A Foreign Official shall include any officer or employee of a foreign government or any
department, agency, or instrumentality thereof, or of a public international organization, or any person
acting in an ofticial capacity for or on the behalf of any such government or department, agency or
instrumentality, or for or on the behalf of any public intemational organization.

Facilitation Payments include the payment of any money or anything of value to a foreign official
for the purposes of:

M Influencing any act or decision of a foreign official in his or her official capacity
(including, but not limited to, obtaining approval for government issued permits, licenses
or work visas);

(1)  Inducing a foreign official to perform or abstain from performing any act in violation of
the foreign official’s lawful duty;

(iif}  Securing any improper business advantage: or

(iv)  Inducing a foreign official to use his or her official influence with a foreign government
{or instrumentality thereof) to affect or influence any act or decision of such government
in order to assist the inducer in obtaining or retaining business with the government, or
directing such business to any person.
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Envestnet employees are prohibited from making payments to any person knowing that such
payments will be used by the recipient as a Facilitation Payment to a Foreign Official.

Envestnet acknowledges the importance of monitoring exchanges with Foreign Officials that may
not be considered a Facilitation Payment as set forth in the FCPA. In order to monitor such exchanges,
Envestnet requires that all employees obtain approval from Legal and Compliance Department prior to
the employee’s offer of any gift, gratuity, meal, charitable contribution, financial loan, agent/vendor due
diligence. or any travel or entertainment expense to any of the following persons:

1} A current or former Foreign Official, or close relative to such Foreign Official;

2} An officer or employee of a foreign-owned bank, enterprise or wealth fund;

3) A candidate for foreign office or an official of a foreign political party; or

4) An officer or employee of a corporation in which a Foreign Official maintains a controlling
ownership interest.

Internal Confrols and Review

The Legal and Compliance Department will review the proposed expense or payment, the
potential recipient(s) of the offer, and the facts involved in the particular transaction. Upon review, the
Legal and Compliance Department will determine whether the proposed expense or payment would be
considered a violation of the FCPA or this section of this Code, and will provide the employee with a
determination whether such expense or payment may be conducted.

All employee business expenses and payments are recorded within Envestnet’s books and records
and are subject to this Code and the employee’s departmental controls and periodic reviews. Envestnet
does not permit “off the book™ business expenses or payments.

Envestnet will conduct annual reviews of employee business expenses to determine whether any
payment may be considered a Facilitation Payment or otherwise prohibited by the FCPA or this Code.

Covered Persons must use reasonable and proper judgment at all times and avoid any business
gift or business entertainment that might violate the FCPA or create the appearance of an attempt to
improperly influence a Foreign Official. If a Covered Person believes a payment may have been made in
violation of the FCPA or this section of this Code. the employee is required to immediately report the
payment to the Legal and Compliance Department. The Legal and Compliance Department will
investigate the matter, determine whether such payment was made in violation of the FCPA or this
section, and take appropriate action.
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Continued Training

On an annual basis, the Envestnet Legal and Compliance Department will provide FCPA training
to educate all employees on types of prohibited payments, Foreign Officials and internal policies and
procedures for requesting a review of a proposed expense or payment. All employees will certify on an
annual basis that they have attended the training sessions and acknowledge their ongoing compliance
with this section.

Political Contributions

Envestnet does not make direct contributions to any candidates for federal, state or local offices
where applicable laws make such contributions illegal and, in such cases, contributions to political
campaigns must not be made with or reimbursed by Envestnet’s funds or resources. Envestnet’s funds
and resources include (but are not limited to) Envestnet’s facilities, office supplies, letterhead, telephones
and fax machines. This Code does not prohibit Covered Persons from making personal political
contributions as they see fit in accordance with all applicable laws, however employees must comply with
Envestnet’s pre-clearance requirements for political contributions as applicable.

Outside Business Activity

A Covered Person may not engage in any outside business activities (including for one’s self)
without first receiving the written approval of the Legal and Compliance Department. Outside business
activities must also be promptly reported to the Human Resources Department and updated on an annual
basis. Whether or not monetary compensation is involved, a Covered Person is prohibited from
commenting publicly, such as through Internet blogs or printed newsletters, on financial or investment
matters in which Envestnet or its advisory clients may have a direct or indirect interest. Additionally, the
Covered Person cannot give financial or investment advice to anyone outside the scope of one’s
employment with Envestnet.

Due to the fiduciary nature of Envestnet’s business, all potential conflicts of interest that could
result from a Covered Person’s outside employment should be discussed with the Covered Person’s
supervisor or manager and the Human Resources Department, prior to seeking the written approval of the
Legal and Compliance Department.

Envestnet recognizes that this “Outside Business Activity™ section of this Code is not applicable
to Directors who do not also serve in management positions within Envestnet.

Disclosures Made in Reports and Documents

It is important that Envestnet’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™)
and other federal, state, domestic and international regulatory agencies, and Envestnet’s other public
communications, are full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable. Envestnet’s policy is to comply with
all applicable disciosure, financial reporting and accounting regulations applicable to Envestnet.
Envestnet maintains the highest commitment to its disclosure and reporting requirements, and expects all
Covered Persons to record information accurately and truthfully in the books and records of Envestnet.
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Depending on his or her position with Envestnet, a Covered Person may be called upon to provide
necessary information to ensure that Envestnet’s public reports and regulatory filings, and other public
communications, are full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable. Envestnet expects all Covered
Persons to be diligent in providing accurate information to the inquiries that are made related to
Envestnet’s public disclosure requirements.

Covered Persons are required to cooperate and comply with Envestnet’s disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting so that Envestnet’s reports and documents filed
with the SEC and other federal, state, domestic and international regulatory agencies comply in all
material respects with applicable laws, and rules and regulations, and provide full, fair, accurate, timely
and understandable disclosure.

Accounting Standards and Record-Keeping

Envestnet’s books and records must accurately, completely and properly reflect all assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. Covered Persons may not establish undisclosed or unrecorded funds
on behalf of Envestnet for any purpose. Envesinet does not permit any atiempis 1o create false or
misleading records, and Covered Persons may not record or establish any false or misleading entries in
Envestnet’s books and records for any reason.

Envestnet’s business transactions must be properly authorized and completely and accurately
recorded on Envestnet’s books in accordance with Envestnet’s established financial. accounting and
management policies. No payment or transfer of Envestnet’s funds or assets may be made or approved
with the intention or understanding that any part of such payment or transfer is to be used other than as
specified in the supporting documents.

Covered Persons should always retain or destroy records according to Envestnet’s record
retention guidelines. In no event should records be destroyed that relate to an existing dispute or
investigation, unless directed by Envestnet’s Legal and Compliance Department, Covered Persons
should consult Envestnet’s General Counsel or his/her designee with any questions concerning record
retention,

Accountability for Adherence to this Code

New Covered Persons will receive a copy of this Code during the orientation process conducted
by representatives of the Human Resources Department or the Legal and Compliance Department and
shall acknowiedge that they have received, read and understand this Code and will comply with the
requirements of this Code. Covered Persons shall be required to complete such additional training and
continuing education requirements regarding this Code and matters related to this Code as Envestnet
shall from time to time establish.

Directors and Executive Officers will be required to certify annually, on a form to be provided by

the Legal and Compliance Department. that they have received, read and understand this Code and have
complied with the requirements of this Code.
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A violation of this Code may result in appropriate disciplinary action including the possible
termination from employment with Envestnet. Nothing in this Code restricts Envestnet from taking any
disciplinary action on any matters pertaining to the conduct of a Covered Person, whether or not
expressly set forth in this Code.

Reporting Violations of this Code

Described in this Code are procedures generally available for addressing ethical issues that may
arise. As a general matter, if a Covered Person has any questions or concerns about compliance with this
Code, he or she is encouraged to speak with his or her supervisor, manager, and representatives of the
Human Resources Department or the Lega! and Compliance Department (including the General Counsel
of Envestnet).

If a Covered Person does not feel comfortable talking to any of the persons listed above for any
reason, he or she should call, facsimile or email EthicsPoint, the independent third party Call Center (call
1-866-381-3168 within the U.S. or 000-800-100-1071 outside of the U.S., or visit
www.envestnet.ethicspoint.com). If a Covered Person does not feel comfortable stating his or her name,
calls, and/or emails to the Call Center may be made anonymously.

Responsibility to Report Violations of this Code and Law

As part of its commitment to ethical and lawful conduct, Envestnet strongly encourages Covered
Persons to promptly report any suspected violations of this Code or the law.

Envestnet will treat the information set forth in a report of any suspected violation of this Code or
law in a confidential manner, including the identity of the caller who asks that his or her identity remain
confidential, unless necessary to conduct an adequate investigation or compelled by judicial or other legal
process or obligation, and will conduct a prompt and appropriate evaluation and investigation of any
matter reported. Covered Persons are expected to cooperate in any investigations of reported violations.

By law, Envestnet may not discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any other manner
discriminate against a Covered Person in the terms and conditions of employment because of any lawful
act done by the Covered Person to provide information or otherwise assist in an investigation regarding
any conduct which the Covered Person reasonably believes constitutes a violation of any rule or
regulation of the SEC or any provision of federal law relating to fraud against shareholders when the
information or assistance is provided to, or the investigation is conducted by, among others, a person(s)
working for Envestnet with the authority to investigate, discover or terminate misconduct. To encourage
Covered Persons to report violations of illegal or unethical conduct, Envestnet will not allow retaliation
to be taken against any Covered Person who has made a report of such conduct in good faith.

The law requires that Envestnet’s Audit Committee have in place procedures for the receipt,
retention and treatment of complaints concerning accounting, intemal accounting controls, and auditing
matters and procedures for Covered Persons to submit their concemns regarding questionable accounting
or auditing matters (please refer to the Envestnet Whistleblower Policy for more information).
Complaints concerning accounting, intemal accounting controls or auditing matters will be directed to
the attention of the Audit Comnmittee, or the appropriate members of that committee. For direct access to
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Envestnet’s Audit Committee, please address complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting
controls, or auditing matters to:

Board of Directors — Audit Committee
Envestnet, Inc.

35 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2400
Chicago, Illinois 60601

Complaints or concerns regarding accounting or auditing matters may also be made to the independent
third party Call Center as stated above. If a Covered Person does not feel comfortable stating his or her
name, calls, facsimiles and/or emails to the Call Center may be made anonymously.

Waivers of this Code

Any change in or waiver of this Code as it relates to Directors or executive officers may be made
only by the Board or a commiittee thereof in the manner described below, and any such waiver (including
any implicit waiver) shall be promptly disclosed to stockholders of Envestnet to the extent required by
the rules of the SEC, the corporate governance listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and
any other applicable laws, rules and regulations. Any requests for waivers of this Code for Covered
Persons other than Directors and executive officers may be made to the Legal and Compliance
Department in the manner described below.

Manner for Requesting Waivers.

For the purposes of this Code, the term “waiver” shall mean a material departure from a provision
of this Code. An “implicit waiver™ shall mean the failure of Envestnet to take action within a reasonable
period of time regarding a material departure from a provision of this Code that has been made known to
an Executive OfTicer.

[t a Director or Executive Officer wishes to request a waiver of this Code, the Director or
Executive Officer may submit to the Legal and Compliance Department a written request for a waiver of
this Code only if he/she can demonstrate that such a waiver:

e is necessary to alleviate undue hardship or in view of unforeseen circumstances or is otherwise
appropriate under all the relevant facts and circumstances;

+ will not be inconsistent with the purposes and objectives of this Code;

* will not adversely affect the interests of clients of Envestnet or the interests of Envestnet; and

¢ will not result in a transaction or conduct that would violate provisions of applicable laws or
regulations.

The Legal and Compliance Department will forward the waiver request to the Audit Committee, the
full Board of Directors or a committee thereof for consideration. Any decision to grant a waiver from
this Code shall be at the sole and absolute discretion of the Audit Committee, the full Board of Directors
or committee thereof, as appropriate. The Secretary of Envestnet will advise the Legal and Compliance
Department in writing of the Board’s decision regarding the waiver, including the grounds for granting or
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denying the waiver request. The Legal and Compliance Department shall promptly advise the Director
or Executive Officer in writing of the Board’s decision.

If a Covered Person who is not a Director or Executive Officer wishes to request a waiver of this
Code, the Covered Person may submit to the Legal and Compliance Department a written request for a
waiver of this Code only if he/she can demonstrate that such a waiver would satisfy the same criteria set
forth above. The Legal and Compliance Department shall, after appropriate consultation with the
applicable business unit head, forward the waiver request to the General Counsel of Envestnet for
consideration. The decision to grant a waiver request shall be at the sole and absolute discretion of the
General Counsel of Envestnet. The General Counsel will advise the Legal and Compliance Department
in writing of his/her decision regarding the waiver, including the grounds for granting or denying the
waiver request. The Legal and Compliance Department shall promptly advise the Covered Person in
writing of the General Counsel’s decision.

Other Policies and Procedures

Envestnet Asset Management, Inc.’s Code of Ethics adopted under Ruie 204A-1 pursuant to the
Investment Adviser Act of 1940 and Rule 17j-1 pursuant to the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended and other policies and procedures adopted by Envestnet are additional requirements that,
depending upon the specific terms of such policies and procedures, may apply to some or all Covered
Persons.

Disclosure

Envestnet will post this Code on its website at www.envestnet.com and its annual report will
indicate that the information is available on its website and in print for any shareholder who requests it.

Annual Review of Policy

The Board of Directors shall review this Code and make changes as appropriate on an annual
basis.
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Forward -Looking Statements

noar "noat [T

Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Envestnet,” “the Company, " “we,

and its subsidiaries as a whole.

us"” and “our” refer to Envestnel, Inc.

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are in thousands, excepl share and per share information, numbers of
financial advisors and client accounts.

This annual report on Form 10 -K comtains forward -looking statements regarding future events and our future results
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward -looking statements include, in
particular, statements about our plans, strategies and prospects under the heading “Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations™. These statements are based on our current expeciations and projections about
Sfuture events and are identified by terminology such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “'continue,” "could ™ "estimate,” "“expect,’

“expected,” "intend, " “will,” "may," or “should" or the negative of those terms or variations of such words, and similar
expressions are intended to identify such forward -looking statements. In addition, any statements thai refer to projections of
our future financial performance, our anticipated growth and trends in our business and other characteristics of future events
or circumstances are forward -looking statements. Forward-looking statemenis may include, among others, stalements relating
1o:

”oa (LT

» difficulty in sustaining rapid revenue growth, which may place significant demands on our adminisirative,
operational and financial resources;

s our ability to successfully identify potential acquisition candidates, complete acquisitions and successfully integrate
acquired companies;

= our ability 1o successfully execute the conversion of clients ' assets from their technology platform to our technology
platforms in a timely and accurate manner;

*  the amount of our debt and our ability to service our debt;

= the variability of our revenue from period to period;

*  the targeting of some of our sales efforts at large financial institutions and large internet services companies which
profongs sales cycles, requires substantial upfront sales costs and results in less predictability in completing some of
our sales;

= the deployment of our solutions by customers and potential delays and risks inherent in the process;

* the competitiveness of our solutions and services as compared to those of others;

*  the concentration of our revenues from the delivery of our solutions and services to clients in the financial services
industry;

= our reliance on a limited number of clients for a maierial portion of our revenue;

»  the impact of fluctuations in market conditions and interest rates on the demand for our products and services and
the value of assels under management or administration;

= changes in invesiing palterns on the assels on which we derive revenue and the freedom of investors 1o redeem or
withdraw investments generally at any time;

*  the renegoliation of fees by our clients,

= our ability 1o keep up with rapid technological change, evolving industry standards or changing requiremenis of
clients;

s our ability to introduce new solutions and services and enhancements;

«  our ability to maintain the security and integrity of our systems and facilities and to maintain the privacy of
personal information and potential liabilities for data security breaches;

*  the effect of privacy laws and regulations, indusiry standards and contractual obligations and changes to these
laws. regulations. standards and obligations on how we operate our business and the negative effects of failure to
comply with these requirements;

«  liabilities associated with potential. perceived or actual breaches of fiduciary duties and'or conflicts of interest;

» failure of our solutions, services or systems, or those of third parties on which we rely, 1o work properly;

»  harm (o our repuiation;

= our failure lo process transactions effectively or fail to adequately protect against disputed or potential fraudulent
activities;

*  our inabifity to maintain our payment network with third-party service providers, or difficulties encountered by our
disbursement partners;

= limitations on our ability to access information from third parties or charges for accessing such information;

= failure by our customers to obtain proper permissions or waivers for our use of disclosure of information;

+  potential liability for use of inuccurate information by third parties provided by us:

3
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= the failure of our insurance to adequately prolect us;

«  our dependence on our senior management team,

»  our ability (o recruit and retain qualified employees,

«  regulatory compliance failures;

«  changes in laws and regulations, including tax laws and regulations, or the inability to continue 1o rely on
exemptions from the applicability of certain laws or regulations;

= the occurrence of a deemed “change of control”;

= adverse judicial or regulatorv proceedings against us;

s the failure to protect our intellectual property rights;

»  potential claims by third parties for infringement or their intellectual property rights:

= our use of open source coding;

»  protection of trade secrets and other proprietary information;

*  risks associated with our international operations;

= the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

«  the unceriainty of the application and interpretation of certain tax laws,

*  changes in accounting principles and standards;

»  changes in the estimates of fair value of reporting units or of long-lived assets;

= issuances of additional shares of common stock or issuances of shares of preferred stock or convertible securities on
our existing stockholders;

= general economic conditions, political and regulatory conditions,

= global events, natural disasters, environmental disasters, terrorist ottacks and pandemics, including their impact on
the economy and trading markets, and

*  management s response (o these factors.

More information on these impartant factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the
Sforward -looking statements we make in this annual report are set forth in Part I under “Risk Factors”. In addition, there may
be other factors of which we are presently unaware or that we currently deem immaterial that could cause our actual resulis to
be materially different from the resulis referenced in the forward -looking statements. All forward -looking statemerys contained
in this annual report and documents incorporated herein by reference are qualified in their entirety by this cautionary
statement. Forward -looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we do not intend to updaie or otherwise
revise the forward -looking statements to reflect events or circumstunces afier the date of this annual report or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by applicable law. If we do update one or more forward -looking
statements, no inference should be made that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward -looking
statements.

Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations are reasonable, we may not achieve our plans,
inlentions or expeclations.

You should read this annual report on Form 10 -K completely and with the understanding that our actual future
results, levels of activity, performance and achievements may be different from what we expect and that these differences may
be material. We qualify all of our forward -looking statements by these cautionary statements.

The foliowing discussion and analysis should also be read along with our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes included elsewhere in this anmual report. Except for the historical information contained herein, this discussion
contains forward -looking statements that involve risks and uncertainiies. Actual results could differ materially from those
discussed below.

Except where we have otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, dollar amounts presented in this
Form 10 -K are in thousands, excepi for the Fxhibits and per share amounts.
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Item 1. Business
General

Envestnet, a Delaware corporation, is a leading provider of intelligent systems for wealth management and financial
wellness. Envestnet’s unified technology enhances advisor productivity and strengthens the wealth management process.
Envestnet empowers enterprises and advisors to more fully understand their clients and deliver better outcomes.

More than 4,700 companies, including 16 of the 20 largest U.S. banks, 43 of the 50 largest wealth management and
brokerage firms, over 500 of the largest registered investment advisers (“RIAs™) and hundreds of internet services companies,
leverage Envestnet technology and services. Envestnet solutions enhance knowledge of the client. accelerate client on-
boarding, improve client digital experiences and help drive better outcomes for enterprises, advisors and their clients.

Founded in 1999, Envestnet has been a leader in helping wansform wealth management, working towards its goal of
building a holistic financial wellness network that supports advisors and their clients,

Through a combination of platform enhancements, partnerships and acquisitions, Envestnet uniquely provides a
financial network connecting software, services and data, delivering better intelligence and enabling its customers to drive
better outcomes.

Envestnet serves clients from its headquarters based in Chicago, lllinois, as well as other locations throughout the
United States, India and other international locations.

Segments

Envestnet is organized around two primary, complementary business segments. Financial information about each
business segment is contained in Part 11, Item 8. “Note 19—Segment [nformation™. Our business segments are as follows:

= Envestnet Weaith Solutions - a leading provider of unified wealth management software and services to
empower financial advisors and institutions.

»  Envestnet Data & Analytics - a leading data aggregation and data intelligence platform powering dynamic,
cloud-based innovation for digital financial services.

Envestnet Wealth Solutions Segment

Envestnet Wealth Solutions empowers financial advisors at broker-dealers, banks and RIAs with the tools they require
to deliver holistic wealth management to their end clients. [n addition, the firm provides advisors with practice management
support so that they can grow their practices and operate more efficiently. At the end of 2019, Envestnet Wealth Solutions’
platform assets grew to approximately $4 trillion in nearly 11.9 million accounts overseen by more than 100 thousand advisors.

Services provided to advisors include: financial planning. risk assessment tools, investment strategies and solutions,
asset allocation models, research, portfolio construction, proposal generation and paperwork preparation, model management
and account rebalancing, account monitoring. customized fee billing. overlay services covering asset allocation, tax
management and socially responsible investing, aggregated multi-custodian performance reporting and communication tools,
plus data analytics. We have access to a wide range of leading third - party asset custodians.

We offer these solutions principally through the following product and service suites:

= Envestnet | Enterprise — provides an end-to-end open architecture wealth management platform, through which
advisors can construct portfolios for clients. It begins with aggregated household data which then leads to a
financial plan, asset allocation, investment strategy, portfolic management, rebalancing and performance
reporting. Advisors have access to over 20,000 investment products. Envestnet | Enterprise also offers data
aggregation and reporting. dala analytics and digital advice capabilities to customers.

*  Envestnet| Tamarac~ provides leading trading, rebalancing, portfolio accounting, performance reporting and
client relationship management software, principally to high-end RIAs,
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»  Envestnet | MoneyGuide provides leading goals-based financial planning solutions to the financial services
industry. The highly adaptable software helps financial advisors add significant value for their clients using best-
in-class technology with enhanced integrations to generate financial plans.

*  Envestnet | Retirement Solutions (*ERS™) offers a comprehensive suite of services for advisor-sold retirement
plans. Leveraging integrated technology, ERS addresses the regulatory, data, and investment needs of retirement
plans and delivers the information holistically.

*  Envestnet | PMCe, or Portfolio Management Consultants (“PMC™) — provides research and consulting services
to assist advisors in creating investment solutions for their clients. These solutions include nearly 4,500 vetted
third party managed account products, multi-manager portfolios, fund strategist portfolios, as well as over 1,000
proprietary products. such as quantitative portfolios and fund strategist portfolios. PMC also offers portfolio
overlay and tax optimization services.

As the tables below indicate, Envestnet Wealth Solutions has experienced steady and significant growth over the last
several years. We believe this growth is attributable 1o secular trends in the wealth management industry, the uniqueness and
comprehensiveness of our products, as well as acquisitions. Periodically clients have chosen to change the way they pay for our
solution, whereby they switch from an asset-based pricing model to a subscnption-based model, which has increased our
subscription-based metrics.

The following charts show growth in the number of advisors, accounts and assets supported by Envesinet Wealth
Solutions, distinguishing those metrics between assets under management or administration (“AUM/A™) and subscription:

AUM/A & Subscription Advisors
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Envestnet Data & Analytics Segment

Envestnet Data & Analytics is a leading data aggregation and data intelligence platform. As an antificial intelligence
(“Al”} and dala specialist, Envestnet Data & Analytics gathers, refines and aggregates a massive set of end-user permissioned
transaction level dala, and combines them with financial applications, reports, market research analysis, and application
programming interfaces (“APIs”) for its customers.

Over 1,200 financial institutions, financial technology innovators and financial advisory firms, including 15 of the 20
largest U.S. banks, subscribe to the Envestnet Data & Analytics platform to underpin personalized financial apps and services
for over 25 million paid subscribers.

Envestnet Data & Analytics serves two main customer groups: financial institutions (“FI™) and financial technology
innovators, which we refer to as Yodlee Interactive (“YI™) customers.

= The Financial Institutions group provides customers with secure access to open APIs, end-user facing
applications powered by our platform and APIs (“FinApps”), and reports. Customers receive end user-
permissioned transaction data elements that we aggregate and cleanse. Envesinet Data & Analytics also enables
customers to develop their own applications through its open APIs, which deliver secure data, money movement
solutions, and other functionality. FinApps can be subscribed to individually or in combinations that include
personal financial management. wealth management, credit card, payments and small-medium business solutions.
They are targeted at the retail financial, wealth management, small business, credit card, lenders, and other
financial services sectors. These FinApps help consumers and small businesses simplify and manage their
finances, review their financial accounts, track their spending. calculate their net worth, and perform a variety of
other activities. For example, Yodlee Expense and Income Analysis FinApp helps consumers track their spending,
and a Payroll FinApp {rom a third party helps small businesses process their payroll. The suite of reports is
designed to supplement traditional credit reports by utilizing consumer permissioned aggregated data from over
21,000 sources, including banking, investment, loan, and credit card information.

»  The Yodlee Interactive group enables customers to develop new applications and enhance existing solutions.
These customers operate in a number of sub-vertical markets, including wealth managemenlt, personal financial
managemenl, small business accounting, small business lending and authentication. They use the Envestnet Data
& Analytics platform to build solutions that leverage our open APIs and provide access to a large end user base. In
addition to aggregated transaction-level account data elements. we provide YI customers with secure access to
account verification. money movement and risk assessment tools via our APls. We play a critical role in
transferring innovation from financial technology innovators o financial institutions. For example, Y1 customers
use Envestnet Data & Analytics applications to provide working capital to small businesses online; personalized
financial management, planning and advisory services; e-commerce payment solutions; and online accounting
systems for small businesses. We provide access to our solutions across multiple channels. including web, tablet
and mobile.

Both FI and YT channels benefit customers by improving end-user satisfaction and retention, accelerating speed to
market, creating technology savings and enhancing their data analytics solutions and market research capabilities. End users
receive better access to their financial information and more control over their finances. leading to more informed and
personalized decision making. For customers who are members of the developer community, Envestnet Data & Analytics
solutions provide access to critical data and payments solutions, faster speed to market and enhanced distribution.

Envestnet Apalytics provides data analytics, mobile sales solutions, and online educational tools to financial advisors,
asset managers and enterprises. These tools empower financial services firms to extract key business insighis to run their
business better and provide timely and focused support to advisors. Our dashboards deliver segmentation analytics. multi-
dimensional benchmarking. and practice pattern analyses that provide critical insights to ¢lients.

We believe that our brand leadership, innovative technology and intellectual property, large customer base, and unique
data gathering and enrichment provide us with competitive advantages that have enabled us to generate strong growth.
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Market Opportunity

The wealth management industry has experienced significant growth in terms of assets invested by retail investors in
the past several years. According to the Federa! Reserve, U.S. household financial assets totaled approximately $91 triflion as
of September 30, 2019, representing a sizeable weallh management opportunity. According to Boston Consuliing Group's
Global Wealth Report 2019, North American wealth is expected to grow by 5.4% each year between 2018 and 2023 to exceed
3115 trillion. Investable assets are projected to rise to 56% of this total, or some $65 trillion. Based on data from Cerulli
Associates, advisors had discretion over 58% of managed account assets as of September 30, 2019,

In the next 5-10 years, we believe that fewer firms and fewer advisors will manage more assets, making scale and
operational efficiency far more important. This will require firms to integrate technology in all areas of their business.
According to Aite Groups Technology Integration Turbocharges Advisor Productivity Report, Envestnet's integrated technology
delivers significant gains in operational efficiency.

The following trends are impacting Envestnet’s business and creating a large and growing market opportunity for
technology -enabled investment solutions and services like ours:

= Wealth management continues to evolve as discount brokers and robo-advisors try to move ‘up market” into
financial advice and private banks try to move ‘down marke(’ from the ultra-high-net-worth, setting their sights on
a broader swath of the end-consumer market.

«  Fee pressure, digital advice and regulations (including Regulation Best Interest) add to the burden advisors and
firms have to be profitable and maintain profit margins.

*  While the future of financial advice grows more dependent on technology, investors want technology to
complement, not replace, human advisors. According to studies from the Million Dollar Round Table and the
Money Management Institute, the vast majority prefer working with a human advisor to build a trusting
relationship.

*  Advisors who use an integrated. all-in-one solution reported higher satisfaction with technology than advisory
firms that are on open-architecture platforms or those that select individual pieces of technology. According to the
2019 InvestmentNews Advisor Technology Study, top-performing advice firms evaluate their technology more
frequently and focus more on the impact thal technology has on productivity and profitability. These firms place
greater importance on technology that improves client experiences through more personalized advice, better
outcomes and more effective marketing efforts.

Business Model

Envestnet’s business model lends itself to a high degree of recurring and predictable revenues. Envestnet provides
asset-based, subscription-based and professional services on a business-to-business-to-consumer (“B2B2C™) basis to financial
services clients, whereby customers offer solutions based on our platform to their end users. On a business-to-business {*B2B”)
basis, we deliver an open platform to customers and third-party developers through an open API framework. We believe that a
number of characteristics contribute to the success of our business model, including:

= Favorable trends with respect to growth in fee-based assets and need for advanced technology;
*  Recurring and resilient revenue base: and
+  Strong customer retention.

Revenue is generated in the following three categories:
Asset-based recurring revenues

Asset-based recurring revenues primarily consist of fees for providing customers continuous access to platform
services through the Company's uniquely customized platforms. These platform services include investment manager research,
portfolio diagnostics, proposal generation, investment model management, rebalancing and trading, portfolio performance
reporting and monitoring solutions, billing and back office and middle-office operations and administration and are made
available to customers throughout the contractual term from the date the customized platform is launched.

The asset-based fees the Company earns are generally based upon variable percentages of assets managed or
administered on our platforms. The fee percentage varies based on the level and type of services the Company provides to its
customers, as well as the values of existing customer accounts. The values of the customer accounts are affected by inflows or
outflows of customer funds and market fluctuations.
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In approximately 90% of asset-based fee arrangements, customers are hilled at the beginning of each quarter based on
the market value of customer assets on our wealth management platforms as of the end of the prior quarter, providing for a high
degree of revenue visibility in the current quarter. Revenue may fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on changes in asset
values, fee rates on those asset values and asset flows.

Subscription-based recurring revenues

Subscription-based recurring revenues primarily consist of fees for providing customers continuous access to the
Company’s platform for wealth management and financial wellness. The subscription-based fees generally include fixed fees
and or usage-based fees.

Subscription fees vary based on the scope of technology solutions and services being used, and are priced in a variety
of constructs based on the size of the business, number of users or number of accounts, and in many cases can increase over
time based on the growth of these factors.

Despite this potential variance, we believe that Envestet’s subscription fees are also highly predictable because they
are generalty established in multi-year contracts providing longer-term visibility regarding that portion of total revenues.

Professional Services and Other

Envestnet also generates revenue from professional services for client onboarding, technology development and other
project related work.

Growth Strategy
Envestnet intends to increase revenue and profitability by continuing to pursue the following strategies:

= Add new enterprise clients;

»  Increase our advisor base;

= Extend the account base within a given advisor relationship;

+  Expand the services utilized by each advisor or enterprise client. including the cross selling of services across
Envestnet’s business lines where applicable;

«  Continue to invest in our technology platforms and data analytics capabilities; and

»  Continue to pursue strategic transactions and other relationships.

Technology Platforms

Qur technology platforms feature a three - tier architecture integrating a web- based user interface, an application tier
that houses the business logic for all of the platforms” functionality and a SQL Server databases. The application tier resides
behind load balancers which distribute the workload demands across our servers. We believe our technelogy design allows for
significant scalability.

Envestnet undergoes an annual SSAE 16 SOC | Type Il audit to validaie the continued operation of our internal
controls on three of its main technology platforms; the Unified Managed Platform, the Unified Managed Platform
{Institutional) and Tamarac platforms. The SOC reports confirm design and operating effectiveness of intermal controls. We
maintain multiple redundancies, back up our databases and safeguard technologies and proprietary information consistent with
industry best practices. We also maintain a comprehensive business continuity plan and company - wide risk assessment
prograni that is consistent with industry best practices and that complies with applicable regulatory requirements.

We have historically made significant investments in platform development in order to enhance and expand our
technology platforms and expect to continue to make significant investments in the future, 1n the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017, we incurred technology development costs totaling approximately $59.850, $52,840 and $40,800,
respectively. Of these costs, we capitalized approximately $34,000, $24,000 and $12,600, respectively, as internally developed
software. We expect to continue focusing our technology development efforts principally on adding features to increase our
market competitiveness, enhancements to improve operating efficiency, address regulatory demands and reduce risk and
client-driven requests for new capabilities.
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Qur proprietary web-based platforms provide financial advisors with access to investment solutions and services that
address in one unified, centrally -hosted platform, based on our knowledge of the industry, the widest range of front-, middle-
and back - office needs in our industry. The “open architecture™ design of our technology platforms provide financial advisors
with flexibility in terms of the investment solutions and services they access, and configurability in the manner in which the
financial advisors utilize particular investment solutions and services. The multi-tenant platform architecture ensures that this
level of flexibility and customization is achieved without requiring us to create unique applications for each client, thereby
reducing the need for additional technology personnel and associated expenses. In addition, though our technology platforms
are designed to deliver a breadth of functions, financial advisors are able to select from the various investment solutions and
services we offer, without being required to subseribe to or purchase more than what they believe is necessary.

Our data aggregation platform collects a wide variety of end user-permissioned transaction-level data from over
21,000 sources, including banking, investment, loan and credit card information, and puts this data in a common repository.
Envestnet Data & Analytics developed robust proprietary technology and processes and established relationships that allows us
to curate these data sources and expand our access lo new data sources. Over 60% of this data is collected through structured
feeds from our FI customers and other Fls. These structured feeds, which consist of either batch files pushed to us or real-time
access, provide this critical data efficiently and at scale. Where we do not have direct connections, we capture data using our
proprietary information-gathering techniques.

Beyond collecting data, our data aggregation platform performs a data refining process and augments the data with
additional information from a variety of other sources. We enrich the data with a proprietary twelve-step process, adding such
elements as categorization and merchant identification for bank or credit card account data and security identification,
classification and normalization for investment data. As our platform usage grows and is exposed to more users and use cases,
the system benefits from machine learning algorithms to better normalize, categorize and process large amounts of data,
allowing our network to become more effective, efficient and valuable to our customers. Utilizing this enhanced data, including
consolidated data from within our FI customers and account data regarding accounts at other Fls, our data intelligence
organizes, analyzes and presents it in a manner that helps our customers offer personalized solutions that enable their
consurners to achieve better financial outcomes.

Our analytics platform provides a highly scalable cloud-based environment that supports a cost effective and secure
way of handling very large data sets, permitting us to develop and test new machine leaming algorithms and transform these
data sets using the resulting models. The results of the computations can be accessed interactively, as files, or via API access
through our data aggregation platform.

Our money movement solutions facilitate payment flows. Our customers can debit and credit consumer and small
business accounts in real time or in batches and route payments between accounts (funds transfer), to billers (bill pay), or to
other individuals {peer to peer). Designed to be run as a service, our money movement solutions allow us to operate these
functionalities in the cloud and quickly adapt to new payment systems. Our payment engine, which is a principal component of
our meney movement solutions, is a task-based payment processing platform that controls all payment activity across cobrands,
originators, processors and billers.

Customers

+  Financial advisors that are working alone or as part of financial advisory firms. Our principal value proposition
aimed at financial advisors working alone or as part of financial advisory firms is that our technology platforms allow
them to compete effectively with financial advisors employed by large financial institutions. Envestnet can provide
these advisors with access to as many or more of the investment solutions and services that are typically available to
financial advisors working at the largest firms.

»  Enterprise clients in wealth management. We provide enterprise clients with customized, private -labeled technology
platforms that enable them to support their affiliated financial advisors with a broad range of investment solutions and
services. Our contracts with enterprise clients establish the applicable terms and conditions, including pricing terms,
service level agreements and basic platform configurations.

»  Financial institutions. We serve global banks through financial applications. Envestnet Data & Analytics Retail
Banking solution is a set of innovative FinApps providing consumers with a clear picture and greater insight into their
financial lives. It enables customers to consolidate all their financial account information in one place, giving them a
better handle on their money. Personalized tools allow them o manage, and meet their financial goals — which in turn
makes them more engaged and more loyal customers.
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o Other financial technology providers. We work with a variety of firms who provide technology to the financial
services industry. We provide FinApps, personal financial management tools and data aggregation capabilities to
companies in online lending, e-commerce and payments, digital advice and wealth management and other web
development firms.

Sales and Marketing
Qur sales teams are organized based on our customers.

«  Quradvisor-facing sales teams are field sales professionals supported by internal consultants, organized regionally,
responsible for supporting firms and investment advisors who are customers of Envestnet. They help advisors create
investment proposals, navigate Envestnet’s wealth management platform and facilitate new business. Our Platform
Consulting Group helps advisors utilize Envestnet’s wealth management platform effectively and efficiently. They are
subject matter experts on advisor managed programs, unified managed accounts (“UMA™), proposal guidance and site
navigation. They provide consulting services to a number of large clients. Envestnet's PMC Consulting team of
investment professionals provide a variety of portfolio and investment management consulting services to RIAs and
broker-dealer advisors using Envestnet’s wealth management platform.

*  Enterprise Consultants are the main point of contact for enterprise clients with respect to day-to-day platform matters
as well as contractual and pricing efforts. This includes support for advisors and firm management with regard to the
overall relationship. The enterprise consultant is essentially the client’s relationship manager who serves as the liaison
between the firm and Envestnet.

+  We have a direct sales and pre-sales team servicing the leading giobal financial institutions. The FI sales team is
divided geographically. Each regional sales and pre-sales team is responsible for acquiring new FI customers. Within
the North America region, direct sales and pre-sales representatives are further divided into teams that focus on
specific accounts, on a named-account basis. depending on size, location, product specialization and/or brand. These
sales teams are supported by customer advocacy teams who specialize in customer account management and
expansion. Together, sales, pre-sales and customer advocacy representatives are responsible for growing our customer
relationships in terms of account penetration (cross-selling additional products and services into the same or additional
groups within a F1) and expanding use of existing products and services (increasing usage).

*  We have a direct sales and technical pre-sales team covering financial technology providers in each region. Each
regional sales and technical pre-sales team is responsible for acquiring new customers and channel partners. From
time to time, we assign specific accounts based upon sales or domain expertise. These teams are supported by a
customer success and developer relations team who specialize in customer API integration, and account management
and expansion, including services to our channel partners. Together, sales, technical pre-sales, customer success and
developer relations representatives are responsible for growing our direct customer and channel partner relationships
in terms of account penetration and API usage.

Our marketing efforts are focused on initiatives to drive global company, brand and solutions awareness and
significant lead generation and sales acceleration across our whole business. These initiatives include educating the market
about our solutions, achieving recognition as the industry leader through awards, speaking engagements, thought leadership
articles, data trends and metrics and high profile interviews. We use advertising and public relations to communicate our
message to our target markets.

To implement our marketing efforts, we generally employ paid print and online advertisements in a variety of industry
publications, as well as promotions that include e-blast campaigns and sponsored webinars for financial advisors. We also
partner with independent broker-dealers on direct mail campaigns targeting such firms’ financial advisors to describe the
investment solutions and services that we offer, produce brochures and presentations for financial advisors to use with their
clients and we create internet pages or sites to promote our investment sofutions and services. Envestnet Data & Analytics
employs a variety of integrated sales and marketing initiatives, including hosted demand generation webinars. sponsorship and
partnership of key industry conferences, customer and developer-focused events and programs, incubator efforts and other
high-profile activities designed to demonstrate thought leadership and engage new audiences in actionable and measurable
ways. We employ many tools, including web and social properties. integrated creative campaigns consisting of online
advertising, digital content marketing, direct mail and blogs. Envesinet Data & Analytics also supports industry analyst
relations and media relations activities. In addition, our marketing efforts develop FI customer best practices tools to drive
deeper consumer activity and engagement.
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Competition

Our competitors offer a variety of products and services that compete with one or more of the investment solutions
and services provided through our technology platforms; although, based on our industry experience, we believe that none
offers a more comprehensive set of products and services than we do.

Within Envestnet Wealth Solutions, we compete on the basis of several factors, including:

*  The breadth and quality of investment solutions and services to which we provide access through our technology
platform;

«  The number of custodians that are connected through our technology platforms;

*  The price of our investment solutions and services;

»  The ease of use of our technology platforms; and

= The nature and scope of investment solutions and services that each wealth management provider believes are
necessary to address their needs.

Our Envestnet Data & Analytics group competes with other financial technology companies, global payment
networks, credit bureaus and data and analytic providers. Based on our industry experience, we do not believe any single
company in the data aggregation and data intelligence space offers a comprehensive platform with diverse features such as
ours.

Within Envestnet Data & Analytics, we compete on the basis of several factors, including:

*  Reputation;

*  Cloud-based delivery model;

¢ Data aggregation capability;

= Access to data through direct structured data feeds to FI's;

+  Scale (size of customer base and level of user adoption);

= Security;

+  Time to market;

= Breadth and depth of application functionality user experience;
= Access to third-party applications;

»  Ease of use, ease of integration, flexibility and configurability; and
«  Competitive pricing.

We believe that we compete favorably with respect to all of these factors.
Regulation
Overview

The financial services industry is among the most extensively regulated industries in the United States. We operate
investment advisory and mutual fund advisory businesses. each of which is subject to a specific regulatory scheme, including
regulation at the federal and state level, as well as regulation by self-regulatory organizations and non-U.S. regulatory
authorities. In addition, we are subject to numerous laws and regulations of general application.

Our subsidiaries Envestnet Asset Management, Inc. ("EAM”). Envestnet Portfolio Solutions, Inc. (“EPS™), FDX
Advisors, Inc. and ERS operate investment advisory businesses. These subsidiaries are registered with the U.S, Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC™) as “investment advisers™ under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the
“Advisers Act™}. and are regulated thereunder. They may also provide fiduciary services as defined in Section 3(21 A Xii) of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA"), including acting as an “investment manager” (as defined in
Section 3(38) of ERISA). As described further below, many of our investment advisory programs are conducted pursuant to the
non-exclusive safe harbor from the definition of an “investment company™ provided for under Rule 3a-4 of the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”). If Rule 3a-4 were to cease to be available, or if the SEC
were lo modify the rule or its interpretation of how the rule is applied, it could have a substantial effect on our business. EAM
serves as the investment adviser to two mutual funds. Mutual funds are registered as “investment companies” under the
Investment Company Act. The Advisers Act, Investment Company Act and ERISA, together with related regulations and
interpretations of the SEC, impose numerous obligations and restrictions on investment advisers and mutual funds, including
recordkeeping requirements, limitations on advertising, disclosure and reporting obligations, prohibitions on fraudulent
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activities and detailed operating requirements, including restrictions on transacttons between an adviser and its clients, and
between a mutual fund and its advisers and aftiliates. The fiduciary obligations of investment advisers to their clients require
advisers to, among other things, consider the suitability of the investment products and advice they provide, seek “best
execution” for their clients’ securities transactions, conduct due diligence on third-party products offered to clients, consider the
appropriateness of the adviser’s fees and provide extensive and ongoing disclosure to clients. The application of these
requirements to wrap fee programs is particularly complex and the SEC has in the past scrutinized firms' compliance with these
requirements. The SEC is authorized to institute proceedings and impose fines and sanctions for violations of the Advisers Act
and the Investment Company Act and has the power to restrict or prohibit an investment adviser from carrying on its business
in the event that it fails to comply with applicable laws and regulations. Although we believe we are in compliance in all
material respects with the requirements of the Advisers Act and the Investment Company Act and the rules and interpretations
promulgated thereunder, our failure to comply with such [aws, rules and interpretations could have a material adverse effect on
us.

Envestnet Data & Analytics is examined on a periodic basis by various regulatory agencies. For example, Envestnet
Data & Analytics is a supervised third-party technology service provider subject to multi-agency supervisory examinations in a
wide variety of areas based on published guidance by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council. These
examinations include examinations of Envestmet Data & Analytics’ management, acquisition and development activities,
support and delivery, IT and disaster preparedness and business recovery planning. The Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency (the “OCC”) is the agency in charge of these examinations.

Either as a result of direct regulation or obligations under customer agreements, cur subsidiaries are required to
comply with certain provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, related to the privacy of consumer information and may be
subject to other privacy and data security laws because of the solutions we provide. In addition. numerous regulations have
been proposed and are still being written to implement the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of
2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), for enhanced due diligence of the internal systems and processes of companies like ours by their
financial institutions customers.

Our subsidiaries are subject to various federal and state laws and regulations that grant supervisory agencies, including
the SEC and OCC, broad administrative powers. In the event of a failure to comply with these laws and regulations, the
possible sanctions that may be imposed include the suspension of individual employees, limitations on the permissibility of our
regulated subsidiaries and our other subsidiaries to engage in business for specified periods of time, censures, fines and the
revocation of registration as an investment adviser, as applicable. Additionally, the securities laws and other regulations
applicable to us and our subsidiaries provide for certain private rights of action that could give rise to civil litigation. Any
litigation could have significant financial and non-financial consequences including monetary judgments and the requirement
to take action or limit activities that could ultimately affect our business.

Many of the laws and regulations to which our subsidianies are subject are evolving, unclear and inconsistent across
various jurisdictions, and ensuring compliance with them is difficult and costly. We continually develop improvements to our
existing products and services as well as new products and services. Many of these improvements or new products and services
may implicate regulations to which we may not already be subject or with which we may not have experience. New laws or
regulations, or changes in existing laws or regulations or interpretations of existing laws and regulations, including those
relating to the activities of our investment adviser, broker-dealer and financial institution clients, may occur that could increase
our compliance and other costs of doing business, require significant changes to our systems or solutions or substantially
change the way that our clients operate their businesses. Compliance with any new or revised regulatory requirements may
divert internal resources, be expensive and time-consuming and may require increased investment in compliance functions or
new lechnologies. Failure to comply with the laws and regulations to which we and our subsidiaries are subject could result in
fines, penalties or limitations on our ability to conduct our business, or federal or state actions, any of which could significantly
harm our reputation, and could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Investment Advisory Program Conducted Under Rule 304

Under the Investment Company Act, an issuer that is engaged in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in
securities may be deemed an “investment company,” in which case the issuer may be subject to registration requirements and
regulation as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. In order to provide assurance that certain
discretionary investment advisory programs would not be considered investment companies, the SEC adopted Rule 3a-4 under
the Investment Company Act, which provides a non-exclusive safe harbor from the definition of an investment company for
programs that meet the requirements of the rule. We conduct the following programs pursuant to the Rule 3a~4 safe harbor:

»  Separately managed accounts:
14
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= Unified managed account portfolios;
*  Mutual fund portfolios and exchange-traded fund portfolios; and
*  Advisor as portfolio manager.

We believe that, to the extent we exercise discretion over accounts in any of these programs, these programs qualify
for the safe-harbor because all of the programs have the following characteristics, which are generally required in order for a
program to be eligible for the Rule 3a-4 safe harbor:

*  Each client account is managed on the basis of the client’s financial situation, investment objectives and reasonable
client-imposed investment restrictions;

* At the opening of the account, the client's financial advisor obtains information from the client and provides us with
the client’s financial situation, investment objectives and reasonable restrictions;

*  Onno less than an annual basis, the client’s financial advisor contacts the client to determine whether there have been
any changes in the client’s financial situatjon or investment objectives, and whether the client wishes to impose any
reasonable restrictions on the management of the account or reasonably modify existing restrictions. This information
is communicated to us and reflected in our management of client accounts;

¢ On aquarterly basis, we or another designated person (in most cases this will be the client’s financial advisor) notify
the client to contact us or another designated person if there have been any changes to the client’s financial position or
investment objectives or if the client wishes to impose any reasonable restrictions on the management of the account;

*  We. the client’s financial advisor and the manager of the client’s account, all of whom are knowledgeable about the
account and its management, are reasonably available to the client for consultation;

*  All of the programs allow each client to impose reasonable restrictions on the management of his or her account;

*  Onat least a quarterly basis, the client is provided with a statement containing a description of all activity in the
client’s account during the preceding period, including all transactions made on behalf of the account, all contributions
and withdrawals made by the client, all fees and expenses charged to the account and the value of the account at the
beginning and end of the period; and

+  Forall of the programs, each client retains, with respect to all securities and funds in the client’s account, the right to
withdraw securities or cash, vote securities, or delegate the authority to vote securities to another person, receive
written confirmation or other notification of each securities transaction by the client’s independent custodian and
proceed directly as a security holder against the issuer of any security in the client’s account without the obligation to
include us or any other client of the program in any such action as a condition precedent to initiating such proceeding.

Employees

As of December 31, 2019, we had 4,190 employees, including employees in operations, research and development,
engineering and systems, executive and corporate functions, sales and marketing and investment management and research. Of
these 4,190 employees, 1,643 were located in the United States, 2,532 were located in India and 15 were located in other
international locations. None of our employees is represented by a labor union. We have never experienced a work stoppage
and believe our relationship with our employees is positive.

Information about our Executive Officers

The following table summarizes information about each one of our executive officers.

Name Age Position(s)

William Crager 55  Interim Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Executive of Envesinet Wealth Solutions
Stuart DePina 59 Chief Executive of Envestnet Data & Analytics

Peter D" Arrigo 52  Chief Financial Officer

Scott Grinis 58  Chief Technology Officer

Shelly O'Brien 54  Chief Lega! Officer, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Brandon Thomas 56  Chief Investment Officer

Josh Mayer 46  Chief Operating Officer

Hilliam Crager—Mr. Crager has served as Interim Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Executive of
Envestnet Wealth Solutions. Having served as Envestnet's President since 2002, Mr. Crager was named Interim Chief
Executive Officer in October 2019. Prior to joining us, Mr. Crager served as Managing Director of Marketing and Client
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Services at Rittenhouse Financial Services, Inc., an invesiment management firm affiliated with Nuveen. Mr. Crager received
an MA from Boston University and a BA from Fairfieid University, with a dual major in economics and English.

Stuart DePina—Mr. DePina has served as Chief Executive of Envestnet Data & Analytics since February 2019, Prior
to then, he was President of Envestnet | Tamarac. Prior to joining Tamarac, Mr. DePina served in various Chiel Executive
positions and served as a Partner of KPMG LLP in the investment services and entertainment industries. Mr. DePina holds a BS
in accounting from The University of Texas at Austin.

Peter [}'Arrigo—Mr. D Ammigo has served as Chief Financial Officer since 2008. Prior to joining us, Mr. D" Arrigo
worked at Nuveen where he served as Treasurer since 1999, as well as holding a variety of other titles after joining them in
1990. Mr. D' Arrigo received an MBA from the Northwestern University Kellogg Graduate School of Management and an
undergraduate degree in applied mathematics from Yale University.

Scott Grinis—Mr. Grinis has served as Chief Technology Officer since 2004, Prier to joining us, Mr. Grinis
co-founded Oberon Financial Technology, Inc., our subsidiary, prior to its acquisition by us. Mr. Grinis received a BS and an
MS degree in electrical engineering from Stanford University.

Shelly O'Brien—Ms. O’Brien has served as Chief Legal Officer. General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since 2002.
Prior to joining us, Ms. O'Brien was General Counsel and Director of Legal and Compliance for ING (U.5.) Securities, Futures
& Options Inc., a broker-dealer, and futures commission merchant. Ms. O’Brien received a degree in political science from
Norihwestern University, a JD from Hamline University School of Law, and an LLM in taxation from John Marshall Law
School.

Brandon Thomas—Mr. Thomas is a co- founder and has served as Chief [nvestment Officer and Managing Director of
Portfolio Management Consultants, our internal investment management and portfolio consulting group, since 1999. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Thomas was Director of Equity Funds for Nuveen. Mr. Thomas received an MBA from the University of
Chicago, a JD from DePaul University and is a graduate of Brown University.

Josh Mayver—Mr. Mayer was appointed Chiel Operating Officer in April 2014. Previously, he served as Envestmet’s
Executive Vice President and Director of Operations from January 2011 to April 2014, and as Envestnet’s Senior Vice
President, Head of Operations from 2004 to January 201 1. From 2000 to 2004, Mr. Mayer served as the Director of Operations
for Oberon Financial Technology, Inc., our subsidiary, prior to its acquisition by us. Mr. Mayer holds a Bachelor of Arts and
Sciences from Georgetown University.

Securities Exchange Act Reports
The Company maintains a website at the following address: http://www.envestnet.com.

We make available on or through our website certain reports and amendments to those reports that we file with or
furnish to the SEC in accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These include our Annual Reports on
Form 10-X, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports of Form 8-K and amendments to these reports. We
make this information available on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the
information available with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The information on the Company's website is not incorporated by
referepce in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The SEC also maintains a website at the following address, through which this
information is available: http://www.sec.gov.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in any security involves risk. An invesior or potential investor should consider the risks summarized in
this section when making investment decisions regarding our securities offerings. These risks and uncertainties include, but are
not limited to, the risk factors set forth below. The risks and uncertainties described in this section are not the only ones we
face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also affect
our business. If any of these known or unknown risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Our Business

We have experienced significant revenue growth, which may be difficult to sustain and which may place significant
demands on our administrative, operational and financial resources and any inability to maintain or manage our growth
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Our revenues during the three years ended December 31, 2019 have grown at a compound annuval growth rate of 15%.
We expect our growth to continue, which could place additional demands on our resources and increase our expenses. Our
future growth will depend on, among other things, our ability to successfully grow our total assets under management and
administration by adding new investment solutions and services and add additional clients. If we are unable to implement our
growth strategy, adding new investment solutions and services and gain new clients, our results of operaticns, financial
condition or business may be materially adversely affected.

Sustaining growth will also require us to commit additional management. operational and financial resources and to
maintain appropriate operational and financial systems. In addition, continued growth increases the challenges involved in:

= recruiting. training and retaining sufficiently skilled technical, marketing. sales and management personnel;

= preserving our culture, values and entrepreneurial environment;

«  successfully expanding the range of investment soltutions and services oftered to our clients;

= developing and improving our internal administrative infrastructure, particularly our financial, operational,
compliance, record -keeping, communications and other internal systems; and

<« maintaining high levels of satisfaction with our investment solutions and services among clients.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain or accelerate our growth, and any failure to do so could
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Our growth strategy includes growing through acquisitions and acquisitions involve a number of risks.

We expect Lo grow our business by, among other things, making acquisitions. Over the past five years we have
completed a number of acquisitions. Acquisitions involve a number of risks. They can be time-consuming and may divert
management’s attention from day -to-day operations. Financing an acquisition could result in dilution from issuing equity
securities or a weaker balance sheet from using cash or incurring debt. Acquisitions might also result in losing key employees.
In addition. we may fail to successfully integrate acquisitions. We may also fail to generate enough revenues or profits from an
acquisition to earn a return on the associated purchase price.

To the extent we grow our business through acquisitions, any such future acquisitions could present a number of other
risks, including:

= incorrect assumptions regarding the future results of acquired operations or assets or expected cost reductions or
other synergies expected to be realized as a result of acquiring operations or assets;

»  failure to integrate the operations or management of any acquired operations or assets successfully and on a
timely and cost effective basis;

= insufficient knowledge of the operations and markets of acquired businesses;

+  loss of key personnel;

+  failure to obtain necessary customer consents or retain key customers;

» diversion of management’s attention from existing operations or other priorities;

+ increased costs or liabilities as a result of historical, undetected or undisclosed legal, regulatory or financial issues
related to acquired operations or assets; and

»  inability to secure, on terms we find acceptable, sufficient financing that may be required for any such acquisition
or investment.

In addition, if we are unsuccessful in completing acquisitions of other businesses, operations or assets or if such

opportunities for expansion do not arise. our results of operaticns, financial condition or business could be materially adversely
affected.
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QOur failure to successfully execute the conversion of our clients’ assets from their technology platform to our platforms in a
fimely and accurate manner could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or
business.

When we begin working with a new client, or acquire new client assets through an acquisition or other transaction, we
are ofien required to convert all or a significant portion of assets from the clients’ technology platform to our technology
platforms. These conversions present significant technological and operational challenges that can be time-consuming and may
divert management’s attention from other operational activities. If we fail to successfully complete our conversions in a timely
and accurate manner, we may be required to expend more time and resources than anticipated, which could erode the
profitability of the client relationship. In addition, any such failure may harm our reputation and may make it less likely that
prospective clients will commit to working with us. Any of these risks could materially adversely affect our results of
operations, financial condition or business.

Our revenue can fluctuate from period to period, which could cause our share price to fluctuate.

Our revenue may fluctuate from period-to-period in the future due to a varety of factors, many of which are beyond
our control. Factors relating to our business that may contribule to these fluctuations include the following events, as well as
other factors described elsewhere in this document:

+ adecline or slowdown of the growth in the value of financial market assets, which may reduce the value of assets
under management and administration and therefore our revenues and cash flows;

« negative public perception and reputation of the financial services industry. which would reduce demand for our
investment solutions and services;

» unanticipated changes to economic terms in contracts with clients, including renegotiations;

» downward pressure on fees we charge our clients, which would therefore reduce our revenue;

»  changes in laws or regulations that could impact our ability to offer investment solutions and services;

+  failure to obtain new clients;

= cancellation or non-renewal of existing contracts with clients;

» failure to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights;

= unanticipated delays in connection with the conversion of client assets onto our technology platforms;

+ changes to or a reduction in the suite of investment solutions and services we provide to, or used by, existing
clients;

= changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors to which we have to adapt;

+ adverse effects from actual or percetved errors, breaches of contract, confidentiality, privacy, or fiduciary
obligations;

*  fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and

»  general economic and political conditions, both domestically and internationally, as well as economic conditions
specifically affecting industries in which our customers operate.

As a result of these and other factors, the results of operations for any quarterly or annual period may differ materially
from the results of operations for any prior or fulure quarterly or annual period and should not be relied upon as indications of
our future performance.

Because some of our sales efforts are targeted at large financial institutions and large internet services companies, we fuce
prolonged sales cycles, substantial upfront sales costs and less predictability in completing some of our sales. If our sales
cycle lengthens, or if our upfront sales investments do not result in sufficient revenue, our operating results may be harmed,

We target a portion of our sales efforts at large financial institutions and large intemet services companies, which
presents challenges that are different from those we encounter with smaller customers. Because our large customers are often
making an enterprise-wide decision to deploy our solutions, we face longer sales cycles, complex customer requirements.
substantial upfront sales costs, significant contract negotiations and less predictability in completing sales with these custorners.
Our sales cycle can often last one year or more with our largest customers, who often undertake an extended evaluation
process, but is variable and difficult to predict. We anticipate that we will experience even longer sales cycles, more complex
customer needs, higher upfront sales costs and less predictability in completing sales with customers located outside of the
United States. If our sales cycle lengthens or our upfront sales investments do not generate sufficient revenue to justify our
investments in our sales efforts, our operating results may be harmed.
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Failure of our customers to deploy our solutions in a timely and successful manner could negatively affect our revenue and
operating resulis.

The timing of revenue from our customers depends on a number of factors outside of our contro! and may vary from
period to period. Qur customers may request customization of our solutions for their systems or engage in a prolonged, internal
decision making process regarding the deployment of our solutions. Among our larger customers, deployment of our solutions
can be a complex and prolonged process and requires integralion into the existing platform on our customers’ systems. Any
delay during the deployment process related to technical difficulties experienced by our customers or us in integrating our
solutions into our customers’ systems could further lengthen the deployment period and create additional costs or customer
dissatisfaction. During the deployment period, we expend substantial time, effort, and financial resources to assist our
customers with the deployment. We generally are not able to recognize the full potential vatue of our customer contracts until
our customers actually deploy our solutions. Cancellation of any deployment afier it has begun could result in lost time, effort,
and expenses invested in the canceled deployment process, and would adversely affect our ability to recognize revenue that we
anticipated at the time of the execution of the related customer contract. If our customers do not timely and successfully deploy
our solutions, our future revenue and operating results could be negatively impacted.

We operate in highly competitive industries, with many firms competing for business from financial advisors and financial
institutions on the basis of a number of factors, including the quality and breadth of investment solutions and services,
ability to innovate, reputation and the prices of services and this competition could hurt our financial performance.

We compete with many different types of companies that vary in size and scope, including custodians, tumnkey asset
management platforms, data and analytics providers, and other financial technology companies. Representative competitors
include Pershing LLC (a subsidiary of BNY Mellon Corporation), AssetMark, Inc., Advent Software (a subsidiary of SS&C
Technologies Holdings, Inc.} and Orion Advisor Services in our Envestnet Wealth Solutions business and Intuit, Inc., Plaid Inc.
and Fiserv, Inc in our Envesmet Data & Analytics business. Competition is discussed in greater detail under “Business—
Competition™ included in this Form 10-K. In addition, some of our clients have developed or may develop the in-house
capability to provide the technology and/or investment advisory services they have retained us to perform. These clients may
also offer internally developed services to their financial advisors, obviating the need to hire us, and they may offer these
services to third-party financial advisors or financial institutions, thereby competing directly with us for that business.

Many of our competitors in this business have significantly greater resources than we do. These resources may allow
our competitors to respond more quickly to changes in demand for investment solutions and services, to devote greater
resources to developing and promoting their services and to make more attractive offers to potential clients and strategic
pariners, which could hurt our financial performance.

We may lose clients as a result of the sale or merger of a client, a change in a client’s senior management, competition
from other financial advisors and financial institutions and for other reasons. We also face increased competition due to the
current trend of industry consolidation. If large financial institutions that are not our clients are able to atiract assets from our
clients, our ability to grow revenues and eamings may be adversely affected.

We compete with many companies that have greater name recognition, substantially greater financial, technical,
marketing and other resources, the ability to devote greater resources to the promotion, sale and support of their solutions, more
extensive customer bases and broader customer relationships, and longer operating histories than we have.

We expect competition to increase as other companies continue to evolve their offerings and as new companies enter
our market. New companies entering our market may choose to offer internally-developed solutions at little or no additional
cost to their end users by bundling them with their existing applications and solutions. [ncreased competition is likely to result
in pricing pressures, which could negatively impact our gross margins.

Our failure to successfully compete in any of the above -mentioned areas could result in reduced revenues or lack of
market share which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.
Competition could also affect the revenue mix of services we provide. resulting in decreased revenues in lines of business with
higher profit margins,

He derive a substantial portion of our revenues from the delivery of investment solutions and services to clients in the
Sfinancial advisory industry and our revenue conld suffer if that industry experiences a downturn.

A substantial portion of our revenues are derived from clients in the financial advisory industry. A decline or lack of
growth in demand for financial advisory services would adversely affect our clients and, in turn, our results of operations,
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financial condition and business. For example, the availability of free or low - cost investment information and resources,
including research and information relating to publicly traded companies and mutual funds available on the internet or on
company websites, could lead to lower demand by investors for the services provided by financial advisors. In addition,
demand for our investment solutions and services among financial advisors could decline for many reasons. Consolidation or
limited growth in the financial advisory industry could reduce the number of our clients and potential clients. Events that
adversely affect our clients’ businesses, rates of growth or the numbers of customers they serve, including decreased demand
for our clients’ products and services, adverse conditions in our clients” markets or adverse economic conditions generally,
could decrease demand for our investment solutions and services and thereby decrease our revenues. Any of the foregoing
could have a material adverse effect on our results of aperations, financial condition or business.

A limited number of clients account for a material portion of our revenue. Renegotiation or termination of our coniracis
with any of these clients could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, revenues associated with our relationship with our single
largest client, FMR LLC, an affiliate of FMR Corp., or Fidelity, accounted for 15%, 17% and 17% respectively, of our total
revenues and our ten largest clients accounted for 29%, 31% and 37%, respectively, of our total revenues. Our license
agreements with large financial institutions are generally multi-year contracts that may be terminated upon the expiration of the
contract term or prior to such time for cause, which may include breach of contract, bankruptcy, insclvency and other reasons.
A substantial majority of our revenues associated with Fidelity is derived from ongoing asset-based platform service fees paid
by firms, advisors or advisors” clients obtained through the Fidelity relationship. A majority of our agreements with financial
advisors generally provide for termination at any time. The license agreement with Fidelity, which accounted for less than 1%
of our revenue in the year ended December 31, 2019, is subject to renewal on an annual basis. If Fidelity or a significant
number of our most important clients were to renegotiate or terminate their contracts with us, our results of operations,
financial condition or business could be materially adversely affected.

A substantial portion of our revenue is based on fees earned in the value of assets under management or administration.
Changes in market and economic conditions could lower the value of assets on which we earn revenues and could decrease
the demand for our investment solutions and services.

Asset-based fees make up a significant portion of our revenues, Asset-based fees represented 34%, 59% and 60% of
our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. We expect that asset-based fees will
continue to represent a significant percentage of our total revenues in the future. Significant fluctuations in securities prices
may materially affect the value of the assets managed by our clients and may also influence financial advisor and investor
decisions regarding whether to invest in, or maintain an investment in, a particular investment or strategy. If such market
fluctuation led to less investment in the securities markets, our revenues and earnings derived from asset-based fees could be
materially adversely affected. Our asset-based fees are generally calculated quarterly using the value of assets at the end of each
calendar quarter. Our methodology may result in lower fees if the financial markets are down when fees are calculated, even if
the market had performed well earlier in the quarter.

We provide our investment solutions and services to the financial services industry. The financial markets, and in tumn
the financial services industry, are affected by many factors, such as U.S. and foreign economic conditions and general trends
in business and finance that are beyond our control. In the event that the U.S. or intemational financial markets suffer a severe
or prolonged downturn, investors may choose to withdraw assets from financial advisors, which we refer to as “redemptions”,
and transfer them to investments that are perceived to be more secure, such as bank deposits and Treasury securities, and on
which we might not earn fees. For example, in late 2007 and through the first quarter of 2009, the financial markets
experienced a broad and prolonged downturn, our redemption rates were higher than our historical average, and our results of
operations, financial condition and business were materially adversely affected. Any prolonged downturn in financial markets
or increased levels of asset withdrawals could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or
business. Historically, redemption rates have typically increased during periods where there has been a significant downturn in
financial markets. Any potential decline in assets on which we earn fees would not necessarily be proportional to, and in total,
could be greater than the overall market decline.

Investors’ decisions regarding their investment assets are affected by many factors and investors may redeem or withdraw
their investment assets generally at any time. Significant changes in investing patterns or large scale withdrawal of
investment funds could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

The clients of our financial advisors are generally free to change financial advisors, forgo the advice and other services
provided by financial advisors or withdraw the funds they have invested with financial advisors. These clients of financial
advisors may elect to change their investment strategies, by moving their assets away from equity securities to fixed income or
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other investment options, or by withdrawing all or a portion of their assets from their accounts to avoid all securities

markets -related risks. These actions by investors are outside of our control and could materially adversely affect the market
value of the investment assets that our clients manage, which could materially adversely affect the asset-based fees we receive
from our clients.

Our investment advisory clients that pay us asset -based fees may seck to negotiate a lower fee percentage, which could limit
the growth of, or decrease, our revenues.

A significant portion of our revenues are derived from asset-based fees. Asset-based fees represented 54%, 59% and
60% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Qur investment advisory
clients may, for a number of reasons, seek to negotiate a lower asset- based fee percentage. For example, an increase in the use
of index-linked investment products by the clients of our financial advisor clients may result in lower fees being paid to our
clients, and our clients may in turn seek to negotiate lower asset-based fee percentages for our services. In addition, as
competition among our clients increases, they may be required to lower the fees they charge to their clients, which could cause
them to seek to decrease our fees accordingly. If our fee percentage declines, our revenue growth may be slower than it would
have been had we not reduced our fees, despite increasing assets on which we derive fees. Any of these factors could resultina
decline in our asset-based fees, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or
business.

Our business will suffer if we do not keep up with rapid technological change, evolving industry standards or changing
requirements of clients.

We expect technological developments to continue at a rapid pace in our industry. Our success will depend, in part, on
our ability to:

= continue to develop our technology expertise;

+  recruit and retain skilled technology professionals;

+ enhance our current investment solutions and services;

= develop new investment solutions and services that meet changing client needs;

»  implement changes to our investment solutions and services to meet changing regulatory requirements;
«  advertise and market our investment solutions and services;

*  protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights; and

» influence and respond to emerging industry standards and other technological changes.

We must accomplish these tasks in a timely and cost-effective manner and our failure to do so could materially
adversely affect our resuits of operations, financial condition or business.

We must continue to introduce new investment selutions and services and enhancements to address our clients’ changing
needs, market changes, regulations, and technological developments and failure to do so could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

The market for our investment solutions and services is characterized by shifting client demands, evolving market
practices, new and evolving regulations, and for some of our investment solutions and services, rapid technological change.
Changing client demands. new market rules and practices, or new technologies can render existing investment solutions and
services obsolete and unmarketable. As a result, our future success will continue to depend upon our ability to develop new
investment solutions and services and investment solution and service enhancements that address the future needs of our target
markets and respond to technological and market changes. We incurred technology development costs of approximately
$59,850, $52,840 and $40,800 in the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. We expect that our
technology development costs will continue at this level or they may increase in the future. We may not be able to accurately
estimate the impact of new investment solutions and services on our business or how their benefits will be perceived by our
clients. Further, we may not be successful in developing, introducing, marketing and licensing our new investment solutions or
services or investment solution or service enhancements on a timely and cost eftective basis, or at all, and our new investment
solutions and services and enhancements may not adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace or achieve market
acceptance. In addition, clients may delay purchases in anticipation of new investment solutions or services or enhancements.
Any of these factors could materially adversely affect our results of operations. financial condition or business.
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Our hosting, collection, use and storage of customer information and data require the implementation of effective security
controls, and a data security breach could disrupt our business, result in the disclosure of confidential information, expose
us to liability and protracted and costly litigation, adversely affect our reputation and revenue and cause losses.

We, and our customers through which our solutions are made available to end users, collect, use, transmit and store
confidential financial information such as bank account numbers, social security numbers. non-public personally identifiable
information, portfolio holdings, credit card data and outstanding debts and bills. The measures we take to provide security for
collection, use, storage, processing and transmission of confidential end user information may not be effective to protect against
data security breaches by third parties. We use commercially available security technologies, including hardware and software
data encryption techniques and multi-layer network security measures, to protect transactions and information. Although we
encrypt data fields that typically include sensitive, confidential information, other unencrypted data fields may include similar
information that could be accessible in the event of a security breach. We use security and business controls to limit access and
use of confidential end user information. Although we require our customers and third-party suppliers to implement controls
similar to ours, the technologies and practices of our customers and third-party suppliers may not meet all of the requirements
we include in our contracts and we may not have the ability to effectively monitor the implementation of security measures of
our customers and third-party suppliers. In a number of cases, our customers build and host their own web applications and
access our solutions through our APIs. In these cases, additional risks reside in the customer’s system with respect to security
and preventive controls. As a result, inadequacies of our customers’ and third-party suppliers’ security technologies and
practices may only be detected after a security breach has occurred. Errors in the collection, use, storage or transmission of
confidential end user information may result in a breach of privacy or theft of assets.

The risk of unauthorized circumvention of our security measures has been heightened by advances in computer
capabilities and the increasing sophistication of hackers. Criminals are using increasingly sophisticated techniques 1o engage in
illegal activities involving solutions such as ours or involving end user information, such as counterfeiting, fraudulent payment
and identity theft. Because the techniques used by hackers change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched
against a target. we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventive measures. In addition to
hackers, it is possible that a customer could gain unauthorized access to our database through the use of our solutions. Improper
access to our systems or databases by hackers or customers intending to commit criminal activities could result in the theft,
publication, deletion or modification of confidential end user information. An actual or perceived breach of our security may
require notification under applicable data privacy regulations.

A data security breach of the systems on which sensitive user data and account information are stored could lead to
private claims or regulatory actions, including fines, against us. Many of our agreements with clients do not limit our potential
liability for breaches of confidentiality, and consequential damages. If any person, including any of our employees, contractors,
or consultants, penetrates our network security, misappropriates or mishandles sensitive data, inadvertently or otherwise, we
could be involved in protracted and costly litigation. If unsuccessful in defending that litigation, we might be forced to pay
damages and/or change our business practices or pricing structure. any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
revenue and profitability. In addition, our customer contracts typically require us to meet specified minimum system security
and privacy standards. If a data security breach occurs and we have not been in compliance with these standards, we could be
liable for breach of contract clainis brought by our customers.

We could also be required to indemnify our customers for third-party claims, fines, penalties and/or other assessments
imposed on our customers as a result of any data security breach and our liability could exceed our insurance coverage or
ability to pay. Envestnet's Registered Investment Advisers may face SEC, FINRA and state enforcement actions, including
monetary fines, if it is determined that Envestnet had inadequate data security measures in place to prevent such thefi.

Our security procedures and technologies are regularly audited by independent security auditors engaged by us, and
many of our prospective and current customers conduct their own audits or review the results of such independent security
audits as part of their evaluation of our solutions. We are also periodically audited by regulatory agencies to which our
operations or our customers are subject. Adverse findings in these audits or examinations, even if not accompanied by any data
security breach. could adversely affect our ability to maintain our existing customer relationships and establish new customer
relationships.

Data security breaches, acts of fraud involving our solutions, or adverse findings in security audits or examinations,
could result in reputational damage to us, which could reduce the use and acceptance of our solutions, cause our customers to
cease doing business with us and/or have a significant adverse impact on our revenue and future growth prospects. Further, any
of these events could lead to additional regulation and oversight by federal and state agencies, which could impose new and
costly compliance obligations and may lead to the loss of our ability to make our solutions available.
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Privacy laws and regulations, industry standards and contractual obligations, and changes in these laws, regulations,
standards and obligations, can affect the way in which we do business and cause us to incur significant costs and failure to
comply with these requirements could negarively affect our business.

As part of our business, we de-identify and then provide consumer transaction data panels to customers to support data
anatytics and market research. We collect the underlying transaction data when requested by each applicable consumer. These
activities are subject to numerous laws, regulations, industry standards and contractual obligations. We have incurred, and will
continue to incur, significant expenses to comply with these requirements. New laws have been passed by several jurisdictions
regulating the use of personal data and setting requirements for the de-identification of data. Other jurisdictions are considering
imposing additional requirements. As our business continues to expand to new industry segments that may be more highly
regulated for privacy and data security, and to countries outside the United States that have more strict data protection laws, we
may be subject to increased compliance requirements and costs which could have a material adverse effect on our resulis of
operations, financial condition or business. Industry practices relating to this business activity may change. We are in the
process of negotiating new agreements with certain financial institutions governing our access to consumer transaction data
when requested by the consumer. These agrecments may contain additional requirements refating to our processing and
provision of de-identified data. Additionally, our data panel custormners might demand that the data that they purchase meet
additional data sourcing standards, which we may not satisfy in all cases in the future. Failure to comply with existing or new
laws, regulations, standards and obligations could result in loss of rights to use source data for data panels, loss of data panel
subscriptions, fines, sanctions or other penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition or business.

State or federal legislation, regulatory requirements, or regulatory enforcement applicable to this business activity may
also change. Privacy groups, governmental agencies and individuals also may seek to restrict or prevent, or may advocate for
greater regulation of, our provision of data panels to data panel customers. Recently, three members of Congress wrote to the
Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC") to request a review of these business practices. In February 202(, we received a civil
investigative demand from the FTC for documents and informalion relating to our data collection, assembly, evaluation,
sharing. correction and deletion practices. We intend to cooperate with the FTC. If, as a result of the FTC’s request, proceedings
are initiated and we are found to have violated one or more applicable laws, we may be subject to monetary penalties and/or
required to change one or more of our related business practices, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, financial condition. Conduct giving rise to such liability could also form the basis for private civil
litigation by third-parties allegedly harmed by such conduct.

Our use of data panels is subject to the agreement of our business customers from which we obtain the underlying
data or for which we source they underlying data. Although our arrangements with these customers generally permit us to use
non-identified transaction level data. some customers decline to permit the use of this data. The inability to use data may limit
the usefulness of our solutions and services which could adversely affect our business. For some of our solutions, we
contractually require our customers to provide necessary notices and to obtain necessary permissions and waivers for use and
disclosure of informaltion through our solutions. A failure by our customers to comply with these contractual requirements
could limit our use of the related data and therefore the usefulness of our solutions and services which could adversely affect
our business. Furthermore, a failure by our customers to comply with these contractual requirements could subject us to claims
or liability for unauthorized use or disclosure of information. These claims or liabilities could subject us to unexpected costs
and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Our investment advisory services may subject us to liability for losses that result from potential, perceived or actual breaches
of our fiduciary duties.

Our investment advisory services involve fiduciary obligations that require us to act in the best interests of our clients,
and we may be sued and face liabilities for actual or claimed breaches of our fiduciary duties. Because we provide investment
advisory services, both directly and indirectly, with respect to substantial assets we could face substantial liability if it is
determined that we have breached our fiduciary duties. In certain circumstances, which generally depend on the types of
investment solutions and services we are providing, we may enter into client agreements jointly with advisors and retain
third - party investment money managers on behalf of clients. As a result, we may be included as a defendant in Jawsuits against
financial advisors and third -party investment money managers that involve claims of breaches of the duties of such persons,
and we may face liabilities for the improper actions and/or omissions of such advisors and third-party investment money
managers. [n addition, we may face claims based on the results of our investment advisory recommendations, even in the
absence of a breach of our fiduciary duty. Such clainis and liabilities could therefore have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial condition or business.
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He are subject to liability for losses that result from potential, perceived or actual conflicts of interest.

Potential, perceived and actual conflicts of interest are inherent in our existing and future business activities and could
give rise to client dissatisfaction, litigation or regulatory enforcement actions. In particular, we pay varying fees to third - party
asset managers and custedians and our financial advisor customers, or their clients, could accuse us of directing them toward
those asset managers or cusiodians that charge us the lowest fees and therefore provide us with a greater financial advantage. In
addition, we offer proprietary mutual funds and portfolios of mutual funds through our internal investment management and
portfolio consulting group, and financial advisors or their clients could conclude that we favor our proprietary investment
products because of their belief that we earn higher fees when our proprietary investment products are used. Adequately
addressing conflicts of interest is complex and difficult. If we fail, or appear to fail, to adequately address potential, perceived
or actual conflicts of interest, the resulting negative public perception and reputational harm could materially adversely affect
our client relations or ability to enter into contracts with new clients and, consequently, our results of operations, financial
condition and business.

He may become subject to liability based on the use of our investment solutions and services by our clients.

Our investment solutions and services support the investment processes of our clients, which, in the aggregate,
manage billions of dollars of assets. Our client agreements have provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential liability
claims brought by our clients or third parties based on the use of our investment solutions and services. However, these
provisions have certain exceptions and could be invalidated by unfavorable judicial decisions or by federal, state, foreign or
local laws. Use of our products as part of the investment process creates the risk that clients, or the parties whose assets are
managed by our clients, may pursue claims against us for very significant doflar amounts. Any such claim, even if the outcome
were to be ultimately favorable to us, would invelve a significant commitment of our management, personnel, financial and
other resources and could have a negative impact on our reputation. Such claims and lawsuits could therefore have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Furthermore, our clients may use our investment solutions and services together with software, data or products from
other companies. As a result, when problems oceur, it might be difficult to identify the source of the problem. Even when our
investment solutions and services do not cause these problems, the existence of these errors might cause us to incur significant
costs and divert the attention of our management and technical personnel, any of which could materially adversely affect our
results of operations, financial condition or business.

If our reputation is harmed, our results of operations, financial condition or business could be materially adversely affected.

Our reputation, which depends on earning and maintaining the trust and confidence of our clients and end users, is
critical to our business. Our reputation is vulnerable to many threats that can be difficult or impossible to control, and costly or
impossible to remediate. Regulatory inquiries or investigations, data security breaches, lawsuits initiated by our clients or
stockholders, employee misconduct, perceptions of conflicts of interest and rumors, among other developments, could
substantially damage our reputation, even if they are baseless or satisfactorily addressed. In addition, any perception that the
quality of our solutions and services may not be the same or better than that of other providers, can also damage our reputation.
Any damage to our reputation could harm our ability to attract and retain clients, which would materially adversely affect our
results of operations, financial condition and business. Attempts to repair our reputation, if damaged may be costly and time
consuming, and such efforts may not ultimately be successful.

If our investment solutions and services fail to perform properly due 1o undetected errors or similar problems. our results of
operations, financial condition and business could be materially adversely affected.

Investment solutions and services we develop or license may contain undetected errors or defects despite testing. Such
errors can exist at any point in the life cycle of our investment sclutions or services, but are frequently found after introduction
of new investment solutions and services or enhancements to existing investment solutions or services. We continually
introduce new investment solutions and services and new versions of our investment solutions and services. Despite internal
testing and testing by current and potential clients, our current and future investment solutions and services may contain serious
defects or malfunctions. If we detect any errors before release, we might be required to delay the release of the investment
solution or service for an extended period of time while we address the problem. We might not discover errors that affect our
new or current investment solutions, services or enhancements until afier they are deployed, and we may need to provide
enhancements to correct such errors. Errors may occur that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition or business and could result in harm to our reputation, lost sales, delays in commercial release, third-party
claims, regulatory actions, contractual disputes. contract terminations or renegotiations, or unexpected expenses and diversion
of management and other resources to remedy errors. In addition, negative public perception and reputational damage caused
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by such claims would adversely affect our client relationships and our ability to enter into new contracts. Any of these problems
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and business.

We could face liability or incur costs to remediate operational errors or to address possible customer dissatisfaction.

Operational risk generally refers to the risk of loss resulting from our operations, including, but not limited to,
improper or unauthorized execution and processing of transactions, deficiencies in our operating systems, business disruptions
and inadequacies or breaches in our internal control processes. The success of our business depends on our ability to mitigate
those operational risks and deliver time-sensitive services. We operate in diverse markets and are reliant on the ability of our
employees and systems to process large volumes of transactions often within short time frames. Our operations and those of
third parties on whom we rely for information and transaction processing services are vulnerable to interruption by technical
breakdowns, computer hardware and software malfunctions, software viruses, infrastructure failures, fire, earthquake, power
loss, telecommunications failure, terrorist attacks, wars, internet failures and other events beyond our control. In the event of
any such interruptions or improper operation of systems, human error or improper action by employees, we could suffer
financial loss, regulatory sanctions or damage to our reputation.

In addition, our contracts with our customers often include stringent requirements for us to maintain certain levels of
performance and service availability. Failure by us to meet these contractual requirements could result in a ¢laim for substantial
damages against us, regardless of whether we are responsible for that failure. Our customers may also delay or withhold
payment to us, elect 1o terminate or not to renew their contracts with us, or refuse to integrate our solutions into their online
offerings, or we could lose future sales to new customers as a result of damage to our reputation due to such service downtime
or interruptions. 1f we suffer a significant database or network facility outage, our business could experience disruption until we
fully implement our back-up systems. The occurrence of any such disruptions in our solutions could materially and adversely
affect our business.

Furthermore, there may be circumstances when our customers are dissatisfied with our investment solutions and
services, even in the absence of an operational error. In such circumstances, we may elect to make payments or otherwise incur
increased costs or lower revenues in order to maintain a strong customer relationship. In any of the forgoing circumstances, our
results of operaticns, financial condition or business could be materially adversely affected.

QOur business relies heavily on computer equipment, electronic delivery systems and the internet. Any failures or disruptions
in such technologies could result in reduced revenues, increased costs and the loss of customers.

Our business relies heavily on our computer equipment (including our servers), electronic delivery systems and the
internet, but these technologies are vulnerable to disruptions, failures or slowdowns caused by fire, earthquake, power loss,
telecommunications failure, terrorist attacks, wars, internet failures, computer viruses and other events beyond our control. We
derive our subscription revenue from licenses to a single software platform, and related support and professional services. As
such, any factor adversely affecting subscriptions to that single software platform, including those described elsewhere under
“Risk Factors” or in other portions of this Form 10-K, would harm our business and operating results. Furthermore, we rely on
agreements with our suppliers, such as cur current data hosting and service provider, to provide us with access to certain
computer equipment, electric delivery systems and the internet. We are unable to predict whether a future contractual dispute
may arise with one of our suppliers that could cause a disruption in service, or whether our agreements with our suppliers can
be obtained or renewed on acceptable terms, or at all. An unanticipated disruption, failure or slowdown affecting our key
technologies or facilities may have significant ramifications. such as data-loss, data corruption, damaged software codes or
inaccurate processing of transactions. We maintain off- site back -up facilities for our electronic information and computer
equipment, but these facilities could be subject to the same interruptions that may affect our primary facilities. Any significant
disruptions, failures, slowdowns, data-loss or data corruption could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition or business and result in the loss of customers.

If we fail to process transactions effectively or fail to adequately protect against disputed or potential fraudulent activities,
our reveniie and earnings may be harmed.

Envestnet Data & Analytics processes a significant volume and dollar value of transactions on a daily basis using its
money movement solutions. Effective processing systems and controls are essential to ensure that transactions are handled
appropriately. Despite our efforts. it is possible that we may make errors or that funds may be misappropriated due to fraud. If
we are unable to effectively manage our systems and processes we may be unable to process money movement transactions in
an accurate, reliable and timely manner, which may harm our business. In addition, if we do not detect suspected fraudulent or
non-sufficient fund transactions within agreed-upon timelines, we may be required to reimburse our customers for the
transactions and such reimbursements may exceed the amount of the reserves we have established to make such payments.
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The online payments industry has been experiencing an increasing amount of fraudulent activities by third parties.
Although we do not believe that any of this activity is uniquely targeted at our business, this type of fraudulent activity may
adversely impact us. In addition to any direct damages and potential fines that may result from such fraud, which may be
substantial, a loss of confidence in our controls may seriously harm our business and damage our reputation. We may
implement risk control mechanisms that could make it more difficult for legitimate end users to use our solutions, which could
result in lost revenue and negatively impact our operating results.

If we are unable to maintain our payment network with third-party service providers, or if our disbursement partners
encounter business difficulties, our business could be harmed.

Envestnet Data & Analytics’ payment network consists of a single Originating Deposit Financial Institution {“ODFI™),
and a small number of bill payment processors. Our ODFI clears and processes the funds from the customer. In the instance of
funds transfers, the ODFI also processes funds to the end user’s destination institution. For bill payment, funds are sent to the
bill pay processors for disbursement to biller sites.

While we have entered into an agreement with our ODFI and each of our bill payment processors, these partners could
choose to terminate or not renew their agreements with us. If we are unable to maintain our agreements with our current
partners, or our current partners are unable to handle increased transaction volumes. our ability to disburse transactions and our
revenue and business may be harmed. If we are unable to sign new payment processors and/or ODFIs under terms consistent
with, or better than, those currently in place, our revenue and business may be harmed.

Payment processors and ODFI partners also engage in a variety of activities in addition to providing our services and
may encounter business difficulties unrelated to our services. Such activities or difficulties could cause the affected partner to
reduce the services provided, cease to do business with us, or cease doing business altogether. This could lead to our inability o
move funds on a timely basis as required to settle transactions. In addition, because we offer next day automated clearing house
transactions in certain cases, if a disbursement partner experiences insufficient liquidity or ceases to do business, we may not be
able to recover funds that are held with that disbursement partner which could harm our financial condition and operating
results.

We may also be forced to cease doing business with payment processors and/or ODFIs if rules governing electronic
funds transfers change or are reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to operate our money movement solutions.

If sources from which we obtain information limit our access to such information or charge us fees for accessing such
information, our business could be materially and adversely harmed.

Our Envestnet Data & Analytics data aggregation solutions require certain data that we obtain from thousands of
sources, including banks, other financial institutions, retail businesses and other organizations, some of which are not our
current customers. As of December 31, 2019, we receive over 60% of this data through structured data feeds that are provided
under the terms of our contracts with most of our financial institution, or F1, customers. Although all of the information we
currently gather is end user-permissioned, non-identified data and, currently, we generally have free, unrestricted access to, or
ability to use, such information, one or more of our current customers could decide to limit or block our access to the data feeds
we currently have in place with these customers due to factors outside of our control such as more burdensome regulation of
our ot our customers’ industry, increased compliance requirements or changes in business strategy. If the sources from which
we oblain information that is important to our solutions limit or restrict our ability to access or use such information, we may be
required to attempt to obtain the information, if at all. through end user-permissioned data scraping or other means that could be
more costly and time-consuming, and less effective or efficient. In the past, a limited number of third parties, primarily airline
and international sites. have either blocked our access to their websites or requested that we cease employing data scraping of
their websites to gather information, and we could receive similar, additional requests in the future. Any such limitation or
restriction may also preclude us from providing our solutions on a timely basis, if at all. In addition, if in the future one or more
third parties challenge our right to access information from these sources, we may be required to negotiate with these sources
for access to their information or to disconlinue certain services currently provided by our solutions. The legal environment
surrounding data scraping and similar means of obtaining access to information on third-party websites is not completely clear
and is evolving, and one or more third parties could assert claims against us seeking damages or to prevent us from accessing
information in that manner. In the event sources from which we obtain this information begin to charge us fees for accessing
such information. we may be forced to increase the fees that we charge our customers. which could make our solutions less
attractive, or our gross margins and other financial results could suffer.
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e could face liability for certain information we provide, including information based on data we obtain from other
parties.

We may be subject to claims for securities law violations, negligence, breach of fiduciary duties or other claims
relating to the information we provide. For example, individuals may take legal action against us if they rely on information we
have provided and it contains an etror. In addition, we could be subject to claims based upon the content that is accessible from
our website through links to other websites. Moreover, we could face liability based on inaccurate information provided to us
by others. Defending any such claims could be expensive and time -consuming. and any such claim could materially adversely
affect our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Our insurance coverage and contractual liability limitations may fail to provide adequate protections.

We maintain general liability insurance coverage, including coverage for errors or omissions; however, this coverage
may not continue to be available on reasonable terms or may be insufTicient to cover one or more large claims. An insurer
might disclaim coverage as to any future claim. A successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceeds our
available insurance coverage or changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the impaosition of a large
deductible or co-insurance requirement, could harm our operating results and financial condition. Additionally, although we
attempt to limit our contractual liability in delivering our solutions, these limitations on liability may be unenforceable in some
cases, or may be insufficient to protect us from liability for damages.

We depend on our senior management team and other key personnel and the loss of their services could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

We depend on the efforts, relationships and reputations of our senior management team and other key personnel, in
order to successfully manage our business. We believe that success in our business will continue to be based upon the strength
of our intellectual capital. On October 3, 2019, Jud Bergman, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, died in an automobile
accident. Bill Crager, President and the Chief Executive of Envestnet Wealth Solutions, was named Interim Chief Executive
Officer. While the loss of cur Chairman and Chief Executive Officer has not resulted in a material impact on our business, the
loss of the service of any other members of our senior management team could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition or business.

Qur future success depends on our ability to recruit and retain qualified employees.

Our ability to provide our services and maintain and develop relationships with clients depends largely on our ability
Lo attract, train, motivate and retain highly skilled professionals, particularly professionals with backgrounds in sales,
marketing, technology and financial and investment services. Consequently, we must hire and retain employees with the
technical expertise and industry knowledge necessary to continue to develop our services and effectively manage our growing
sales and marketing organization to assist the growth of our operations.

We believe there is significant competition for professionals with the skills necessary to perform the services we offer.
We experience competition for these professionals from competitors, other technology companies and financial services
organizations, many of which have greater resources than we do and therefore may be able to offer higher compensation
packages. Competition for these employees is intense, and we may not have sufficient human resources programs, practices and
benefits to be able to retain our existing employees, or be able to recruit and retain other highly skilled personnel. If we cannot
hire and retain qualified personnel, our ability to sustain and continue to expand our business would be impaired and our
revenue, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

Our operations are subject to extensive government regulation, and compliance failures or reguiatory action against us
could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or business.

The financial services industry is among the most extensively regulated industries in the United States. We operate
investment advisory, broker-dealer, and mutual fund lines of business. each of which is subject to a specific and extensive
regulatory scheme. In addition, we are subject to numercus laws and regulations of general application. It is very difficult to
predict the future impact of the legislative and regulatory requirements affecting our business and our clients’ businesses.

Certain of our subsidiaries are registered as “investment advisers™ with the SEC under the Advisers Act and are
regulated thereunder. In addition, many of our investment advisory services are conducted pursuant to the non-exclusive safe
harbor from the definition of an “investment company” provided under Rule 3a-4 under the Investment Company Act. If
Rule 3a-4 were to cease to be available, or if the SEC were to modify the rule or its interpretation of how the rule is applied,
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our business could be adversely affected. Certain of our registered investment adviser subsidiaries provide advice to mutual
fund clients. Mutual funds are registered as “investment companies” under the Investment Company Act. Our advisory
subsidiaries provide advice on assets subject to the ERISA. The Advisers Act, Investment Company Act and ERISA, together
with related regulations and interpretations of the SEC and the Department of Labor, impose numerous obligations and
resirictions on investment advisers and mutual funds, including requirements relating to the safekeeping of client funds and
securities, [imitations on advertising, disclosure and reporting obligations, prohibitions on fraudulent activities, restrictions on
transactions between an adviser and its clients, and between a mutual fund and its advisers and affiliates, and other detailed
operating requirements, as well as general fiduciary obligations.

Envestnet Data & Analytics is examined on a periodic basis by various regulatory agencies. For example, it is a
supervised third-party technology service provider subject to multi-agency supervisory examinations in a wide variety of areas
based on published guidance by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council. These examinations include
examinations of our management, acquisition and development activilies, support and delivery, 1T, and disaster preparedness
and business recovery planning. The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency is the agency in charge of these examinations. If
deficiencies are identified, customers may choose to terminate or reduce their relationships with us.

Either as a result of direct regulation or obligations under customer agreements, many of our subsidiaries are required
to comply with certain provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. related to the privacy of consumer information and may be
subject to other privacy and data security laws because of the solutions we provide. In addition, numerous regulations have
been proposed and are still being written to implement the Dodd-Frank Act for enhanced due diligence of the internal systems
and processes of companies like ours by their regulated customers. If we are required to make changes to our internal processes
and solutions as result of this heightened scrutiny, we could be required to invest substantial additional time and funds and
divert time and resources from other corporate purposes to remedy any identified deficiency.

All of the foregoing laws and regulations are complex, evolving, unclear and inconsistent across various jurisdictions
and we are required to expend significant resources in order to maintain our monitoring of, and compliance with, such laws and
regulations. We continually develop improvements to our existing products and services as well as new products and services.
Many of these improvements or new products and services may implicate regulations to which we may not already be subject
or with which we may not have experience. Any failure on our part to comply with these and other applicable laws and
regulations could result in decreasing the demand for these products and services, increasing our potential liability or increase
or costs, regulatory fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including revocation of cur subsidiaries as an investment
adviser ot broker -dealer, as the case may be, which could, among other things, require changes to our business practices and
scope of operations or harm our reputation. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition or business.

Changes 1o the lows or regulations applicable to us or to our clients could adversely affect our results of operations,
Sfinancial condition or business.

We may be adversely affected as a result of new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by the SEC or other U.S.
or foreign governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets around the
world. In addition, we may be adversely affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by
these governmental authorities and self-regulatory organizations. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any
new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any current proposals will become law, and it is difficult
to predict how any changes or potential changes could affect our business. Changes to laws or regulations could increase our
potential liability in connection with the investment solutions and other services that we provide. The introduction of any new
laws or regulations could make our ability to comply with applicable laws and regulations more difficult and expensive. Any of
the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

A deemed “change of control” of our company could require us to obtain the consent of our clients and a failure to do so
properly could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Under the Advisers Act, the investment advisory agreements entered into by our investment adviser subsidiaries may
not be assigned without the client’s consent. Under the Investment Company Act, advisory agreements with registered funds
terminate automatically upon assignment and, any assignment of an advisory agreement must be approved by the board of
directors and the shareholders of the registered fund. Under the Advisers Act and the Investment Company Act, such an
assignment may be deemed to occur upon a change of control of the Company. A change of control includes either gaining or
losing a “controlling person™. Whether someone is a controlling person for these purposes depends significantly on the specific
facts and circumstances. There can be no assurance that if we undergo a change of control, we would be successful in obtaining
all necessary consents or that the method by which we obtain such consents could not be challenged at a later time. If we are
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unable to obtain all necessary consents or if such a challenge were o be successful it could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, financial condition or business.

We rely on exemptions from certain laws and if for any reason these exemptions were to become unavailable to us, we could
become subject to regulatory action or third -party claims and our business could be materially and adversely affected.

We regularly rely on exemplions from various requirements of the Exchange Act, the Advisers Act, the Investment
Company Act and ERISA in conducting our activities. These exemptions are sometimes highly complex and may in certain
circumstances depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If for any reason these exemptions were to
become unavailable to us, we could become subject to regulatory action or third - party ¢laims and our business could be
materially and adversely affected.

If government regulation of the internet or other areus of our business changes, or if consumer attitudes toward use of the
internet change, we may need to change the manner in which we conduct our business or incur greater operating expenses.

The adoption, modification or interpretation of laws or regulations relating to the internet or other areas of our
business could adversely affect the manner in which we conduct our business. Such laws and regulations may cover sales
practices, taxes, user privacy, data protection, pricing, content, copyrights. distribution, electronic contracts, consumer
protection, broadband residential internet access and the characteristics and quality of services. Moreover, it is not clear how
existing laws governing these matters apply to the internet. If we are required to comply with new regulations or legislation or
new interpretations of existing regulations or legislation, we may be required to incur additional expenses or alter our business
model, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or business.

We are substantially dependent on our intellectual property rights, and a failure to protect these rights could adversely affect
our results of operations. financial condition or business.

We have made subslantial investments in software and other intellectual property on which our business is highly
dependent. As of December 31, 2019, notwithstanding expiration of some of our oldest patents, we had over 50 issued patents
in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions as well as additional pending patent applications in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions.
Many of our key technologies, investment solutions or services are not covered by any copyright registration, issued patent or
patent application. We are the owner of certain patent rights, registered trademarks in the United States, including
“ENVESTNET,” and we claim common law rights in other trademarks that are not registered. We rely on a combination of
patent, trade secret, trademark and copyright laws, confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements and other contractual and
technical security measures to protect our proprietary technology, all of which provide only limited protection. Despite our
efforts, unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our proprietary technologies could enable third parties to benefit
from our intellectual property rights without paying us for doing so, which could harm our business. Policing unauthorized use
of proprietary technology is difficult and expensive and our monitoring and litigation may be necessary to protect and enforce
our intellectual property rights. If litigation is necessary to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights, any such
litigation could be very costly and could divert management attention and resources. If we are unable to protect our intellectual
property rights or if third parties independently develop or gain access Lo our or similar technologies, investment solutions or
services, our results of operations. financial condition and business could be materially adversely affected.

We cannot guarantee that:

= our intellectual property rights will provide competitive advantages (o us;

*  our ability to assert our intellectual property rights against potential competitors or to settle current or future
disputes will not be limited by our agreements with third parties;

= our intellectual property rights will be enforced in jurisdictions where competition may be intense or where legal
protection may be weak;

*  any of the trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights that we presently employ in
our business will not lapse or be invalidated, circumvented, challenged or abandoned:

= our trademark applications will lead to registered trademarks;

+  competitors will not design around our intellectual property rights or develop similar technologies. investment
solutions or products; or that we will not lose the ability to assert our intellectual property rights against others; or

*  QOur ability to identify and police any misappropriation and protect our proprietary technology will be sufficient.

We are also a party to a number of third - party intellectual property license agreements. Some of these license
agreements require us to make one-time payments or ongoing subscription payments. We cannot guarantee that the third - party
intellectual property we license will not be licensed to our competitors or others in our industry. In the future, we may need to

29



Table of Contents

obtain additional licenses or renew existing license agreements. We are unable to predict whether these license agreements can
be obtained or renewed on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we have granted our customers certain rights to use our
intellectual property in the ordinary course of our business. Some of our customer agreements restrict our ability to license or
develop certain customized technology or services within certain markets or to certain competitors of our customers. For
example, our agreement with Fidelity restricts our ability to develop certain integration features that we have not also offered to
develop for Fidelity. Some of our customer agreements grant our customers ownership rights with respect to the portion of the
intellectual property we have developed or customized for our customers. In addition, some of our customer agreements require
us to deposit the source code to the customized technology and investment solutions with a source code escrow agent, which
source code may be relcased in the event we enter into bankruptcy or are unable to provide support and maintenance of the
technology or investment solutions we have licensed to our customers. These provisions in our agreements may limit our
ability to grow our business in the future.

Third parties may assert intellectual property infringement claims against us which, if successful, could require us to pay
significant damages or make changes to the investment solutions or services that we affer.

Third parties may assert against us intellectual property infringement claims with respect to our internally developed
or acquired technologies, investment solutions or services. In addition, we license content, software and other intellectual
property rights from third parties and may be subject to claims of infringement if such parties do not possess the necessary
intellectual property rights to the products they license to us. The risk of infringement claims against us will increase if more of
our competitors are able to obtain patents for investment solutions or services or business processes. In addition, we face
additional risk of infringement or misappropriation claims if we hire an employee who possesses third party proprietary
information who decides to use such information in connection with our investment solutions, services or business processes
without such third-party’s authorization. We have in the past been and may in the future be subject to legal proceedings and
claims that we have infringed or misappropriated the intellectual property rights of a third party. These claims sometimes
involve patent holding companies who have no relevant product revenues and against whom our own proprietary technology
may therefore provide little or no deterrence. In addition, third partics may in the future assert intellectual property
infringement claims against our customers, which, in certain circumstances, we have agreed to indemnify. Any intellectual
property related infringement or misappropriation claims, whether or not meritorious, could result in costly litigation and could
divert management resources and attention. Moreover, should we be found liable for infringement or misappropriation, we may
be required to enter into licensing agreements, if available on acceptable terms or at all, pay substantial damages or make
changes to the investment solutions and services that we offer. Any of the foregoing could prevent us from competing
effectively, result in substantial costs to us, divert management’s attention and our resources away from our operations and
otherwise harm our reputation.

The use of “open source code” in investment solutions may expose us to additional risks and harm our intellectual property
rights.

To a limited extent, we rely on open source code to develop our platform, investment and other solutions and support
for our internal systems and infrastructure. While we monitor our use of open source code te attempt to avoid subjecting our
solutions to conditions we do not intend, such use could inadvertently occur. Additionally, if a third-party software provider has
incorporated certain types of open source code into software we license from such third party for our solutions, we could, under
certain circumstances, be required to disclose the source code for our solutions. This could harm our intellectual property
position and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and business.

Confidentiality agreements with emplovees, consultants and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets
and other proprietary information.

We have devoted substantial resources to the development of our proprietary technologies. investment solutions and
services. In order to protect our proprietary rights, we enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants
and independent contractors. These agreements may not effectively prevent unauthorized disclosure of confidential information
or unauthorized parties from copying aspects of our technologies, investment solutions or products or obtaining and using
information that we regard as proprietary. Moreover, these agreements may net provide an adequate remedy in the event of
such unauthorized disclosures of confidential information and we cannot assure you that our rights under such agreements will
be enforceable, In addition, others may independently discover trade secrets and proprietary information, and in such cases we
could not assert any trade secret rights against such parties. Costly and time - consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce
and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could reduce any
competitive advantage we have developed and cause us to lose customers or otherwise harm our business.
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As a global organization, our business is susceptible to risks associated with our international operations and sales.

We currently maintain international operations in India, the United Kingdom, Canada and Australia, lease space in
other jurisdictions outside of the United States for the purpose of gathering data, and have customers located around the globe.
Managing a global organization and conducting sales outside of the United States is difficult and time-consuming and
introduces risks that we may not face with our operations and sales in the United States. These risks include:

» the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign regulations, laws and legal standards, including privacy,
data security, tax and employment, some of which may be materially different or more stringent than those of the
United States;

= regional data privacy laws that apply to the transmission of data across international borders;

»  lack of familiarity with, and unexpected changes in, foreign regulatory requirements;

+  customers’ unfamiliarity with and concerns regarding laws and regulations of the United States that may impact
our business operations in their jurisdictions;

* negative, local perception of industries and customers that we may pursue;

» laws and business practices favoring local competitors;

= localization of our solutions, including unanticipated costs related to translation into foreign languages and
adaptation for local practices and regulatory requirements;

» different pricing environments and longer sales cycles;

+  longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

+  difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

« reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

»  compliance with laws and regulations for foreign operations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the
U.K. Bribery Act, import and export control laws, tarifls, trade barriers, economic sanctions and other regulatory
or contractual limitations on our ability to sell our solutions in certain foreign markets, and the risks and costs of
compliance;

» fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

+  potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value added tax systems, difficulty in
interpreting international tax laws and restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

*  increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities; and

= political, social and economic instability abroad, terrorist attacks and security concerns in general.

Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources. A
component of our growth strategy involves the further expansion of our operations and the development of new customer
relationships internationally. As we seek lo expand internationally, we will need to develop relationships with additional
partners and add internal capabilities to effectively manage the operational, financial, legal and regulatory requirements and
risks associated with our international operations. The investment we make and additional resources we use to expand our
operalions, target new international customers, expand our presence globally within our existing customers and manage
operational and sales growth in other countries may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability, which could
adversely affect our business and operating results.

If we are unable to effectively manage certain risks and challenges related to our India operations, our business could be
harmed.

Our India operations are a key factor to our success. We believe that our signilicant presence in India provides certain
important advantages for our business, such as direct access (o a large pool of skilled professionals and assistance in growing
our business internationally. However, it also creates certain risks that we must effectively manage. As of December 31, 2019,
approximately 2,500 of our total employees were based in India. Wage costs in India for skiiled professionals are currently
lower than in the United States for comparably skilled professionals. However, wages in India are increasing at a faster rate
than in the United States, which could result in us incurring increased costs for technical professionals and reduced margins.
There is intense competition in India for skilled technical professionals, and we expect such competition to increase. As a
result. we may be unable to cost-effectively retain our current employee base in India or hire additional new talent. In addition,
India has experienced significant inflation, low growth in gross domestic product and shortages of foreign exchange. India also
has experienced civil unrest and terrorism and, in the past, has been involved in conflicts with neighboring countries. The
occurrence of any of these circumstances could result in disruptions to our India operations, which, if continued for an extended
period of time, could have a material adverse effect on our business. If we are unable to effectively manage any of the
foregoing risks related to our India operations, our development efforts could be impaired, our growth could be slowed, and our
operating results could be negatively impacted.
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We face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

We have costs denominated in foreign currencies. primarily the Indian Rupee, and our revenue is primarily
denominated in the U.S. dollar. This exposes us to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Accordingly,
changes in exchange rates, and in particular a weakening of the U.S. dollar, would negatively affect our expenses and other
operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars.

HWe are a multinational organization faced with increasingly complex tax issues in several jurisdictions, and we could be
obligated to pay additional taxes in various jurisdictions.

As a multinational organization, we may be subject to taxation in several jurisdictions around the world with
increasingly complex tax laws, the application of which can be uncertain. The amount of taxes we pay in these jurisdictions
could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable tax principles, including increased tax rates, new tax laws or
revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and
operating results. In addition, the authorities in these jurisdictions could review our tax returns and impose additional tax,
interest and penalties, and the authorities could claim that various withholding requirements apply to us or our subsidiaries or
assert that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries, any of which could have a material impact on us
and the results of our operations. For example, the taxing authorities of India and other jurisdictions in which we operate may
challenge our methodologies for allocating income and expense under our intercompany arrangements, including our transfer
pricing, or determine that the manner in which we operate our business is not consistent with the manner in which we report
our income to the jurisdictions. If such a disagreement were to occur, and our positions were not sustained, we could be
required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties. resulting in higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows and higher
expenses.

Due to uncertainty in the application and interpretation of applicable state sales and use tax laws, we may be subject to
additional tax liability.

We and our customers are subject to a variety of sales, use and other tax laws in the various states and cities in which
we and they do business. These laws and their interpretations change from time to time and often do not address with clarity
their applicability to the types of products and services we and our subsidiaries provide. Vendors, like us, are typically held
responsible by taxing authorities for the collection and payment of any applicable sales and use taxes, even when owed by the
end user. If one or more taxing authorities determines that taxes should have. but have not, been paid with respect to our
products or services, we might be liable for past taxes in addition to taxes going forward. Liability for past taxes might also
include interest and penalty charges. We are often entitled to seek reimbursement from our customers for any sales and use
taxes we pay either under the terms of our customer contracts or under applicable law or legal principles. Nevertheless, our
customers might be reluctant to pay back taxes and might refuse responsibility for interest or penalties associated with those
taxes. If we are required to collect and pay back taxes and any associated interest and penalties, and if our clients do not
reimburse us for all or a portion of these amounts, we will incur unplanned expenses that may be substantial. Moreover,
imposition of such taxes on us going forward will effectively increase the cost of our products and services to our customers
and might adversely affect our ability to retain existing customers or to gain new customers in the areas in which such taxes are
imposed.

For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company estimated that a sales and use tax liability of $10,220
and $8,643, respectively, was probable related to current and prior years revenues in a number of taxing jurisdictions. In
addition, for the same periods. the Company estimated a sales tax receivable of $3,346 and $5,246, respectively, related to
estimated recoverability of a portion of the liability. Additional future information obtained from the applicable jurisdictions or
audits by one or more taxing authotities may affect our estimate of our sales and use tax liability. There can be no assurance
that we will not be subject to sales and use taxes or related penalties for past sales in jurisdictions where we currently believe
no such taxes are required.

Changes in accounting principles or standards, or in the way they are applied, could result in unfavorable accounting
charges or effects and unexpected financial reporting fluctuations, and could adversely affect our reported operating results
even if there are no underlying changes in the economics of the business.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepled in the
United States (“GAAP™), which are subject to interpretation by the SEC and other regulatory bodies. A change in existing
principles, standards or guidance can have a significant effect on our reported results, may retroactively affect previously
reported results, could cause unexpected financial reporting fluctuations, and may require us to make costly changes to our
internal controls, operational and financial reporting processes.
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Changes in the estimates of fair value of reporting units or of long-lived assets, particularly goodwill and intangible assets,
may result in futtire impairment charges, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition, cash flows or business.

Over time, the fair values of long-lived assets change. At December 31, 2019, we had $879.850 of goodwill and
$505.589 of intangible assets, net, representing 77% of our total assets.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment each year using a qualitative or quantitative process that is performed at least
annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. The Company performs the annual
impairment analysis on October 31 in order to provide management time to complete the analysis prior to year-end. Prior to
performing the quantitative evaluation, an assessment of qualitative factors may be performed to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the carrying value. If it is determined that it is unlikely that the
carrying value exceeds the fair value, the Company is not required to complete the quantitative goodwill impairment
evaluation. If it is determined that the carrying value may exceed fair value when considering qualitative factors, a quantitative
goodwill impairment evaluation is performed. When performing the quantitative evaluation, if the carrying value of the
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss equal to the difference will be recorded. The identification of reporting
units and consideration of aggregation criteria requires management’s judgment. Based on the relevant GAAP authoritative
guidance, we aggregate components of a single operating segment into a reporting unit, if appropriate, Future goodwill
impairment charges may occur if estimates of fair values decrease, which would reduce future earnings.

We test our indefinite lived intangible assets on an annual basis and more often if an event occurs or circumstances
change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the indefinite lived intangible asset below its carrying
amount. We also test property, plant, and equipment and other intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Future asset impairment charges may occur if asset
utilization declines, if customer demand decreases, or for a number of other reasons, which would reduce future earnings. Any
such impairment charges could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
cash flows. Impairment charges would also reduce our consolidated stockholders” equity and increase our debt-to-total-
capitalization ratio, which could negatively impact our access to the debt and equity markets.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, we completed our annual goodwill impairment analysis. The qualitative analysis
performed as of October 31, 2019 indicated that it is more likely than not that the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded the
carrying value, and accordingly, no impairment existed. There can be no assurance that our estimates and assumptions of the
fair value of our reporting units, the current economic environment, or the other inputs used to estimate the fair value of our
reporting units will prove to be accurate, and any material error in our estimates and assumptions, could result in us needing to
take a material impairment charge, which would have the effects discussed above,

As part of our ongoing monitoring efforts, we will continue to consider capital markets and other economic factors
and its potential impact on our businesses, as well as other factors, in assessing goodwill and other long-lived assets for
possible indications of impairment.

We have a significant amount of debt and servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have
sufficient cash flow from our business to service our debt.

As of December 31, 2019, we had $260,000 borrowings outstanding under our revolving credit facility (the “Amended
Credit Agreement™) and $345,000 of outstanding 1.75% Convertible Notes due 2023, As of December 31, 2019, we had an
additional $240,000 available to us to borrow in the future under our Amended Credit Agreement. This indebtedness could,
among other things:

* make it difficult for us to pay other obligations;

*  make it difficult to obtain favorable terms for any necessary future financing for working capital, capital
expenditures, debt service requirements or other purposes;

*  require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service the indebtedness, reducing
the amount of cash flow available for other purposes; and

«  limit our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in our business.
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The conditional conversion feature of our Convertible Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and
operating resulls.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of $345,000 of our outstanding Convertible Notes due 2023 is
triggered, holders of the Convertible Notes due 2023 will be entitled to convert their convertible notes at any time during
specified periods at their option. We may elect to satisty our conversion obligation in cash, in shares of our common stock or in
a combination of cash and shares of our common stock. If one or more holders elect to convert their convertible notes, unless
we satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely shares of our common stock (other than cash in lieu of any fractional
share), we would be required to settle all or a portion of cur conversion obligation through the payment of cash. which could
adversely affect our liquidity. Furthermore. even if holders do not elect to convert their convertible notes, we could be required
under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the Convertible Notes due 2023 as
a current rather than long -term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net working capital.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle conversions of the Convertible Notes due 2023 or purchase
the Convertible Notes due 2023 as required upon a fundamental change, and our existing debt contains, and our future debt
may contain, limitations on our ability to pay cashk upon conversion or purchase of the Convertible Notes due 2023.

Following a fundamental change, holders of Convertible Notes due 2023 will have the right to require us to purchase
their convertible notes for cash, A fundamental change may alse constitute an event of default or prepayment under, and result
in the acceleration of the maturity of, our then -existing indebtedness. In addition, upon conversion of the Convertible Notes
due 2023, unless we settle our conversion obligation solely in shares of our common stock (other than cash in lieu of any
fractional share), we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the Convertible Notes due 2023 being surrendered
for conversion. We may not have sufficient financial resources, or will be able to arrange financing, to pay the fundamental
change purchase price in cash with respect to the Convertible Notes due 2023 surrendered by holders for purchase upon a
fundamental change or make cash payments upon conversions. In addition, restrictions in our Credit Agreement or future credit
facilities or other indebtedness, if any, may not allow us to purchase the Convertible Notes due 2023 upon a fundamental
change or make cash payments upon conversions of the Convertible Notes due 2023. Our failure to purchase the Convertible
Notes due 2023 upon a fundamental change or make cash payments upon conversions thereof when required would result in an
event of default with respect to the Convertible Notes due 2023 which could, in tumn, constitute a default under the terms of our
other indebtedness, if any. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or
grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and purchase the Convertible Notes due 2023 or
make cash payments upon conversions thereof.

Fluctuations in interest rates and turmoil in the financial markets could increase our cost of borrowing and impede access
to or increase the cost of financing our operations and acquisitions

Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors that are beyond our control, including general economic conditions
and policies of various governmental and regulatory agencies and, in particular, the Federal Reserve Board, which recently
increased rates and may continue to do so. Increases in interest rates would increase our borrowing costs over time and could
negatively impact our results of operations. While we have access to global credit markets, financial markets may experience
significant disruption or deterioration, which could make future financing difficult or more expensive to secure and could
negatively impact our ability to finance acquisitions.

Holders of our common stock may be diluted by future issuances of common or preferred stock or convertible securities in
connection with our incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise; and future sales of such shares in the public market, or the
expectations that such sales may occur, could lower our stock price.

Our charter authorizes us to issue shares of our common stock and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights
relating to our common stock for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by our Board of Directors in its
sole discretion. We could issue a significant number of shares of common stock, or securities convertible into shares of our
common stock, in the future in connection with investments or acquisitions, Any of these issuances could dilute our existing
stockholders. and such dilution could be significant, Moreover, such dilution could have a material adverse effect on the market
price for the shares of our common stock.

The future issuance of shares of preferred stock with voting rights may adversely affect the voting power of the
holders of shares of our common stock, either by diluting the voting power of our common stock if the preferred stock votes
together with the common stock as a single class. or by giving the holders of any such preferred stock the right to block an
action on which they have a separate class vote, even if the action were approved by the holders of our shares of our commen
stock. The future issuance of shares of preferred stock with dividend or conversion rights, liquidation preferences or other
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economic terms favorable to the holders of preferred stock could adversely affect the market price for our common stock by
making an investment in the common stock less attractive.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future and, consequently, your ability
to achieve a return on your investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Consequently, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only
way (o realize any gains on their investment. Investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase our common stock.

Certain provisions in our charter documents and agreements and Delaware law may inhibit potential acquisition bids for
our company and prevent changes in our management.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contains provisions that could depress the trading price of cur common
stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in management that our
stockholders might deem advantageous. As a result of these provisions in our certificate of incorporation, the price investors

may be willing to pay for shares of our common stock may be limited.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which imposes certain
restrictions on metrgers and other business combinations between us and any holder of 15% or more of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2. Properties

Cur headquarters are located in Chicago, Illinois. We support our Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment primarily
through offices in Denver, Colorado; Berwyn, Pennsylvania; Richmond, Virginia; Seattle, Washington; and Trivandrum, India.
We support our Envestnet Data & Analytics segment primarily through offices in Redwood City, California; Raleigh, North
Carolina; and Bangalore, India. We also lease office space in other parts of the United Stales to further support our operations.
We believe that our office facilities are adequate for our immediate needs and that additional or substitute space is available if
needed to accommodate the foreseeable growth of our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See Part 11, Item 8, “Note 21—Commitments and Contingencies” for Legal Proceedings details. For more information
about the impact of legal proceedings in our business, see Part I, [tem 1A “Risk Factors”.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

This section is not applicable.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

(a) Market Information
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ENV™,
(b) Holders
The number of holders of record of cur common stock was 472 as of February 21, 2020.
Common Stock

As of December 31, 2019, we had 500,000,000 common shares authorized at a par value of $0.005, of which
52,841,706 shares were outstanding.

Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2019, we had 50,000,000 preferred shares authorized at a par value of $0.005, of which no shares
were outstanding.

(©) Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we intend to retain our future earnings, if
any, to fund the growth of our business. We therefore do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Our future decisions concerning the payment of dividends on our common stock will depend upon our
results of operations, financial condition and capital expenditure plans, as well as any other factors that the Board of Directors,
in its sole discretion. may consider relevant.

(d) Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan

For a description of securities authorized under our equity compensation plans, see Part I1, Item 8, “Note 15—Stock-
Based Compensation™.

{(e) Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative retum to stockholders for $100 invested in our common stock relative
to the cumulative total returns of the Russells 2000 [ndex and The S&P North American Technology Sector Index for each of
the last five fiscal years. In calculating total annual stockholder return, reinvestment of dividends, if any, is assumed. The
indices are included for comparative purposes only. This graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the SEC
and is not to be incorporated by reference in any of our filings under the Securities Act, as amended, or the Exchange Act, as

amended, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such
filing.
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The stock price performance included in the graph ahove is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

(D Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None

(2) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

October 1, 2019 through October 31, 2019.................
November 1, 2019 through November 30, 2019.........
December 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019..........

Total number of
shares purchased

Maximum oumber (or
approximate dollar
value) of shares

Total number Average as part of publiely that may yet be
of shares price paid announced plans purchased under the
purchased per share or programs plans or programs
hY — — 1,956,390
— — 1,956,390
— — 1,956,390

On February 25, 2016, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a share repurchase program
under which the Company may repurchase up to 2,000,000 shares of its common stock. The timing and volume of share
repurchases will be determined by the Company’s management based on its ongoing assessments of the capital needs of the
business, the market price of its common stock and general market conditions. No time limit has been set for the completion of
the repurchase program, and the program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The repurchase program authorizes
the Company to purchase its common stock from time to time in the open market (including pursuant to a “Rule 10b5-1 plan™),
in block transactions, in privately negotiated transactions, through accelerated stock repurchase programs, through option or
other forward transactions or otherwise, all in compliance with applicable laws and other restrictions. As of December 31,
2019, 1,956,390 of shares could still be purchased under this program.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Set forth below is selected financial and other data of the Company. The notes to consolidated financial statements
included in Part I1, Ttem § provide additional context, including the impact of adopting new accounting pronouncements as
provided in “Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” and business acquisitions as detailed in “Note 3—Business

Acquisitions™.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Total TEVENUES. ..ieevvrverrersreseeseessersnerssensmssarsnnes

Operating expenses:

Cost Of TEVENUES .....coveeieerermreccrnenennnes
Compensation and benefits.........................
General and administration.......c..cucceneeeens
Depreciation and amortization ....................
Total operating eXpenses ......evereereenienienes
Income (loss) from operations........cccccovcemeees
Total other expense, Net.......cccereeerereerorcerersernens

Income (loss) before income tax provision

(Beneflt) v
Income tax provision (benefit) .........c.covveicenns
Net income (1055) coeeereeer e

Add: Net loss attributable to non-

controlling interest.........c.cocrencrnenreincnnenns

Net income (loss) attributable to Envestnet,

Net income (loss) per share attributable to
Envestnet, Inc.:

Diluted ...coveeeic it s rs s enasaesras

Weighted average common shares
outstanding:

Diluted ... et n

Year Ended Decewber 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands, except lor share and per share information)

900,127 $ 812363 $ 683,679 § 578,164 § 420,919
278,811 263,400 219,037 180,590 161,309
383,554 317,188 264,392 241,584 139,756
152,564 139,984 121,010 115,435 72,900
101,271 77,626 62,820 63,999 27,962
916,200 798,198 667,259 601,608 401,927
{16,073) 14,165 16,420 (23,444) 18,992
(32,022) (23,327) (18,109) (17,046) (10,004)
(48,095) (9,162) (1,689) (40,490) 8,988
{30,893) (13,172) 1,591 15,077 4,552
(17,202) 4010 (3,280} (55,567) 4436
420 1,745 — — —
(16,782) % 5755 % (3,280) §  (55,567) § 4,436
(0.33) $ 0.13 § (0.08) $ (130) $ 0.12
{0.33) § 0.12 § (0.08) $ (1.30) § 0.12
50,937,919 45,268,002 43,732,148 42,814,222 36,500,843
50,937.919 47,384,085 43,732,148 42,814,222 38,386,873
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents.............c..........
Working capital .....cooveimenneinenincinsinenn
Goodwill and intangible assets, net
Total assets ...occeeveeeeiiceeeeeeee e,
Non-current liabilities ) .........cooo.ovennrenes
Total stockholders’ equity .........ccoveveveevaes

December 31,
2017 2016 2015
{iu thousands)
$ 289345 ©§ 60,115 § 52592 § 51,718
(9,248) (42,870) (5,808)
655,686 697,494 713,948
862,052 872,401 876,249
284,127 302,260 317,901
436,272 412,889 439,529

(1) Includes long-term debt of $565,513, $294.725, $240,158, $252,984 and $284,753 as of December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017,

2016 and 2015, respectively.

(2) Includes non-current operating lease liabilities of $88,365 resulting from the adoption of ASU 2016-02, “Leases™ on
January 1, 2019. See Part II, Item 8, “Note 10—Leases™ for more information.
(3) In May 2018, we issued $345,000 of Convertible Notes. Net proceeds from the offering were $335,018. Also, in December
2018, we issued and sold shares of our common stock in a private placement for approximately $122,788.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Except where we have otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, dollar amounts presented in this
Form 10 -K are in thousands, except for Exhibits and per share amounts.

Overview

Envestnet is a leading provider of intelligent systems for wealth management and financial wellness. Envestnet’s
unified technology enhances advisor productivity and strengthens the wealth management process. Envestnet empowers
enterprises and advisors to more fully understand their clients and deliver better outcomes,

More than 4,700 companies, including 16 of the 20 largest U.S. banks, 43 of the 50 largest wealth management and
brokerage firms, over 500 of the largest RIAs, and hundreds of internet services companies, leverage Envestet technology and
services. Envestnet solutions enhance knowledge of the client, accelerate client on-boarding, improve client digital experiences
and help drive better outcomes for enterprises, advisors and their clients.

Founded in 1999, Envestnet has been a leader in helping transform wealth management, working towards its goal of
building a holistic financial wellness network that supports enterprises, advisors and their clients.

Through a combination of platform enhancements, partnerships and acquisitions, Envestnet uniquely provides a
financial network connecting software, services and data, delivering better intelligence and enabling its customers to drive
better outcomes.

We believe that our business model results in a high degree of recurring and predictable financial results.
Recent Developments
Acquisition of private AI company

On January 2, 2019, we acquired a private artificial intelligence (“Al”) company (the “private Al company
acquisition™). [n connection with the private Al company acquisition, we incurred estimated consideration of
approximately $25,063, inclusive of estimated contingent consideration of $7,580, for all of the outstanding shares of the
private Al company, subject to certain closing and post-closing adjustments. In December 2019, we determined that revenue
targets for this acquisition would not be mel. As a result, we reduced the contingent consideration liability plus accrued interest
associated with this acquisition by $8,126 and recorded this as a reduction to general and administration expenses.

Through the use of conversational Al tools and applications that leverages the latest wave of customer-centric
capabilities, we believe that the private company improves the way Financial Service Providers (*FSPs™) can interact with and
support their customers. The technology and operations of the private Al company have been integrated into our Envestnet
Data & Analytics segment.

Acquisition of PortfolioCenter business

On April 1, 2019, Tamarag, Inc. (“Tamarac™). a wholly owned subsidiary of ours, acquired certain of the assets,
primarily consisting of intangible assets, and the assumption of certain of the liabilities of the PortfolioCenter business
{*PortfolioCenter™) from Performance Technologies, Inc. (the “PC Seller™), a wholly owned subsidiary of The Charles Schwab
Corporation ("PortfolioCenter acquisition™). The PortfolioCenter business provides investment advisors and investment
advisory service providers with desktop, hosted and outsourced multicustodial software solutions. These solutions provide data-
management and performance-measurement tools, as well as customizable accounting, reporting, and billing functions
delivered through the commercial software application products known as PortfolioCenter Desktop, PortfolioCenter Hosted,
PortfolioServices and Service Bureau,

Tamarac acquired PortfolioCenter to better serve small and mid-size RIA firms. PortfolioCenter has become a part of
our Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment.

In connection with the PortfolioCenter acquisition, Tamarac paid $17,500 in cash and funded the acquisition with
available cash resources. The PC Seller is also entitled to an eam-out payment based on a percentage of PortfolioCenter's
eligible revenue for the twelve-month period beginning April 1. 2020. The discounted amount of the contingent consideration
liability is estimated to be $8,200 and is included as a non-current liability in the consolidated balance sheets.
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Acquisition of PIEtech

On May 1, 2019, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of PIEtech, Inc., a Virginia corporation
{“PIEtech™). PIEtech empowers financial advisors to use financial planning to efficiently motjvate their clients to create,
implement and maintain financial plans that best meet their lifetime financial goals. The technology and operations of PIEtech,
which now operates as Envesmet MoneyGuide, has been integrated into our Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment.

The acquisition of PIEtech (the “PIEtech acquisition”) establishes us as a leader in financial planning solutions,
providing advisors and their clients with access to a full spectrum of financial planning capabilities, and offering a broad range
of data-driven, financial plan-informed financial wellness solutions, both domestically and internationally over time,
Integration of PIEtech's MoneyGuide software with our integrated technology platform is expected to reduce friction and
enhance productivity for advisors.

In connection with the PIEtech acquisition, we paid net cash consideration of $298,714, subject to the working capital
adjustments set forth in the Merger Agreement, and issued 3,184,713 shares of Envestnet common stock to the sellers. We
funded the PIEtech acquisition with available cash resources and borrowings under its revolving credit facility.

In connection with the PIEtech acquisition, we established a retention bonus pool consisting of approximately
$30.000 of cash and restricted stock units to be granted to employees and management of P[Etech as inducement grants. As a
result, we adopted the Envestnet, Inc. 2019 Acquisition Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Equity Plan™) in order to make
inducement grants to certain PIEtech employees who will join Envestnet | MoneyGuide. We agreed to grant at future dates, not
earlier than the sixty day anniversary of the PIEtech acquisition, up to 301,469 shares of Envestnet common stock in the form
of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance stock units ("PSUs™) pursuant to the 2019 Equity Plan and made cash
retention payments of approximately $8,800 to certain legacy PIEtech employees who joined Envestnet MoneyGuide. As
of December 31, 2019, we have issued approximately 62.400 of RSUs and 24,900 of PSUs under the Equity Plan to legacy
PIEtech employees. At this time we expect to issue approximately 214,000 of additional RSUs and PSUs and expect to pay
approximately $5,300 in cash bonus payments over the next three years in connection with the PIEtech acquisition.

We also granted membership interests in certain of our equity method investments to two legacy PIEtech executives
with an estimated fair market value of $8,900. These membership interests will vest and become exercisable in future periods.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company has recorded approximately 3$5.920 as a component of compensation and benefits in
the consolidated statements of operations with a corresponding liability in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Death of Chief Executive Officer

On October 3, 2019, Jud Bergman, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, died in an automobile accident. Bill
Crager, President of Envestnet and Chief Executive of Envestnet Wealth Solutions, has been named our Interim Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Crager has served as President of Envestnet since 2002 and has been an employee of the Company since
2000. Ross Chapin, has been named the Interim Non-Executive Chairman of our Board of Directors. Mr. Chapin has served as
a director of the Company since 2001. In connection with Mr. Bergman's death, we modified certain of his existing outstanding
equity awards. This resulted in additional non-cash compensation expense of $4,286 in 2019.

Key Metrics

Key metrics beginning in 2018 include the additicn of FolioDynamix, the metrics of which are shown below as of
January 2, 2018, the date of acquisition:

FolioDynamix Assets Accounts Advisors
(in millions, except accounts and advisors data)
Assets under Management ("AUM™)....coovieeieeee e, k) 8,736 57.163
Assets under Administration (AUA”) ... e 33,182 79,131
Total AUMYA .ot sb s e b st 41,918 136,294 3,838
SUBSCRIPHION et s e vns e s resespo e sass s sas sresans 796,545 2,796,878 15,308
Total Platform ASSS .. v e iveeeeee et et e e e e e e e eee e eaeeeseea ) 838,463 2,933,172 19,146
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Envestnet Wealth Solutions Segment

The following table provides information regarding the amount of assets utilizing our platforms, financial advisors and
investor accounts in the periods indicated:

As of December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions, except accounts and advisors data)
Platform Assets
F L 1] PSP 5 207,083 3 150,591 % 141,518
AUA s st e e srs srs e e s e R RS s 343,505 291,934 308,480
Total AUMYA (et et emarnnn 350,588 442,525 449,998
SUDSCHPHON ettt s e e 3,205,281 2,314,253 1,253,528

Tolal Platformn ASSELS .......cccmueereecireicasrincesisstan st essnes e snes e enseeneees & 3,755,869 § 2,756,778 1,703,526
Platform Accounts

AUM et e e e sa e et e st e ssnstess et et e et essnsanaseetans 935,039 816,354 685,925
AUA it e ara s sa s e e sae e e ra b e e see e eas 1,193,882 1,182,764 1,217,697
Total AUTM/A (oo mv s e e e e e e cmcm s 2,128,921 1,999,118 1,903,622
T TT 1T o 1 o OSSR 9,793,175 8,865,435 5,054,015
Total Platform ACCOUNTS ... iieieccr it cr s e e ete e ses e asbesss s sreaseesmssens 11,922,096 10,864,553 6,957,637
Advisors
AUMIA ettt st st sa et nd e nd e 40,563 40,103 40,485
SUDSCRIPLION. c. et sore et s e e e e e s e s e 61,180 56,237 25,566
TOlAl AdVISOTS .oooceer et ce e e e vrrnrreres e rer e rese e racvacens 101.743 96,340 66.051

The following table provides information regarding the degree to which gross sales, redemptions, net flows and
changes in the market values of assets contributed to changes in AUM or AUA in the periods indicated:

Assel Rollforward - 2019

Asof Gross Market Reclass to Asof
12/3172018 Sales Redemptions Net Flows Impact Subscription 1273172019

{in millions, except account data)

AUM ... 5 150,591 § 68,652 5 (33980) § 34,672 $28382 § {6,562) § 207,083

AUA ..o 291,934 93,901 (68.,534) 25,367 48,899 (22,695) 343,505
Total AUM/A oo $ M2525 $162553 5 (102,514) § 60,039 §77281 §  (29,257) 3 550,588
Fee-Based Accounts 1,999,118 228,759 (98,956) 2,128,921

The above AUM/A gross sales figures include $31.5 billion in new client conversions. We onboarded an additional
£297.9 billion in subscription conversions during 2019, bringing total conversions for the year to $329.4 billion.
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Asset Rollforward - 2018

As of Gross Market Reclass to Asof
12/31/2017 FolioDynamix Sates Redemptions  Net Flows Impact Subscription 12/31/2018

(in millions, except account data)
AUM. e $ 141,518 $ 8,736 § 63,081 § (45945) $17,136 $(11,590) $ (5,209 $ 150,591
AUA e 308,480 33,182 141,037 (89,756) 51,281 (21,183) (79,826) 291,934
Total AUM/A.... § 449998 3 41,918 $204,118 % (135,701) $ 68417 $(32.773) $ (85.,035) 3 442,525

Fee-Based
Accounts 1,903,622 136,294 378,092 (418,890) 1999118

The above AUM/A gross sales figures include $60.5 billion in new client conversions. We onboarded an additional
$148.1 billion in subscription conversions during 2018, bringing total conversions for the year to $208.6 billion.

Asset and account figures in the “Reclass to Subscription” columns for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
represent enterprise customers whose billing arrangements in future periods are subscription-based, rather than asset-based.
Such amounts are included in Subscription metrics at the end of the quarter in which the reclassification occurred, with no
impact on total platform assets or accounts.

Envestnet Data & Analytics Segment

Paid Users

A paid user is defined as a user of an application or service provided to our customer using the Envestnet Data &
Analytics platform whose status corresponds to a billable activity under the associated customer contract. We believe that our
ability to increase the number of paid users is an indicator of our market penetration. the growth of our business, and our
potential future business opportunities.

Paid users were approximately 25.0 million, 23.3 million and 22.4 million as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The increase was primarily driven by an increase in our number of customers as well as expansion of user base
within certain existing customers.

Revenues
Overview

We earn revenues primarily under three pricing models. First, a majority of our revenues is derived from fees charged
as a percentage of the assets that are managed or administered on our technology platforms by financial advisors. These
revenues are recorded under asset-based revenues. Our asset - based fees vary based on the types of investment solutions and
services that financial advisors utilize. Asset-based fees accounted for approximately 54%, 59% and 60% of our total revenues
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. In future periods, the percentage of our total revenues
attributable to asset-based fees is expected to vary based on fluctuations in securities markets, whether we enter into significant
subscription agreements, the mix of AUM or AUA, and other factors.

We also generate revenues from recurring, contractual subscription fees for providing access to our technology
platforms. This subscription revenue includes both contractual minimum payments and usage-based fees and is driven
primarily by the number of customers, including new customers as well as customers who renew their existing subscription
contracts, and the number of paid users. These revenues are recorded under subscription-based revenues. Subscription fees vary
based on the scope of technology solutions and services being used, and are priced in a variety of constructs based on the size
of the business, number of users or number of accounts and in many cases can increase over time based on the growth of these
factors. Subscription fees accounted for 42%, 36% and 36% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

Finally, a portion of our revenues are generated from fees received in connection with professional services and other
revenue.
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Asset-based recurring revenites

We generally charge our customers fees based on a higher percentage of the market value of AUM than the fees we
charge on the market value of AUA, because we provide fiduciary oversight and/or act as the investment advisor in connection
with assels we categorize as AUM. The level of fees varies based on the nature of the investment solutions and services we
provide. as well as the specific investment manager. fund and/or cusiodian chosen by the financial advisor. A portion of our
revenues from assets under management or administration include costs paid by us to third parties for sub-advisory, clearing,
custody and brokerage services. These expenses are recorded under cost of revenues. We do not have fiduciary respensibility in
connection with AUA and, therefore, generally charge lower fees on these assets. OQur fees for AUA vary based on the nature of
the investment solutions and services we provide.

For approximately 90% of our asset-based recurring revenues from assets under management or administration, we
bill customers at the beginning of each quarter based on the market value of customer assets on our platforms as of the end of
the prior quarter. For example, asset-based recurring revenues recognized during the fourth quarter of 2019 were primarily
based on the market value of assets as of September 30, 2019. Our asset-based recurring revenues are generally recognized
ratably throughout the quarter based on the number of days in the quarter.

Our asset-based recurring revenues are affected by the amount of new assets that are added to existing and new client
accounts, which we refer to as gross sales. Gross sales, from time to time, also include conversions of client assets to our
technology platforms. The amounts of assets that are withdrawn from client accounts are referred to as redemptions. We refer to
the difference between gross sales and redemptions as net flows. Positive net flows indicate that the market value of assets
added to client accounts exceeds the market value of assets that have been withdrawn from client accounts.

Our asset-based revenues are also affected by changes in the market values of securities held in client accounts due to
fluctuations in the securities markets. Certain types of securities have historically experienced greater market price fluctuations,
such as equity securities, than other securities, such as fixed Income securities, though in any given period the type of securities
that experience the greatest fluctuations may vary.

Subscription-based recurring revenues

Subscription-based recurring revenues are recognized ratably over the contracted term of each respective subscription
agreement, commencing on the date the service is provisioned to the customer, provided all applicable revenue recognition
criteria have been satisfied. As part of the subscription contracts. our customers generally commit to a minimum level of paid
users from which a minimum level of non-refundable subscriplion revenue is derived. As paid users in excess of the guaranteed
minimum level access the Envestnet Data & Analytics platform, the customer is then required to pay additional usage fees
calculated based upon a contracted per-paid-user fee. No refunds or credits are given if fewer paid users access the Envestnet
Data & Analytics platform than the contracted minimum level. Usage-based revenue is recognized as earned, provided all
applicable revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied.

Professional services and other revenues

To a lesser degree we also receive revenues from professional services fees by providing customers with certain
technology platform software development and implementation services. These revenues are recognized when completed,
under a proportional - performance mode! utilizing an output- based approach or on a straight-line basis over the estimated life
of the customer relationship. Our contracts generally have fixed prices and generally specify or quantify interim deliverables.

Expenses
The following is a description of our principal expense items:
Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues primarily includes expenses related to our receipt of sub- advisory and clearing, custody and
brokerage services from third parties. The largest component of cost of revenues is paid to third party investment managers.
Clearing, custody and brokerage services are performed by third-party providers. These expenses are typically calculated based
upon a contractual percentage of the market value of assets held in customer accounts measured as of the end of each fiscal
quarter and are recognized ratably throughout the quarter based on the number of days in the quarter. Also included in cost of
revenues are vendor specific expenses related to the direct support of revenues associated with the Envestnet Data & Analytics
products.
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Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits expenses primarily relate to employee compensation, including salaries, shori-term
incentive compensation, non-cash stock -based compensation, incentive compensation, benefits and employer- related taxes.

General and administration

General and administration expenses include occupancy costs and expenses relating to communications services,
research and data services, website and system development, marketing, professional and legal services, travel and
entertainment and acquisition/transaction related expenses.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expenses include depreciation and amortization related to:

+ fixed assets, including land, building and building improvements, computer equipment and software,
leasehold improvements, office furniture and fixtures and office equipment and other;

* internally developed software; and

» intangible assets, primarily related to customer lists, backlog, proprietary technology and trade names, the
value of which are capitalized in conneclion with our acquisitions.

Building, fumiture and equipment are depreciated using the straight- line method based on the estimated useful lives
of the depreciable assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight- line method over their estimated economic
useful lives or the remaining lease term, whichever is shorter. Improvements are capitalized, while repairs and maintenance
costs are recorded as expenses in the period they are incurred. Assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.

Internally developed software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. We evaluate the
useful lives of these assets on an annual basis and test for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that
could impact the recoverability of these assets.

Intangible assets are depreciated using an accelerated or straight - line basis over their estimated economic useful lives
and are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the
recoverability of these assets.

Interest income

Interest income primarily includes amounts earned on our bank accounts and money market funds.

Interest expense

Interest expense includes coupon interest, discount amortization and issuance cost amortization related to the
Convertible Notes due 2019 and Convertible Notes due 2023, collectively the ("Convertible Notes”), as well as amortization
of upfront fees and monthly fees related to the Amended Credit Agreement. See Part II, Item 8, “Note 9—Debt™ for details. The
discount, issuance costs and upfront fees are amortized over the term of the related agreements.

Other expense, net

Other expense, net includes foreign exchange gains or losses and gain or loss on foreign currency forward contracts as
well as other miscellaneous revenue or expense items as appropriate.
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Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

% %o
2019 2018 Change 2017 Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Revenues:
Asset-based ..o e T § 484312 % 481,233 1% % 410,016 17 %
Subscription-based ............cccceeinieeeriec e 378.813 295,467 28 % 245,867 20 %
Total recurring revenUES ......c.cc.vuiveieeeeeee e eeecviveeee e 863,125 776,700 11 % 655,883 18 %
Professional services and other revenues..............overveeae 37,002 35,663 4% 27.796 28 %
Total FEVENUES.......coevivereesevec e v en e e ee e nepseeeee 900,127 812,363 11 % 683,679 19 %
Operating expenses;
Costofrevenues.........cocoieiei i 278.811 263,400 6 % 219,037 20 %
Compensation and benefits.....courmrirrricrnsnesesesessens 383,554 317,188 21 % 264,392 20 %
General and adilinistration.........ceevecieeereceveeereeeres 152,564 139,984 9% 121,010 16 %
Depreciation and amortization..........ceeieeeriseeeeronresrsnses 101,271 77,626 30 % 62,820 24 %
Total Operaling eXPenses ... oo vievieeeeeeecaeeeeeceaeenesins 916,200 798.198 13 % 667,259 20 %
Income (Loss) from operations........oerserearserenesisessanns (16,073) 14,165 . 16,420 (14)%
Other income (expense):
Interest INCOME............ccceeeimccereee e e b s e 3,347 2,363 42 % 201 *
Interest expense. .. ... e {32,520) (25,203) 29 % (16,347) 54 %
Other eXPENSe, NEt......ooovireeiiricrinerese e stsrsse s s senssnsenssnans (2,849) (487) * (1,963) (75)%
Total other eXpense, Net..........coccviieeieeeiiieeercerceceeerees (32.022) (23,327) 37 % {18,109) 29 %
Loss before income tax provision (benefit).......coeurvrrennes (48,095) (9,162) * (1,689) *
Income tax provision (benefit) ..o (30,893) (13.172) 135 % 1,591 *
Net income (lOSS) .....uceeeieeeeeecee e e e seseean (17,202) 4,010 * (3,280) '
Add: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest....... 420 1,745 (76)% — *
Net income (loss) attributable to Envestnet, Inc. ...cccec... ' § (16,782) § 5,755 * 3 (3,280) *

*  Not meaningful
Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to year ended December 31, 2018

Asset-based recurring revenues

Asset-based recurring revenues increased 1% from $481,233 in 2018 to $484,312 in 2019. The increase was primarily
due to an increase in asset values applicable to our quarterly billing cycle as a result of the upswing in the equity markets
relative to the comparable 2018 period. In 2019, revenues were also positively affected by new account growth and positive net
flows of AUM/A. The increase was partially offset by a change in classification of revenues to subscription-based recurring
revenues for certain customers. Periodically clients have chosen to change the way they pay for our solution, whereby they
switch from an asset-based pricing model to a subscription-based model, which has increased our subseription-based metrics.

Excluding the revenue impact from the acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and PIEtech, asset-based recurring revenue

decreased from 5925 of total revenue in 2018 to 54% in 2019.

The number of financial advisors with AUM or AUA on our technology platforms increased from 40,103 as of
December 31. 2018 to 40,563 as of December 31, 2019 and the number of AUM or AUA client accounts increased from

approximately 2.0 million as of December 31, 2018 to approximately 2.1 million as of December 31, 2019.
Subscription-based recurring revenues

Subscription-based recurring revenues increased 28% from $295.467 in 2018 to $378,813 in 2019.
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The acquisiticns of PortfolioCenter and PIEtech contributed revenues of $6,702 and $27.348, respectively, to
subscription-based recurring revenues in 2019, Excluding these revenues, the remaining increase of $49,296 is the result of
continuing to add clients, selling additional services to existing clients and a change in classification of revenues from asset-
based recurring revenues for certain customers.

Professional services and other revenues

Professional services and other revenues increased 4% from $35,663 in 2018 to $37,002 in 2019, primarily due to an
increase in revenues of $2,967 contributed from the PlEtech acquisition.

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues increased 6% from $263,400 in 2018 to $278,811 in 2019, primarily due to an increase in asset-based
cost of revenues of $11,768 and an increase in subscription-based cost of revenues of $3,713. The acquisitions of
PortfolioCenter and PIEtech had an immaterial impact to total cost of revenues in 2019. As a percentage of total revenues, cost
of revenues decreased from 32% in 2018 to 31% in 2019.

Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits increased 21% from $317,188 in 2018 to $383,554 in 2019, primarily due to increases in
salaries, benefits and related payrell taxes of $29,092, non-cash compensation expense of $20,199, incentive compensation of
$8,351 and severance expense of $7,049. The acquisitions of PertfolioCenter and PlEtech contributed $3,553 and $19,338,
respectively, to total compensation and benefits expense in 2019. As a percentage of total revenues, compensation and benefits
increased from 39% in 2018 10 43% in 2019.

General and adminisiration

General and administration expenses increased 9% from $139,984 in 2018 1o $152,564 in 2019, primarily due to
increases in professional and legal expenses of $4,744, systems development expense of $4,596, occupancy costs of $3,829,
other miscellaneous general and administration expenses of $2,632, marketing expense of $2,320, accretion on contingent
consideration and purchase liabilities of $1,550 and bad debt expense of $1,238. These increases were partially offset by a fair
market value adjusiment of $8,126 for contingent consideration. In December 2019, we determined that revenue targets for an
acquisition would not be met. As a result, we reduced the contingent consideration liability plus accrued interest associated
with this acquisition by $8,126 and recorded this as a reduction to general and administration expenses. The acquisitions of
PortfolioCenter and P[Etech contributed 34,238 and 34,463, respectively, to total general and administration expense in 2019.
As a percentage of total revenues, general and administration expenses remained consistent at 17% in 2018 and 2019.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased 30% from $77,626 in 2018 to $101,271 in 2019, primarily due to an
increase in intangible asset amortization expense of $14,595, driven by the recognition of additional intangible assets related to
the acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and PIEtech. Increases in property and equipment depreciation expense of $5,040 and
internally developed software amortization expense of $4,009 also contributed to this increase. As a percentage of total
revenues, depreciation and amortization expense increased from 10% in 2018 to 11% in 2019.

Interest income

Interest income increased from $2,363 in 2018 to 53,347 in 2019, primarily due to the interest camed en our bank
accounts and money market funds.

Interest expense

Interest expense increased 29% from $25,203 in 2018 to $32,520 in 2019, primarily due to the issuance of the
Convertible Notes due 2023 in May 2018. Interest expense includes coupon interest, discount amortization and issuance cost
amortization related to our convertible notes, as well as interest and amortization of upfront fees and monthly fees related to the
Amended Credit Agreement. The discount, issuance costs and upfront fees are amortized over the terms of the related
agreements. As a percentage of tofal revenues, interest expense increased from 3% in 2018 to 4% in 2019.
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Other expense, het

Other expense, net increased from $487 in 2018 to $2,849 in 2019, primarily a result of additional equity method
losses recorded in 2019. Included within this amount is a gain on life insurance proceeds of approximately $5,000 that we
received upon the death of our chief executive officer in October 2019. This gain was offset by a non-revocable charitable
contribution of $5,020 made to a foundation created in haonor of our former chief executive officer.

Income tax provision

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018
Loss before income LAX BEnefil ........coveieeiinciiesrnrs e en e e e e e 5 (48,095) % (9,162)
INCOME taX BENETIt ... .cuoueriiireierre s e e e e s e st snas s e se e smenre e snmsasen (30,893) (13,172)
EFTECUVE LAX TALE 1outvticieriiee e eee e ee s asc e e easceesesaes e et eaes et e et samsem e e e s ne e s sam s meeaneemea 64.2% 143.8%

Our 2019 effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to state taxes, excess tax benefit related to
stock-based compensation, the generation of R&D tax credits, unrecognized tax benefits, prior period true-ups and changes in
valuation allowances.

Our 2018 effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to the effect of state taxes, foreign taxes, prior
period true-up, indefinite-lived intangibles, Base Erosion Anti-Abuse Tax ("BEAT") and release of a portion of the valuation
allowance in connection with the 2018 FolioDynamix acquisition.

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to year ended December 31, 2017

For a discussion of the 2018 Results of Operations compared to 2017, see Part II, Item 7 of our Form 10-K filed with
the SEC on March 1, 2019.

Business Segments

Business segments are generally organized around our service offerings. Financial information about each of our two
business segments is contained in Part I, Item 8, “Note 19—Segment Information™. Our business segments are as follows:

Envestnel Wealth Solutions — a leading provider of unified wealth management software and services to empower
financial advisors and institutions.

Envestnet Data & Analvtics — a leading dala aggregation and data intelligence platform powering dynamic, cloud-
based innovation for digital financial services.

We also incur expenses not directly attributable to the segments listed above. These nonsegment operating expenses

include salary and benefits for certain corporate officers, certain types of professional service expenses and insurance,
acquisition related transaction costs, restructuring charges and other non-recurring and/or non-operationally related expenses.
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The following table reconciles income (loss) from operations by segment to consolidated net income (loss) attributable
to Envestnet, Inc.:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Envestnet Wealth SOIUHONS «........oceer ittt $ 67,713 § 75491 $ 75,449
Envestnet Data & Analylics.. .o essss (25,262) (10.013) (19,456)
Nonsegment Operating EXPENSES .....vicimmireaserineeinssestsmsas s sass s s sasaas (58,524) (51,313) (39,573)
Income (1055) from OpPerations .. .ccveiie e verec s e ee e e sveraneas (16,073) 14,165 16,420
INEErESt INCOME cvuvreiernerierserrsnrstessasissemsssssnssaessnsrassarstessnrsarerrassessassssrarenses 3,347 2,363 201
INEEEST XPEIMSE ..euereerrrinerre et e e e e e s e e e e eme e e s s s reesre e ne e nre e (32,520) {25,203) (16,347)
Other EXPENSE, NEE .vcucieieieiecsiesriseesre e sene e ssr et sraanesresrassa st eaion (2,849) (487) (1,963)
Consolidated loss before income tax provision (benefit) .........cccevveeene (48,095) (9.162) (1.689)
Income tax provision (benefit) .........ccccieinicnincrnencncense e (30,893) (13,172) 1,591
Consolidated net iINCOmMe {lOSS) .occirieiiericiiii e era s (17,202) 4,010 (3,280)

Add: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 420 1,745 —
Consolidated net income (loss) attributable to Envestnet, Inc. ..oocvveine, b (16,782) § 5735 % (3,280)

Envestnet Wealth Solutions

The following table presents income from operations for the Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment:

Year Ended December 31,
%o Y

2419 2018 Change 2017 Change
(in thousands, except lor percentages)
Revenues:
Assel-based ... $ 484312 § 481233 1% § 410,016 17%
Subscription-based..........ccovrermereennnreiene s 207,606 138,372 50 % 106,048 30%
Total TECUITING TEVETMUES ....ociiier e e 691,918 619,605 12 %% 516,064 20%
Professional services and other revenues..........oovevrvrennr 17,5440 13,000 I5% 11,841 10%
TOtal [EVENUES....ccci e 709,458 632,605 12 % 527,905 20%
Operating expenses:
CoSt O TEVEMUES ..ot 255,108 244,658 4% 205,793 19%%
Compensation and benefits .......cc.ccoceeirrecccnirsicecnenne 227,570 191,893 19 % 157,237 22%
General and administration ... vt a s 93,321 75,424 24 % 63,203 19%
Depreciation and amortization ... eeieceermenenisecnns 65,746 45,139 46 % 26,223 72%
Total operating eXpenses ......c.cceeveeiereeeensreeecvrenienieeen.s 641,745 557,114 15 % 452,456 23%
Income from Operations. ........c.ooceeveevsrereeessnecaeeesasenns $ 67,713 §$ 75,491 (10)% $ 75,449 *

*  Not meaningful

Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to year ended December 31, 2018 for the Envestnet Wealth Solutions
segment

Revenues
Asset-based recurring revenues

Asset-based recurring revenues increased 1% from $481,233 in 2018 to $484,312 in 2019, The increase was primarily
due to an increase in asset values applicable to our quarterly billing cycle as a result of the upswing in the equity markets
relative to the comparable 2018 period. In 2019, revenues were also positively affected by new account growth and positive net
flows of AUM/A. The increase in revenues was partially offset by a change in classification of revenues to subscription-based
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recurring revenues for cerfain customers. Periodically clients have chosen to change the way they pay for our solution, whereby
they switch from an asset-based pricing model to a subscription-based model.

Excluding the revenue impact from the acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and PIEtech, asset-based recurring revenue
decreased from 76% of total revenue in 2018 to 68% in 2019,

The number of financial advisors with AUM or AUA on our technology platforms increased from 40,103 as of
December 31, 2018 to 40,563 as of December 31, 2019 and the number of AUM or AUA client accounts increased from
approximately 2.0 million as of December 31, 2018 to approximately 2.1 million as of December 31, 2019.

Subscription-based recurring revenues
Subscription-based recurring revenues increased 50% from $138,372 in 2018 to $207.606 in 2019,

The acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and P[Etech contributed revenues of $6,702 and $27,348, respectively, to
subscription-based recurring revenues in 2019. Excluding these revenues, the remaining increase of $35,184, or 25%, is a result
of continuing to add clients, selling additional services to existing clients and a change in classification of revenues from asset-
based recurring revenues for certain customers,

Professional services and other revenues

Professional services and other revenues increased 35% from $13,000 in 2018 to $17,540 in 2019, primarily due to an
increase in revenues of $2,967 contributed from the PIEtech acquisition along with increases in revenues from both existing
customers and onboarding of new customers.

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues increased 4% from $244.658 in 2018 to $255.108 in 2019, primarily due to the corresponding
increase in asset-based cost of revenues. The acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and PIEtech had an immaterial impact to total cost
of revenues in 2019. As a percentage of segment revenues, cost of revenues decreased from 39% in 2018 to 36% in 2019,
primarily due to the growth in higher margin subscription-based revenues.

Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits increased 19% from $191,893 in 2018 to $227,570 in 2019, primarily due to increases in
salaries, benefits and related payrell taxes of $20,324 and non-cash compensation expense of $14,626, partially offset by a
decrease in severance expense of $1,495. The acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and PIEtech contributed $3,553 and $19,338,
respectively, to total compensation and benefits expense in 2019. As a percentage of segment revenues. compensation and
benefits increased from 30% in 2018 to 32% in 2019.

General and administration

General and administration expenses increased 24% from $75,424 in 2018 to $93,321 in 2019, primarily due to
increases in systems development expense of $4,988, occupancy costs of $3,592. other miscellaneous general and
administration expenses of §3,459, marketing expense of $1,736. professional and legal fees of $1,557, accretion on contingent
consideration and purchase liabilities of $1,550 and bad debt expense of $1.018. The acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and
PIEtech contributed $4,238 and $4,463, respectively, (o total general and administration expense in 2019. As a percentage of
segment revenues, general and administration expenses increased from 12% in 2018 o 13% in 2019,

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased 46% from $45,139 in 2018 to 365,746 in 2019, primanly due (o an increase
in intangible asset amortization expense of $14.650, driven by the recognition of additional intangible assets related to the
acquisitions of PortfolioCenter and PIEtech. Also contributing to the increase was increased intemally developed software
amortization expense of $4,003 and property and equipment depreciation expense of $1,953. As a percentage of segment
revenues, depreciation and amortization expense increased from 7% in 2018 to 9% in 2019.
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Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to year ended December 31, 2017 for the Envestnet Wealth Solutions
segment

For a discussion of the 2018 Results of Operations compared to 2017 for the Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment, see
Part II, Item 7 of our Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2019.

Envestnet Data & Analytics

The following table presents loss from operations for the Envestnet Data & Analytics segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 Ch:/:lge 207 Ch.l/:lgc
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Revenues:
Subscription-based ............ocoieer e § 171,207 & 157,095 99% $ 139,819 12 %
Professional services and other revenues......oiveiean. 19,462 22,663 (14)% 15,955 42 %
Total TEVEMUES...c.eieie e et see e 190,669 179,758 6% 155,774 15 %
Operating expenses;
COSt Of FEVETIULS....ceeveeirivreerrisereesereraensenresserssnrssnsreanesnn 23,703 18,742 26 % 13,244 42 %
Compensation and benefits........ccevvererenienieniencesieniennes 118,062 102,378 15 % 93,316 10 %
General and administration ..., 38,641 36,164 7 % 32,073 13 %
Depreciation and amortization..........cocceeocnssincceen 35,525 32,487 9% 36,597 (1Y%
Total operating eXpemnses ..........coccceerieeenesesesereeeeeen. 215,931 189,771 14 % 175,230 8%
L0s5 from OPeTations .......cvceveeresnereerenirnsnsesressssesnercans $  (25262) §  (10,013) 152% §  (19,456) 49 %

Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to year ended December 31, 2018 for the Envestnet Data & Analytics
segment

Revenues
Subscription-based recurring revenues

Subscription-base recurring revenues increased 9% trom $157.095 in 2018 to $171,207 in 2019, primarily due to
broad increases in revenue from new and existing customers.

Professional services and other revenues

Professional services and other revenues decreased 14% from $22,663 in 2018 to $19,462 in 2019, primarily due to
the timing of the completion of projects and customer deployments.

Cost of revenues

The cost of revenues increased 26% from $18.742 in 2018 to $23.703 in 2019, primarily due to the corresponding
increase in subscription-based recurring revenues. As a percentage of segment revenues, cost of revenues increased from 10%
in 2018 to 12% in 2019.

Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits increased 15% from $102,378 in 2018 to $118,062 in 2019, primarily due to increases in
salaries, benefits and related payroll taxes of $6,719 as we have increased overall headcount to support organic growth,
increases in severance expense of $6,732 primarily related to a reduction in force at one location and increases in non-cash
compensation expense of $3,411, partially offset by a decrease in incentive compensation of $1.393. As a percentage of
segment revenues, compensation and benefits increased from 37% in 2018 10 62% in 2019.
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General and administration

General and administration expenses increased 7% from $36,164 in 2018 to $38,641 in 2019, primarily due to
expenses incurred in 2019 for a legal matter (see “Note 21—Commitments and Contingencies™), increases in transaction
related expenses of $1,065, professional fees of $536, marketing costs of 3501 and other miscellaneous increases. These
increases were partially offset by a $865 decrease in costs related to communications, research and dala. As a percentage of
segment revenues, general and administration expenses remained constant at 20% in 2018 and 2019.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased 9% from $32,487 in 2018 to $35,525 in 2019, primarily due to an increase in
property and equipment depreciation expense of $2,224 resulling from our business acquisitions and routine fixed asset
purchases. As a percentage of segment revenues, depreciation and amortization expense increased from 18% in 2018 to 19% in
2019.

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to year ended December 31, 2017 for the Envestner Data & Analptics
segment

For a discussion of the 2018 Results of Operations compared to 2017 for the Envestnet Data & Analytics segment, see
Part II, Ttem 7 of our Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2019.

Nonsegment

The following table presents nonsegment operating expenses:

Year Ended December 31,
[}
e

Yo

2019 2018 Cha;ge 2017 Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Operating expenses:;
Compensation and benefits ..........occocviveeeeeiciieccececs hY 37922 § 22917 65% § 13,839 66%
General and administration .........c..oceeeeeeeersereeccncsereesseens 20,602 28,396 (27)% 25,734 10%
Total Operating eXPenSES ..ovvrviivivrereereereeresesresrerrereereerente ) 58,524 % 51,313 14% % 39,573 30%

Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to year ended December 31, 2018 for nonsegment

Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits increased 65% from 322,917 in 2018 1o $37.922 in 2019, primarily due to increases in
incentive compensation of $8,770, primarily a result of approximately $8,800 in ratention bonuses paid in connection with the
PIEtech Acquisition, non-cash compensation expense of $2,162, salaries, benefits and related payroll taxes of $2,050 and an
increase in severance expense of $1,812.

General and administration
General and administration expenses decreased 27% from $28,396 in 2018 to $20,602 in 2019. In December 2019, we
determined that revenue targets for an acquisition would not be met. As a result, we reduced the contingent consideration

liability plus accrued interest associated with this acquisition by 38,126 and recorded this as a reduction to general and
administration expenses.

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to year ended December 31, 2017 for nonsegment

For a discussion of the 2018 Results of Operations compared to 2017 for nonsegment expenses, see Part [l. ltem 7 of
our Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2019.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to reporting results according to GAAP, we also disclose certain non-GAAP financial measures to enhance
the understanding of our operating performance. Those measures include “adjusted revenues,” “adjusted net revenues,”
“adjusted EBITDA,” “adjusted net income” and “adjusted net income per share™.

We introduced adjusted net revenues as a non-GAAP financial metric in the first quarter of 2019 to eliminate the
effects of asset-based costs of revenue, which is included in both asset-based recurring revenue and cost of revenue in our
consolidated statements of operations. As our business model moves towards a more subscription-based recurming revenue
model, excluding this portion of our revenue from certain analysis performed by management improves the usefulness and
comparability of such analysis when evaluating the growth and profitability of the overall business, and in comparing segment
performance. While the amounts included in the calculation of adjusted net revenues are disclosed in our consolidated
financial statements and footnotes, management believes providing more transparency into this metric is beneficial to inveslors
who wish to evaluate our performance in this fashion. Adjusted revenues and Adjusted net revenues have limitations as
financial measures, should be considered as supplemental in nature and are not meant as a substitute for revenue prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

“Adjusted revenues” excludes the effect of purchase accounting on the fair value of acquired deferred revenue. Under
GAAP, we record at fair value the acquired deferred revenue for contracts in effect at the time the entities were acquired.
Consequently, revenue related to acquired entities for periods subsequent to the acquisition does not reflect the full amount of
revenue that would have been recorded by these entities had they remained stand - alone entities.

“Adjusted net revenues” represents adjusted revenues less asset-based costs of revenues. Under GAAP, we are
required to recognize as revenue certain fees paid to investment managers and other third parties needed for implementation of
investment solutions included in our assets under management. Those fees also are required to be recorded as cost of revenues.
This non-GAAP metric presents adjusted revenues without such fees included, as they have no impact on our profitability.

“Adjusted EBITDA™ represents net income (loss) before deferred revenue fair value adjustment, interest income,
interest expense, accretion on contingent consideration and purchase liability, income tax provision (benefit), depreciation and
amortization, non- cash compensalion expense, restructuring charges and transaction costs, severance, fair market value
adjustment on contingent consideration liability. litigation related expense, foreign currency, non-income tax expense
adjustment, loss allpcation from equity method investment and loss attributable to non - controlling interest.

“Adjusted net income” represents net income (loss) before deferred revenue fair value adjustment, accretion on
contingent consideration and purchase liability, non - cash interest expense, non-cash compensation expense, restructuring
charges and transaction costs, severance, amortization of acquired intangibles and fair value adjustment Lo property and
equipment, net, fair market value adjustment on contingent consideration liability, litigation related expense, foreign currency,
non-income tax expense adjustment, loss allocation from equity method investment and loss attributable to non-controlling
interast. Reconciling items are presented gross of tax, and a normalized tax rate is applied to the total of all reconciling items to
arrive at adjusted net income. The normalized tax rate is based solely on the estimated blended statutory income tax rates in the
jurisdictions in which we operate. We monitor the normalized tax rate based on events or trends that could materially impact
the rate, including tax legislation changes and changes in the geographic mix of our operations.

“Adjusted net income per share” represents adjusted net income attributable to common stockholders divided by the
diluted nurnber of weighted-average shares outstanding.

Our Board of Directors and management use these non-GAAP financial measures:
+  As measures of operating performance;
«  For planning purposes. including the preparation of annual budgets;
»  To allocate resources to enhance the financial performance of our business;
»  To evaluate the effectiveness of our business strategies; and

= In communications with our Board of Directors concerning our financial performance.
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Our Compensation Committee, Board of Directors and our management may also consider adjusted EBITDA, among
other factors, when determining management’s incentive compensation.

We also present adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net
income per share as supplemental performance measures because we believe that they provide our Board of Directors,
management and investors with additional information to assess our performance. Adjusted revenues provide comparisons from
period to period by excluding the effect of purchase accounting on the fair value of acquired deferred revenue. Adjusted
EBITDA provides comparisons from period to period by excluding potential differences caused by variations in the age and
book depreciation of fixed assets affecting relative depreciation expense and amortization of internally developed software,
amortization of acquired intangible assets, income tax provision {benefit), non-income tax expense, restructuring charges and
transaction costs, accretion on contingent consideration and purchase liability, severance,litigation related expense, pre-tax loss
attributable to non-controlling interest and changes in interest expense and interest income that are influenced by capital
structure decisions and capital market conditions. Our management also believes it is useful to exclude non-cash stock-based
compensation expense from adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income because non - cash equity grants made at a certain price
and point in time do not necessarily reflect how our business is performing at any particular time.

We believe adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income
per share are useful to investors in evaluating our operating performance because securities analysts use adjusted revenues,
adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share as supplemental measures to
evaluate the overall performance of companies, and we anticipate that our investor and analyst presentations will include
adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share.

Adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share
are not measurements of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to revenues, net
income, operating income or any other performance measures derived in accordance with GAAP, or as an alternative to cash
flows from operating activities as a measure of our profitability or liquidity.

We understand that, although adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and
adjusted net income per share are frequently used by securities analysts and others in their evaluation of companies, these
measures have limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation, or as a substitute for an analysis
of our results as reported under GAAP. In particular you should consider:

*  Adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share
do not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

*  Adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA. adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share
do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

= Adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share
do not reflect non-cash components of employee compensation:

< Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized often will
have to be replaced in the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such
replacements;

*  Due to either net losses before income tax expense or the use of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards,
we paid net cash of $8,119, $5,531, and $3,261 in the vears ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
In the event that we begin (o generate taxable income and our existing net operating loss carryforwards for federal
and state income taxes have been fully utilized or have expired, income tax payments will be higher; and

«  Other companies in our industry may calculate adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues, adjusted EBITDA,
adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as a
comparative measure.

Management compensates for the inherent limitations associated with using adjusted revenues, adjusted net revenues,
adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income per share through disclosure of such limitations, presentation
of our financial statements in accordance with GAAP and reconciliation of adjusted revenues and adjusted net revenues to
revenues, the most directly comparable GAAP measure and adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted net income
per share to net income and net income per share, the most directly comparable GA AP measure. Further, our management also
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reviews GAAP measures and evaluates individual measures that are not included in some or all of our non-U.S. GAAP

{inancial measures, such as our level of capital expenditures and interest income, among other measures.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of total revenues to adjusted revenues and adjusted net revenues based

on our historical results:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
{in thoosands)
Tl VMRS ... v eet e re e st eme sk s s e sme s e semmsms et e e sme s em smseens $§ 900,127 § 812363 $ 683,679
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment .............oceveeivireeveiieceiiere e ee s 9,271 118 130
AJUSIEA TEVENUES «.everereerecerectertrererersesseresmerassnsasserenestsbesarssssssssesratsnssassarasses 909,398 812,481 683,809
Less: Asset-based COSt Of FEVEMUES .....vcove e re v e s es e e e vne s (243.913) (232,145) {194,894)
AJUSLE NEE TEVETIUES ..evoevevrrservecrrcecaecscncrscmcrnscreceerneraseereseneressmsrerensrensnssrnsasnen $ 665485 % 580336 $§ 488915

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of net income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA based on our historical results:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(in thousands}
NEL INCOME (LSS} erivrerreriiesinseereninenesesessesssssnssnssessasssessssassarsessessessesaestesessessesesss $  (17,202) § 4,010 $ (3,280)
Add (deduct):
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment ..........coeeieeicecencereeeeeecee e 9,271 118 130
T AT Tete o o O T PO (3.347) (2,363) (201)
INTEIEST EXPEIISE ouvimeeerierimearcsieeems et seeransestems s s e sesns e st eat et s massems e mrenn 32,520 25,203 16,347
Accretion on conlingent consideration and purchase Hability .....ocoeovcvvaceanee 1,772 222 512
Income tax provision (Benefit) ..o oo e er e srrensareesees (30,893) (13,172) 1,591
Depreciation and amMOMZAION ... e 101.271 77.626 62,820
Non-cash COMPEnsSation EXPENSE......ccvervverierrerssiserseeesseserserssssssnsssmssmssmsses 60,444 40,245 31,331
Restructuring charges and transaction COSES ... iiriiarenirncrecri e e e 26,558 15.580 13,666
BV EIAIICE . veretiecravrernesrsteeiest i bresssmaetastbnros st snetastaosas tastassastossainbiesssnerssanssnonnes 15,367 8,318 2,316
Fair market value adjustment on contingent consideration liability ............... {8,126} — —
Litigation related eXPense.......o.coivvvveievieniernsisernerssisiariesiariarsassassassesns sessmssmsees 2,879 — 1,033
FOT@IZIN CUITEIICY 1etiiee et s et ec s e e s emee e e e e st a s sae e esassasarsemssansnsans (72) (589) 494
Non-income tax expense adjuStMEnt........ccoveeeieereearcreeessmees s srsesens s seneseeeees 374 (590) 346
Loss allocation from equity method investment ..........oovvveiiieciecn e 2,361 1,146 1,469
Loss attributable to non-controlling interest... ..o v vcrimsinsienie i niessessesreeneens 110 1,791 316
Adjusted EBITDA ...ttt ettt sttt $ 193,287 § 157,545 % 128,890
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of net income (loss) to adjusted net income and adjusted net income per

diluted share based on our historical results:

Net ICOME (JOSS) .evriicrinerinr s e e s e s
Income tax provision (benefit) " . .. ..ooo oo
Loss before income tax provision (benefit)..........cocoeeeoer e
Add (deduct):
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment ...........ccoceveceerecnrceensscnrsresnnsnessnenns
Accretion on contingent consideration and purchase liability ........ccccooceeeeen.
Non-cash iNterest EXPENSE .....ocoveeiemcrerermeereeseiemresse e s snasss e ssasasrasanse
Non-cash compensation EXPeNSe ... .. ..o e
Restructuring charges and transaction COSES ._.....ovveoieeeee e e v
RT3 o 1 T P U

Amortization of acquired intangibles and fair value adjustment to property
and eqUIPIIENE, TIE. ..o ececeseteree st es et s st semsneem et et ems e e sne oo

Fair market value adjustment on contingent consideration liability ...............
Litigation related eXpense.......ccivevrvnvnrisrssrsreesrossssssssinsiesesresssssesassasarsarseres oo
FOTEIEN CLUTENCY - cutiutee e et s e e e e et
Non-income tax expense adjuStNENL......oerieicrinesrseronesseresesnin s srassessaes
Loss allocation from equity method investment ........ccocvieiieneieieniisecenena.
Loss attributable to non—controlling iNterest............uveeeeemceeeesescs e e seneereeens
Adjusted net income before income tax effect.........ccovnrceicnccnncnnree
Income tax effect
Adjusted NEt INCOME ...t e et e e e e

Basic number of weighted-average shares outstanding .......cecveveevvecvevrveecesnnnen,
Effect of dilutive shares:
Options to purchase common StOCK.....c.coov i
Unvested restricted StoCk UNILS ......covceeieiminecerieien e ceesseeses e e e s
CONVETLIDIE NOTES ..ottt te ettt et et e e e en s e s e ete s reers e srans

Diluted number of weighted-average shares outstanding ........c.coceveeeecrincennenn.
Adjusted net income per share - diluted.........cocoiieiiiei s

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

(17,202) $ 4010 $ (3,280
(30,893) (13.172) 1,591
(48,095) (9,162} (1,689)
9,271 118 130
1,772 222 512
18,743 13,905 8,994
60,444 40,245 31,331
26,558 15,580 13,666
15,367 8,318 2,316
70,677 53,356 42,127
(8.126) — —
2,879 — 1,033
{(72) (589) 494
374 (590) 346
2.361 1.146 1,469
110 1,791 316
152,263 124,840 101,045
(38,827) (33,705) (40,418)
113.436 $ 91,135 % 60,627
50,937,919 45,268,002 43,732,148
1,015,164 1,304,493 1,649,225
691,740 811,590 770,428
33,388 — —
52,678,211 47,384,085 46,151,801
215 % 192 % 1.31

{1) For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the effective tax rate computed in accordance with GAAP equaled

64.2%, 143.8% and (94.2)%, respectively.

(2) Estimated normalized effective tax rates of 23.5%, 27.0% and 40.0%, respectively, have been used to compute adjusted net

income for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Note on Income Taxes: As of December 31, 2019, we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $265,000
and $208.000 for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively, available to reduce future income subject to income taxes,
As a tesult, the amount of actual cash taxes we pay for federal, state and foreign income taxes differs significantly from the
effective income tax rate computed in accordance with GAAP, and from the normalized rate shown above.
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The following tables set forth a reconciliation of revenues to adjusted revenues and income (loss) from operations to
adjusted EBITDA based on our historical results for each segment for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Envestnet Envestuet Data

Wealth Solutions & Analytics Nonsegment Total
(in thousands)

REVENUES .....ovecrereririreerimresssesivasriesssnsesserassostossonssnssnsosasss $ 709,458 § 190,669 % — 3 900,127

Deferred revenue fair value adjustment.............ccovevee..e 9,271 — — 9,271
Adjusted FeVENUES ....ccce e e 718,729 190,669 — 905,398

Less: Asset-based cost of revenues.......c.vvevievieeeeennn (243,913) — — (243913)
Adjusted Net TeVENUES ..ot $ 474816 § 190,669 $ — % 665,485
Income (loss) from Operations........coucecmeeeeresecsnnssnsensnns $ 67,713 3 (25,262) § (58,524) § (16,073)
Add (deduct):.. ..o

Deferred revenue fair value adjustment............cvveereneee 9,271 — — 9,271

Accretion on contingent consideration and purchase

HADTILY ©oeieeeee e 1,772 — 1,772

Depreciation and Bmortization..........ccereecversrsserrevnrenes 65,746 35,525 — 101,271

Non-cash compensation eXPense .......voveeeeereevercrnenens 33,968 14,963 11,513 60,444

Restructuring charges and transaction costs .................. 2,491 635 22,633 25,759

SEVEIANCE .ottt sas bbbt a s i s 6,315 7,212 1,840 15,367

Fair market value adjustment on contingent

consideration liability.........ccverevrerserscrseresserssrseinrsererees — — (8,126) (8,126)

Litigation related eXpense ....cc.ocoveevveevieecniemseecnrcienciens — 2,879 — 2,879

OMhEr ... esses s ena s 239 — — 239

Non-income tax expense adjustment ............cccveeueenene. 500 (126) — 374

Loss attributable to non-controlling interest .................. 110 — — 110
Adjusted EBITDA .....coovirece e sne s e k) 188,125 3 35,826 % (30,664) % 193,287
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Year Ended December 31, 2018

Envestnet Envestnet Dais
Wealth Solutiens & Analytics Nonsegment Total
(in thousands)

REVENUES ..uvereeeescnssresscasssesscssastentontassessesaessonseassssastenses 5 632,605 $ 179,758 §$ — 3 812,363

Deferred revenue fair value adjustment...............oeoneoe. 110 8 — 118
Adjusted FEVENUES ........c.coceereeeer et see e 632,715 179,766 — 812,481

Less: Asset-based cost of revenues ... ..o veee e (232,145) — : (232,145)
Adjusted Net revenUES .....ccceeieenmiennn et e s 3 400,570 § 179,766 $ — % 580,336
Income (loss) from Operations...........cocoveeererierererersennes $ 75,491 % (10,013) § (51,313) § 14,165
- [« SR

Deferred revenue fair value adjustment.............cccceeene 110 3 — 118

Accretion on contingent consideration and purchase

THADIILY ovvvveeeerereersoseersasssenssssssesreseesenesee e sseeseeseseseee 222 . — 222

Depreciation and amortization .............ccoeeeererensenerenas 45,139 32,487 — 77,626

Non-cash compensation EXPENSe ......cccoeviervrererrisernrees 19,342 11.552 9.351 40,245

Restructuring charges and transaction costs ..........o....... 3,143 1,735 10,702 15,580

BEVETAIICE .nooooeeeeeeeeeeesveeaeeerenaee et v iasreseastensnsenresrnsaesanenen 7,810 480 28 8,318

OHNET ettt e es e essenesrensenansanen 66 4 s 70

Non-income tax expense adjustment ...........cccovveieennne {1,177) 587 — {590}

Loss attributable to non-controlling interest.........o.eun... 1,791 — — 1,791
Adjusted EBITDA ... b 151,937 % 36830 % (31,232} % 157,545

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Wealth Solwtions & Analyiies”  MNomsegment Total
{in thousands)
REVENUES oo et teter s sr e s s s enasrer e b 527505 § 155,774 § — 3 683,679
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment....................... 38 92 — 130
Adjusted TEVENUES .....eceirere i e 527,943 155,866 — 683,809
Less: Asset-based cost of revenues.........oovcvecvvcecnecennn.n. (154,894) — — (194,894)
Adjusted net revenues ..o reesimrecserresneressssseresensseesneeees b 333,049 % 155,866 § — 3 488,915
Income (loss) from operations..........oeecemieninicessennes. 3 75449 $ (19,456) § (39,573) § 16,420
Add (deduct) .t —
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment......................... 38 92 — 130
Accretion on contingent consideration and purchase
HABIIITY coevrvee et et s12 — 512
Depreciation and amortization..........cceveveceneereneseecenne 26,223 36,597 — 62,820
Non-cash compensation @XPense ........oovvvevreverierenrienns 15.191 10,830 5,260 31,331
Restructuring charges and transaction costs .................. 366 — 13,300 13,666
SRVETANCE ..o e e re et et s r e r b e n bbb ae sae e a 1,954 3416 16 2,316
Litigation related eXpense .....coveennearmssnssenescssernsns — 1,033 — 1,033
Non-income tax expense adjustment ..........ccooeeeennenes 46 — 346
Loss attributable to non-controlling interest........coevee..s 316 — — 316
Adjusted EBITDA ...t $ 120,395  § 29492 % (20,997) $ 128,850
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2019, we had total cash and cash equivalents of $82,505, compared to $289,345 as of
December 31, 2018. We plan Lo use existing cash as of December 31, 2019, cash generated in the ongoing operations of our
business and amounts under our revolving credit facility to fund our current operations, capital expenditures and possible
acquisitions or other strategic activity, and to meet our debt service obligations. If the cash generated in the ongoing operations
of our business is insufficient to fund these requirements we may be required to borrow under our revolving credit facility or
incur additional debt to fund our ongoing operations or to fund potential acquisitions or other strategic activities. We funded a
portion of the May 1, 2019 PIEtech acquisition and the Decembear 2019 settlement of the Convertible Notes due 2019 through a
combination of cash on hand and through additional borrowings under our revolving credit facility. As a result of these
borrowings, we expect our cash interest payments Lo increase.

Amended Credit Agreement

In 2014, we and certain of our subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement with a group of banks {the “Banks™), for
which Bank of Montreal acted as administrative agent. Since 2014, the credit agreement has been amended several times, the
latest of which occurred in September 2019 (the “Amended Credit Agreement”),

Pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement, the Banks agreed to provide to the Company with a revolving credit
facility of $500,000, of which amount may be increased by $150,000 (the “Revolving Credit Facility™). The Amended Credit
Agreement also includes a $5,000 sub-facility for the issuance of letters of credit.

Proceeds under the Amended Credit Agreement may be used to finance capital expenditures, working capital,
permitted acquisitions and for general corporate purposes.

We pay interest on borrowings made under the Amended Credit Agreement at rates between 1.50% and 3.25% above
LIBOR based on our tota! leverage ratio. Borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement are scheduled to mature on
September 27, 2024,

As of December 31, 2019, there were $260.000 revolving credit amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit
Facility. As of December 31, 2019, our availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was $240,000, subject to covenant
compliance.

See Part 11, ltem 8, “Note 9—Debt” for further information regarding our Amended Credit Agreement.
Convertible Notes

In May 2018, we issued $345,000 of convertible notes that mature on June 1, 2023 (the “Cenvertible Notes due
20237). The Convertible Notes due 2023 bear interest at a rate of 1.75% per annum payable semianmually in arrears on June 1
and December 1 of each year. These Convertible Notes due 2023 are general unsecured senior obligations and are subordinated
in right of payment to our obligations under our Amended Credit Agreement. The Convertible Notes due 2023 are structurally
subordinated to the indebtedness and other liabilities of any of our subsidiaries, other than our wholly owned subsidiary,
Envestnet Asset Management, Inc. (*EAM™), which has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the notes on an unsecured basis.
The Convertible Notes due 2023 rank equally in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness.

See Part 11, Item 8, “Note 9—Debt™ for further information regarding our Convertible Notes due 2023,
Issuance and sale of Common Shares to BlackRock

In December 2018, we issued and sold to BlackRock, Inc. {*BlackRock™) approximately 2,356,000 common shares at
a purchase price of $52.13 per share, and warrants to purchase approximately 470,000 common shares at an exercise price of
$65.16 per share, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. The warrants are exercisable at BlackRock’s option for four
years from the date of issuance. The warrants may be exercisable through cash exercise or net issue exercise with cash
settlement at our sole discretion.
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Cash Flows

The following table presents information regarding our cash flows and cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash for
the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018
{in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating CtivIIES .....cvcoieriiieiiiiices ettt i et ece s s $ 108,726 § 117,385
Net cash used in INVESHNE 2CIVILIES .. oo errreeieeere et c et et rm e et em et e ne e e e (375,708) (241,679)
Net cash provided by financing 8CtiVItIEs. ... irercrrererrc s snsseresenermssrsssersasesssnrsnsenssess 60,465 352,294
Effect of exchange rate on changes on cash .. et eaeearertareAeaRerereereertirtrrerttat et et et et et et pr e e (399) (592)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equlvalents and resmctcd cash .................................................... (206,916) 227408
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of Period........c.ccov e 82,755 289,671

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $108,726 compared to net cash
provided by operating activities of $117,385 for the same period in 2018. After adjusting for non-cash items within net income
(loss}, the decrease was primarily due to the timing of payments and collections within operating assets and liabilities of
$9,629.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $375,708 compared 1o net cash used in
investing activities of $241,679 for the same periad in 2018. The change was primarily the result of increases in cash
disbursements for business acquisitions of $126,298 and an increase in the capitalization of intemnally developed software costs
of $10,028.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $60,465 compared to net cash
provided by operating activities of $352,294 for the same period in 2018. In 2018, we received $345,000 proceeds from the
issuance of convertible notes and $122,704 of proceeds from the issuance of common stock and warrants to Blackrock. We also
paid $184.751 towards convertible notes that matured on December 15, 2019. These decreases in financing cash flows from
2018 to 2019 were partially offset by an increase in net borrowing activity on our Revolving Credit Facility of $341,168.

Backlog

We sell subscriptions to our solutions through contracts that are generally one to three years in length, although terms
can extend to as long as five years. Our subscription agreements with our customers generally contain scheduled minimum
subscription fees, and usage-based fees which depend on the extent their customers or end users use our platform. We consider
the unpaid contractual minimum payments under our subscription agreements to be our backlog. Due to the inherent volatility
of backlog measured using contractual minimums, and the fact that contractual minimums are becoming increasingly less
important to our business, we do not utilize backlog as a key management metric internally and we do not believe that it is a
meaningful measurement of our future revenues.

We expect that the amount of backlog relative to the total value of our subscription agreements will change from year
to year for several reasons, including the timing of contract renewals, the proportion of total subscription revenue represented
by contractual minimum payments and the average non-cancellable terms of our subscription agreements. The change in
backlog that results from these events may not be an indicator of the likelihood of renewal or expected future revenues.

We also expect that as our customer base continues lo mature and customer deployments scale usage, renewals over

time will increasingly have fewer contractual minimum fees because such fees are intended to decrease the timing risk
associated with initial deployment commitments.
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In addition, because revenue for any period is a function of revenue recognized from deferred revenue under contracts
in exislence at the beginning of the period, as well as contracts that are renewed and new customer contracts that are entered
into during the period, backlog at the beginning of any period is not necessarily indicative of future performance.

Commitments

We enter into unconditional purchase obligations arrangements for certain of our services that we receive in the
normal course of business. The following table sets forth information regarding our contractual obligations as of December 31,
2019:

Paymeants Du¢ by Period

L.ess than 1 More than §
Total year 1-3years 4 -5 years years

(in thousands)

Convertible NOES ......ccvviveierecierenrasssesterssssssessssasssssassans $ 345000 $ — § — § 345,000 § —
Revolving Credit Facility " .........coovvoe oo 309,293 10,400 20,800 278,093 —
Operating 162565 ..ouniveviiveeeien e resssessess s st 132,837 19,390 32,031 21,540 59,876
Purchase obligations....ccovereeueeecvirereeresrenessrssvesseresrenmeses 39,481 15,582 22,063 1.836 —
Convertible Notes coupon interest payments. .......coenneers 21,133 6,038 12,076 3,019 —
Contingent consideration.............veceerecenie e sesessnne e 10,640 — 10,640 — —
Definite consideration ... . ccieeieeies e iesrersesesessessns e 6,229 2,160 4,069 -— —
Undrawn Revolving Credit Facility fees......cocooceee 2,844 600 1,200 1,044 —
Oher®h .........ooesoeovssmmesssse s sessssansssssssssesss s seesesssssses 11,375 1,375 10,000 — —

L] | $ 878.832 § 55,545 % 112,879 § 650,532 § 59876

(1) AsofDecember 31, 2019, we have $260,000 of borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. The amounts included
within the table assume that repayment of these borrowings does not occur until September 27, 2024, the date on which the
Revolving Credit Facility matures. Included within this line item are estimated annual interest payments based on this
amount of borrowings at an annual rate of 4%.

{2) We lease facilities under non - cancellable operating leases expiring at various dates through 2030,

{3) The Company granted membership interests in certain of the Company's equity method investments to two legacy PlEtech
executives with an estimated grant date fair market value of $8,900. These membership interests will vest on May 1, 2020
and become exercisable on May 1, 2022, with the option to put the membership interests to the Company.

The table above does not reflect the following:

= Amounts estimated for uncertain tax positions as the timing and likelihood of such payments cannot be
reasonably estimated.

= Voluntary employer matching contributions to our defined contribution benefit plans since the amount cannot be
reasonably estimated. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we made voluntary employer
matching contributions of $6.044, $4,778 and $4,038, respectively.

We include various types of indemnification and guarantee clauses in certain arrangements. These indemnifications
and guarantees may include. but are not limited to, infringement claims related to intellectual property, direct or consequential
damages and guarantees to centain service providers and service level requirements with certain customers. The type and
amount of any potential indemnification or guarantee varies substantially based on the nature of each arrangement. We have
experienced no previous claims and cannot determine the maximum amount of potential future payments, if any, related to
these indemnification and guarantee provisions. We believe that it is unlikely that we will have to make material payments
under these arrangements and therefore we have not recorded a contingent liability in the consolidated balance sheets.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements within the meaning of Item 303{a)}4) of SEC Regulation S-K.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP™). The accounting policies described below require management to apply significant judgment in
connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. In particular, judgment is applied to determine the
appropriate assumptions to be used in calculating estimates that affect certain reported amounts in our consolidated financial
statements. These estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to
be reasonable under the circumstances. If different estimates or assumptions were used, our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows could have been matenially different than those reflected in our consolidated financial statements. For
additional information regarding our cntical accounting policies, see Part 11, item 8, “Note 2—Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies™.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are detived from asset-based and subscription-based services and professional services and other sources.
Revenues are recognized when control of these services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services. All revenue recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations is considered to be revenue from contracts with customers. Sales and usage-based taxes are excluded
from revenues.

Asset-based recurring revenues— Asset-based recurring revenues primarily consist of fees for providing customers
continuous access to platform services through our uniquely customized platforms. These platform services include investment
manager research, portfolio diagnostics, proposal generation, investrnent model management, rebalancing and trading, portfolic
performance reporting and monitoring solulioas, billing and back office and middle-office operations and administration and
are made available to customers throughout the contractual term from the date the customized platform is launched.

The asset-based fees we earn are generally based upon variable percentages of assets managed or administered on our
platforms. The fee percentage varies based on the level and type of services we provide to our customers. as well as the values
of existing custorner accounts. The values of the customer accounts are affected by inflows or outflows of customer funds and
market fluctuations.

The platform services are substantially the same over each quarter and performed in a similar manner over the contract
period. and are considered stand-ready promises. The platform services that are delivered to the customer over the quarter are
considered distinct, as the customer benefits distinctly from each increment of our services and each quarter is separately
identified in the contract, and are considered to be a single performance obligation under ASC 606.

The pricing generally resets each quarter and the pricing structure is consistent throughout the term of the contract.
The variable fees are generally calculated and billed quarterly in advance based on preceding quarter-end values and the
variable amounts earned from the platform services relate specifically to the benefits transferred to the customer during that
quarter. Accordingly, revenue is allocated to the specific quarter in which services are performed.

The asset-based contracts generally contain one performance obligation and revenue is recognized on a ratable basis
over the quarter beginning on the date that the platform services are made available to the customer as the customer
simultaneously consumes and receives the benefits of the services. All asset-based fees are recognized in the Envesinet Wealth
Solutions segment.

For certain services provided by third parties, we evaluate whether we are the principal (revenues reported on a gross
basis) or agent (revenues reported on a net basis). Generally, we report customer fees including charges for third party service
providers where we have a direct contract with such third party service providers on a gross basis, whereas the amounts billed
to our customers are recorded as revenues. and amounts paid to third party service providers are recorded as cost of revenues.
We are the principal in the transaction because we control the services before they are transferred to our customers. Control is
evidenced by being primarily responsible to our customers and having discretion in establishing pricing.

Subscription-based recurring revenues— Subscription-based recurring revenues primarily consist of fees for providing
customers continuous access to our platform for wealth management and financial wellness. The subscription-based fees
generally include fixed fees and or usage-based fees.

Generally. the subscription services are substantially the same over each quarter and performed in a similar manner
over the contract period, and are considered stand-ready promises. Quarterly subscription services are considered distinct as the
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customer can benefit from each increment of services on its own and each quarter is separately identified in the contract, and
services are considered to be a single performance obligation under the ASC 606.

The usage-based pricing generally resets each quarter and the pricing structure is generally consistent throughout the
term of the contract. The fixed fees are generally calculated and billed quarterly in advance. The usage-based fees are generally
calculated and are billed either monthly or quarterly based on the actual usage and relate specifically to the benefits transferred
to the customer during that quarter. Accordingly, revenue is allocated to the specific quarter in which services are performed.

Certain subscription-based coniracts contain multiple performance obligations {i.e. platform services performance
obligation and professional services performance obligation). Fixed fees are generally recognized on a ratable basis over the
quarter beginning when the subscription services are made available to the customer, as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits of the subscription services. Usage-based revenue is recognized on a monthly basis as the customer
receives and consumes the benefil as we provide the services. Subscription-based fees are recognized in both the Envestnet
Wealth Solutions and Envestnet Data & Analytics segments.

Professional services and other revenues— We earn professional services fees by providing contractual customized
services and platform software development as well as initial implementation fees. Professional services contracts generally
have fixed prices, and generally specify the deliverables in the contract. Certain professional services contracts are billed on a
time and materials basis and revenue is recognized over time as the services are performed. For contracts billed on a fixed price
basis, revenue is recognized over time based on the proportion of services performed. Initial implementation fees are fixed and
recognized ratably over the contract term.

Other revenue primarily includes revenue related to the Advisor Summit. Other revenue is recognized when the events
are held. Other revenue is not significant.

The majority of the professional services and other contracts contain one performance obligation. Protessional
services and other revenues are recognized in both the Envestnet Wealth Solutions and Envestnet Data & Analytics segments.

Arrangements with multiple performance obligations— Certain of the our contracts with customers contain multiple
performance obligations such as platform services performance obligation and professional services performance obligation.
For such arrangements, we allocate revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price.
Standalone selling prices of services are estimated based on observable transactions when these services are sold on a
standalone basis or based on expected cost plus margin.

Contract Balances— We record contract liabilities (deferred revenue) when cash payments are received in advance of
our performance. The term between invoicing date and when payment is due is generally not significant. For the majority of
our arrangements, we require advance quarterly payments before services are delivered to the customer.

Deferred Revenue— Deferred revenue primarily consists of implementation fees, professional services and
subscription fee payments received in advance from customers.

Deferred sales incentive compensation—Sales incentive compensation earned by our sales force is considered an
incremental and recoverable cost to acquire a contract with a customer. Sales incentive compensation for initial contracts is
deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of benefit, which we have determined to be five years. We
determined the pericd of benefit by taking into consideration our customer contracts, life of the technology and other factors.
Sales incentive compensation for renewal contracts are deferred and amortized on a siraight-line basis over the related
contractual renewal period. Deferred sales incentive compensation is included in other non-current assets in the consolidated
balance sheets and amortization expense is included in compensation and benefits expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Management has applied the practical expedient to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an
expense when incurred if the amortization period would have been one vear or less. These costs are included in compensation
and benefits expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Purchase accounting

Assigning fair market values to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of an acquisition requires
knowledge of current market values, and the values of assets in use, and often requires the application of judgment regarding
estimates and assumptions. While the ultimate responsibility resides with management, for material acquisitions, we retain the
services of certified valuation specialists to assist with assigning estimated values to certain acquired assets and assumed
liabilities, including intangible assets and contingent consideration.

Acquired intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are valued using a discounted cash flow methodology based on future
cash flows specific to the type of intangible asset purchased. This methodology incorporates various estimates and assumptions,
the most significant being projected revenue growth rates, margins and forecasted cash flows based on the discount rate and
terminal growth rate. Management projects revenue growth rates, margins and cash flows based on the historical operating
results of the acquired entity adjusted for synergies anticipated to be achieved through integration, expected future
performance, operational strategies and the general macroeconomic environment. We review finite -lived intangible assets for
triggering events such as significant changes in operations, customers or future revenue that might indicate the need to impair
the assets acquired or change the useful lives of the assets acquired. There was no impairment recognized on intangible assets
in 2019, 2018 or 2017.

Assumed liabilities are valued based on estimates of anticipated expenditures to be incurred to satisfy the assumed
obligations, including contractual liabilities assumed, which require the exercise of professional judgment.

Assumed contracts may have favorable or unfavorable terms that must be valued as of the acquisition date. Such
valuation is subject to management judgment regarding the evaluation and inlerpretation of contract temns in relation to other
economic circumstances, such as the market rates for office space leases.

If we assume a performance obligation to customers as of the acquisition date, a deferred revenue obligation is
recognized. Judgment is required to evaluate whether a future performance obligation exists and to assign a value to the
performance obligation.

Assumed acquired tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions are dependent on assessing the past practices of the
acquisition target based on our review of actual tax filings and information obtained through due diligence procedures.
Evaluation of the validity of tax positions taken by the acquisition target are subject to management judgment.

We determine the fair value of contingent acquisition consideration payable on the acquisition date using a discounted
cash flow approach utilizing an appropriate discount rate. Each reporting period thereafter, we revalue these obligations and
record increases or decreases in their fair value as adjustments to fair market value adjustment on contingent consideration
liability within general and administration expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. Changes in the fair value of
the contingent acquisition consideration liability can result from adjustments to the estimated revenue forecasts included in the
contingent payment calculations. In December 2019. we determined that revenue targets for an acquisition would not be met.
As a result, we reduced the contingent consideration liability plus accrued interest associated with this acquisition by $8,126
and recorded this as a reduction to general and administration expenses,

Reviews for impairment of goodwill and acqiiired intangible assets

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and more often if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. Based
on the relevant GAAP authoritative guidance, we aggregate components of a single operating segment into a reporting unit, if
appropriate. For purposes of performing the impairment tests, we identify reporting units in accordance with GAAP. The
identification of reporting units and consideration of aggregation criteria requires management judgment.

[f the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is
performed. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then a quantitative evaluation must be performed. If
the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its fair value, then an impairment loss equal to the difference will be
recorded. [n accordance with applicable accounting guidance, prior to performing the quantitative evaluation, an assessment of
qualitative factors may be performed to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit
exceeds the carrying value. If it is determined that it is unlikely that the carrying value exceeds the fair value, we are not
required to complete the quantitative goodwill impairment evaluation. The selection and assessment of qualitative factors used
to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the carrying value involves
management judgment.
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We completed our annuat goodwill impairment test as of October 31, 2019 for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2019. At that date, we determined it was appropriate to aggregate certain components of the same operating segment into a
single reporting unit. We concluded that we have two reporting units. We also determined that it was more likely than not that
the fair value of the reporting units exceeded the carrving value and concluded that goodwill was not impaired. As a result, we
did not perform the quantitative goodwill impairment evaluation.

As part of the our ongoing monitoring efforts to assess goodwill for possible indications of impairment, we will
continue to consider a wide variety of factors, including but not limited to the global economic environment and its potential
impact on our business. There can be no assurance that our estimates and assumptions regarding forecasted cash flows of
certain reporting units, the current economic environment, or the other inputs used in forecasting the present value of forecasted
cash flows will prove to be accurate projections of future performance.

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances may affect the
recoverability of the net assets. Such reviews include an analysis of current results and take into consideration the undiscounted
value of projected operating cash fiows. No intangible asset impairment charges have been recorded for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Income taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United States, Australia, Canada, India, and the United Kingdom. Significant
judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes.

We use the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases, and for net operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in our
income tax provision in the period that includes the enactment date. We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax
assets 1o an amount that we determine is more-likely-than-not to be realized in the future.

In our ordinary course of business, we may enter into transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. In such cases, we establish reserves for tax-related uncertainties based on our estimates of whether, and the extent to
which, additional taxes will be due. The reserves are established when we believe that certain positions are likely to be
challenged and may not be fully sustained on review by tax authorities. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and
circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit or refinement of an estimate. Although we believe our reserves are reasonable,
no assurance can be given that the final outcome of these matters will not be different from that which is reflected in our
historical income tax provisions and accruals. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the
amounts recorded, such differences will be reflected in our provision for income taxes. The provision for income taxes includes
the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate.

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities, which may result in
proposed assessments, Qur estimate of the potential outcome for any uncertain tax issue is highly judgmental. We believe that
we have adequately provided for the foreseeable outcome related to these matters. However, our future results may include
favorable or unfavorable adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities in the period the assessments are made or resolved, audits
are closed or when statutes of limitations on potential assessments expire. Additionally, the jurisdictions in which our eamnings
or deductions are realized may differ from our current estimates. As a result, our effective tax rate may fluctuate significantly
on a quarterly basis.

Significant judgment is also required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. In
assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all available evidence. including past operating results, estimates of
future taxable income and the feasibility of tax planning strategies. In the event that we change our determination as to the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be realized, we will adjust our valuation allowance with a corresponding impact to the
provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made.

Our effective tax rates differ from the statutory rates primarily due (o the effect of state taxes, excess tax benefit

related to stock-based compensation, the generation of R&D tax credits. unrecognized tax benefits, prior period true-ups and
changes in valuation allowances. Our provision for income taxes varies based on, among other things. changes in the valuation
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of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, the tax effects of non-cash stock-based compensation or changes in applicable tax
laws, regulations and accounting principles or interpretations thereof.

We are subject to examination of our income tax returns by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and other tax
authorities. We assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our
provision for income taxes. There can be no assurance that the outcomes from these examinations will not have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our Indian subsidiaries are currently under examination by the India Tax Authority for the fiscal years ended March
31,2019, 2018, 2017, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010, and 2008, Based on the outcome of examinations of our subsidiary or the
result of the expiration of statutes of limitations it is reasonably possible that the related unrecognized tax benefits could change
from those recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. It is possible that one or more of these audits may be finalized within
the next twelve months.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Part 11, Ttem 8, “Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies™ for a detailed description of Recent
Accounting Pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market risk

Our exposure to market risk is directly related to asset-based recurring revenues eamned based upon a contractual
percentage of AUM or AUA. In the years ended December 31, 2019. 2018 and 2017, 54%, 59% and 60% of our revenues,
respectively, were derived from revenues based on the market value of AUM or AUA. We expect this percentage to vary over
time. A decrease in the aggregate value of AUM or AUA may cause our revenue to decline and our net income (loss) to
decrease.

Foreign currency risk

A portion of our revenues are billed in various foreign currencies. We are directly exposed to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates through the translation of these revenues into U.S. dollars. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we
estimate that a hypothetical 10% change in the value of various currencies to the U.S. dollar would result in a corresponding
increase or decrease of approximately $1,890 to pre-tax eamings.

The expenses of our Indian subsidiaries, which primarily consist of expenditures related to compensation and benefits,
are paid using the Indian Rupee. We are directly exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates through the translation
of these monthly expenditures into U.S. dollars. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we estimate that a hypothetical 10%
increase in the value of the Indian Rupee to the U.S. dollar would result in a decrease of approximately $5,541 to pre-tax
earnings and a hypothetical 10% decrease in the value of the Indian Rupee to the U.S. dollar would result in an increase of
approximately $4,534 to pre-tax earnings.

Interest rate risk

We are subject to market risk from changes in interest rates. We have a revolving credit facility that bears interest at
LIBOR plus an applicable margin between 1.50% and 3.25%. As the LIBOR rates fluctuate, so too will the interest expense on
amounts borrowed under the Amended Credit Agreement. Interest charged on the revolving credit facility during 2019 was
incurred at an average rate of 4.14%. As of December 31, 2019, there were $260,000 of revolving credit amounts outstanding
under the Amended Credit Agreement. We incurred interest expense of $4,860 for the year ended December 31, 2019 related to
the Amended Credit Agreement. A sensitivity analysis performed on the interest expense indicated that a hypothetical 0.25%

increase or decrease in our interest rate would increase or decrease interest expense by approximately 3397 on an annual basis.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Envestnet, Inc.:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Conitrol Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Envestnet, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in fnternal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Ln our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly. in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2019 based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (201 3) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

On April 1, 2019, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of the PortfolioCenter business and on
May 1, 2019 the Company acquired PlEtech, Inc., (collectively the “Acquired Companies”), and management excluded from
its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, the
Acquired Companies’ internal contro] over financial reporting associated with total assets of $605,787 thousand and total
revenues of $37,020 thousand included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2019. Qur audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of the
internal control over the financial reporting of the Acquired Companies.

Change in Accounting Principles

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for
revenue transactions with customers as of January 1, 2018 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as amended.

Also as discussed in Note 2 1o the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for
leases as of January 1, 2019 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases, as amended.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s intemal control over financial
reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S,
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective intermal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis. evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
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financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasenable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a malerial effect on the financial stalements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate,

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and {2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate
opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of revenue recognition

As discussed in Notes 2 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has recorded $900,127 thousand
of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019. Revenues are derived from asset-based services, subscription or
licensing-based services, and professional services and other sources. The Company recognizes revenues when control
of the services is transferred to customers. While revenues consist of a large number of similar, individually low value
transactions, there are a number of different revenue streams with underlying services, sold with varying pricing
structures. The Company’s revenue recognition process includes a combination of automated and manual processes
which rely on several distinct information technology (IT) systems and the IT framework underpinning revenue
recognition is complex.

We identified the evaluation of revenue recognition as a critical audit matter due to the complexity and number of IT
systems and the specialized skills needed to test the IT elements of the revenue recognition process. Subjective and
complex auditor judgment was required to assess the sufficiency of audit procedures performed and the nature and
extent of audit evidence obtained.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following. We tested certain
internal controls over the Company’s general information technology and application controls related to the I'T
systems used within the Company’s revenue recognition process, including the automated elements of the flow of
transactions. We also tested certain manual controls over the underlying transaction data processed by the IT systems.
We involved IT professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in testing the various systems
interacting within the Company’s revenue recognition process. We applied judgment to assess the scope and level of
procedures performed over the various IT systems based on the nature of the information processed by the systems.
For one of the revenue streams, we developed an expectation of revenues based on payment receipts and compared it
to the Company’s recorded amount. This included testing, on a sample basis, the inputs used in deriving our
expectation of revenues, including billed and unbilled fee receivables and deferred revenue. We tested the change in
balances of these accounts by tracing the beginning and ending balances to underlying accounting records. For the
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billed and unbilled fee receivables sample selections, we tested the ending balances by agreeing them to third-party
confirmations. For the deferred revenue sample selections, we recalculated the ending balances by inspecting contract
terms and evidence of delivery. We tested a sample of prices and quantities by agreeing them to contract terms and the
IT system, respectively. For some of the other revenue streams, we tested the revenue inputs by selecting a sample and
agreeing it to third-party revenue confirmations. evidence of delivery, contractual terms, and/or usage-based
information produced by the 1T systems.

Assessment of acquisition-date fair value of customer lists

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on May 1, 2019, the Company acquired PIEtech, Inc.
in a business combination. As a result of the transaction, the Company acquired intangible assets associated with the
generation of future income from PIEtech Inc.’s existing customers. The acquisition-date fair value for the customer
lists of $222,000 thousand was estimated using an excess eamings method, and represented approximately 12% of the
Company’s total assets as of December 31, 2019,

We identified the assessment of acquisition-date fair value of the customer lists acquired in the PIEtech, [nc. business
combination as a critical audit matter. A high degree of subjectivity was involved in assessing forecasted revenue
growth rates and the discount rate used in the methodology to estimate fair values. There was limited observable
market information for the forecasted revenue growth rates and the discount rate, and the calculated fair values were
sensitive to reasonably possible changes to these assumplions.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following, We tested certain
internal controls over the Company’s acquisition-date valuation process, including controls related to the valuation
methodelogy used, and the development of the forecasted revenue growth rates and the estimated discount rate. We
performed sensitivity analyses to assess the impact of changes in the assumptions listed above on the acquisition-date
fair value. We evaluated the Company’s forecasted revenue growth rates by comparing forecasted growth assumptions
to those of the Company’s historical acquisitions, and market data. In addition, we involved valuation professionals
with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in:

= assessing the selection of the valuation methodology,

= assessing the Company’s estimated discount rate by comparing it against a discount rate that was independently
developed using publicly available market data along with data from comparable companies, and

» developing an estimate for the acquisition-date fair value of the customer lists using the Company’s cash flow
forecasts and an independently developed discount rate, and comparing the result to the Company’s fair value
estimate.

/s KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
Chicago, lllinois

February 28, 2020
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Envestoet. Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share information)

December 31,

2019 2018
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ...t e reeresnereerenreatanenns $ 82,505 % 289,345
Fees receivabli. MEL ..ottt et tesbe bt rearen 67,815 68.004
Prepaid expenses and Other CUITENT 8588 ...oei. v iurieeeeeeeceee ettt bbb e aas semsanans 32,183 23,557
Total current assets 182,503 380,906
Property And @QUIDTIIENL, M@l ettt ae ettt e e 53,756 44,991
Internally developed SOMIWADE, MEL..... .o ittt as bt s vem b sae e eae b b enesbemnsnesnens 60,263 38,209
INLANEIDIE BSSELS, MET .. .o i e e e 505,589 305,241
GOOAWILL ...ttt st s s s e s s e e e e bbb et e e e et ettt ettt ebebebebeneneae e e s s s s ana 879,850 519,102
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net ... 82.796
Other non-current assets ................. 37,127 25,298
TOMR] ASSRTS. ..ttt et e E e e et s s e b s R s e e e e et et e e en it s $ 1,801,884 $ 1313747
Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities ... $ 137944 8§ 133,298
Accounts payable ... 17,277 19,567
Operating lease liabilities ............ 13,816 —
Convertible Notes due 2019....... — 165,711
CONLINEENL CONSIARTALION ..ot bttt a e — 732
DIEFBITEA TEVEMUE ..o ceeetecenen e e e eas s s e e e e e eesetess e es e s e st ae e e e e e et e eE e eEeseses st aaebasarenenrreririn 34,753 231,988
TO1Al CUITENE LADIITIES ..o ecceeect st emee e e am v s re e ee s e eaeeee e e e e e eeeeenseaeennnan 203,790 343,296
Convertible Notes due 2023 Lo b 1o e e ettt eeeeeeeeeeeee e e eeenenns 305,513 294,725
Revolving credit facility ... 260,000 —
Contingent consideration 9,045 —
Deferted feVENUS ...coo.vvcececceecce e 5,754 6,910
Non-current operating lease liabilities 88,365 —
Deferred rent and lease incentive ............ — 17,569
Deferred tax Habilities, MEt ..o e e e e eas 29,481 640
Other non-current liabiliies. ...covvvirerinnne FreebsteataTae e R R R AT e RS oA R e R R b Ao be et et e e eRnEe e e nEn 32,360 18,005
TORRD LHADTTTHIES oot e et b bbbt e et b bbb bbbt ben et e neeee 934,308 681,145
Commitments and CONTEMZEMCIES ..o et e e e ettt ettt e st e s e e aneeeaeas
Equity:
Stockholders” equity:
Preferred stock, par value $06.003, 50,000,000 shares authorized ... — —
Common stock, par value $0.005, 500,000,000 shares authorized; 66,320,706 and 61 ,238,898 shares
issued as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively; 52,841,706 and 48,121,800
shares outstanding as of December 31. 2019 and December 3 1,2018, respectively ................................. 3 306
Additional PALd=I0 CAPILAL...oneecee et means ettt b et r e r et re b 1,037,141 761,128
ACCUMUIAIED TEEICIE c.vvemreeermr et st e ren e e eas e s sms e e sms e e e se s ras e e nms e e em e bnebans e ssasabs (75,664) (58,882)
Treasury stock at cost, 13.479,000 and 13,117,098 shares as of December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively.. . . . ) - (90,965) (67,858)
Accumulated other comprehenswe loss ..................................................... (1,749) (994)
Total stockholders” @QUILY ... 869,094 633,700
Non—CONIOLNG INTETEST....civir i isececirmserscasass s et s sa e sass (1,518) (1,098)
TIOLAT EQUILY 1.ttt ettt ettt a bbb bR R R R £ £ £ £ st nen s s s s s enee 867.576 632,602

Total liabilities and equity $ 1,801,884 § 1,313,747

See accompanying notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Envestnet, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share information)

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Revenues:
ASSEE-DASEA ... \oceeieece et e st st ee e see e neean $ 484312 § 481,233 % 410,016
Subscription-based. ... e e e 378,813 295,467 245,867
Total TECUMMING FEVEIUES ....vvvvereiervareresrcrrirre st e e ee e e emeameemeameemeeneeeeeeens 863,125 776,700 655.883
Professional services and other FeVERUSS.........c..cooicieceeee e raeaecaies 37,002 35,663 27,796
TOAl FEVENMUES ..ot et eeeee et s be s nsenens 00,127 812,363 683,679
Operating expenses:
COSE OF FEVENUES.....ooeeeeeetereeee et ese e et s eas e e e e e emeemeemeeeene 278,811 263,400 219,037
Compensation and benefits ... 383,554 317.188 264,392
General and adminiSIratioN ........covee e ireee s es e s e e aeereerenseeseesensansnres 152,564 139,984 121,010
Depreciation and amortization ..........ccccoeueeeeeeceeiceeeevevscree s sreessesennes 101,271 77.626 62,820
Total OPErating EXPEISES .......coceievrccreraresrrrares s s srsressssesssrssessrsssons 916,200 798,198 667,259
Income (108S) from OPETALONS ... oo rvr v e esasrs s s seesressasns (16,073) 14,165 16,420
Other income (expense):
o ft T T ) o T T 3,347 2,363 201
INtErest EXPENSE. . .o ccce e e rae e sresre s reerss s sssessss i s e rase b e s s s n b enns (32,520} (25,203) (16,347)
OURET EXPENSE, MEL.erereeiirerieee ettt et et amcesa e e ee (2.849) (487) (1,963)
Total Other EXPense, MEL.....c..ccce e emcrere e s resrsarasvassesaenens (32,022) (23,327) (18,109)
Loss before income tax provision (benefit) .......c.couerniinecinicnieciesccsne e (48,095) (9,162) (1,689)
Income tax provision (Benefit)........ccovvereinininsinieniisiinscnssssssseseesemseeseeseanas (30,893) (13,172) 1,591
NETINCOME (JO55) euruireerreieeterrererreerseresresreeetessessstssssassesstasassessessaeems smeseassnnes {17,202) 4010 (3,280}
Add: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest .......ccococeievicenrnes 420 1,745 —
Net income (loss) attributable to Envestnet, INC......cuvecenieiestennenieirsnsressssenens $ (16,782) % 5755 % (3,280)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Envestnet, Inc.:
BaSICciireieri e ceren e e e et s et a et et s e e besnabanens 3 (0.33) § 0.13 § (0.08)
DHIUEE. ..ot st s 3 (0.33) % 0.12 % (0.08)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
BASIC ..o it ettt et ettt ea e n b r s vassa e e aee e st Renre b ot en pessasneres 50,937,919 45,268,002 43,732,148
DHIULEA.. ..o et srs et se st s s enne s snesas e nsns snnsnasanans 50,937,919 47,384,085 43,732,148

See accompanving notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Envestnet, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Net income (joss) attributable t0 ERVESEt, IG. ...vvvcvervrevrrmermeeeesseereerenn s (16,782) § 5755 % (3.280)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
" Foreign currency translation gains (l0SSes), MEt ............o.cccerserssemreereore (755) (1,618) 1,046
Compreﬁensive income (Ioss} atiributable to Envestnet, Inc. ..cc.coccevvvvvenee. § (17,537) § 4,137 % (2,234)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Envestoet, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) R e e 8 (1T7202) 8 4010 % (3,280)
Adjustments to reconeile net income (loss) to net cash provnded by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization e e e e e e e e e 101,271 71,626 62,820
Deferred rent and lease inCentive AMOLIZALION . ...............cooiioioie et ee et e et et e s teeseases et eeee s ree s — 671 1,027
Provision for doubtful acCoUnis . .. ... . . 2,855 1,618 867
Defermed MCOME LAXES ..ottt iet et mt et s et b emas eos b mbemsemeesshes s e ees e e (39,630) (23,629) (4,597)
Non-cash COMpensation EXPENSE.. .. ... oo e o e e 60,444 443,245 31,331
INOM-CASH IMEETESE BXPEIESE ... ..ot oo et eee e et e e et s1e e e et e e ae b ae e eenee o rear e re 19246 14,534 8,994
Accretion on contingent consideration and purchase liability .o 1,772 222 512
(578) — 357
Loss allocation from equity method investment . . . . . e e 2,361 1.146 1,469
Gain on life iNSUTBNCE PROCRLS . ... ...ttt er e e e (5,000) — —

Fair market value adjusement te contingent consideration hability . ... . (8,126) — —

Payments of contingent consideration...............c.ccccocoeeieec

Changes wn operating assets ard Liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Fees receivable, MO .. . . .o et 1,139 (12,890) (8,121)
Prepaid expenses and other CUrment ASSes. ... (6,440) 1B87) (787)
Other non-current 83sets.. .........ccoocooeveeeee.. (5,234) (3,336) (1,690)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities .. .. ... e (811} 12,939 16,810
ACCOUNTS DAYADLE . ..ottt e v s em et et es et e an s ent st ee e e stn e (2,863) 1,743 (442}
Deferred revenue e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 727 345 1,191
4,795 3028 2,503

108,726 117,385 108,250

Other non-current liabilitics ......

Net cash provided by operating aclivities. .. .. ... .. . ..o

INVESTING ACTIVTTIES:
Purchases of property ard equipmIent ... et et e e (19,847) (20,524) (14,945)
Capitalization of intemally developed software . .. . .. . s (34,096) (24.068) {12,624)
INVESITIENE i1 PrIYALE COMPEATLIES ........oeieeieeeecsemisces et ees s rss e e e ee £ et eeseae st et ettt et e (5,250) (1,200) (1,450)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired . (320,915 (194.617) —
Proceeds from 1ife iNSUrANCE POTCY .....ooooiiie ettt et en et e e 5,000 — —
Other oo P {600) (1,270 —

Net cash used in investing activities. . .. ... ettt eee et eeheee Rie et eeheea e et eeseRs et e Re e et et shemsemee ettt eeees (375,708) (241.619) {29,019)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of Convertible Notes due 2023 . . . . o — 315,000 —
Convertible Notes due 2023 ISSUAMCE COBIS . .. .. i veoeoceiiecrs evaaeeiee e enieeemee ree st ees e see st e ensesne s — (9,982) —
Payment of Convertible Notes due 2069, . . ... . . {184.751)
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving credit SCiliby .. ... .o 345,000 195,000 35,000
Pavments on revolving credit facilsty . L e (83.00(hH (276,168) {62,500)
Revolving credit facility ISSUANCE COSIS .. .. .. v v vt cree e et et er s b st (2,103) — (94)
Payments of contingent consideration L . IS OSSR (171) (2,193) (1.929)
Payments of definite COMSKETAION .. ... v i et et e — — (445)
Payments of purchase consideration habilities . e . — — 1235)
[ssuance of common stock and warrants - private placemcnl, netof‘oﬁ'enng costs.. — 122,704 —
Payment of Term Notes . .. .. ... RO SRR — — (35,862)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ... et e e he e et T e e 10,592 5,305 7.951
Purchase of treasury stock for stock-based 1ax mlhholdmg% . o (23,107) 120,816) (13,974)
Purchase 0F ERS WIS ... et e e et a1 e e n et e e e et ae e e e ere s — (6,560} —
Issuance of resincted stock units.. ... . . e e s 5 4 5

Net cash provided by financing BCUVILES . ..., ... ... oo ettt e et e s 60,465 352,294 (72,083)
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Envestnet, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH (399) (592) 375
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTSAND RESTRICTED CASH (206,916) 227.408 7,523
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, BEGINNING QF PERIOD (See Note 2) 289,671 62,263 54,740
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, END OF PERIOD (Seze Note 2) 3 82,755 % 289671 % 62263

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information - net cash paid during the period for income taxes ... 3 8119 § 5531 % 3261

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information - cash paid during the period for interest. ... .. .. ... 13,530 10,409 7,353

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash operating, investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued in acquisition of business . . . et e e e e 222 484 — —
Contingent consideration issued in acquisition of businesses ... e e 15,780 — —
Transaction costs of 1ssuance of common stock and warrants |ncluded in accrucd expenses and other
liabilities.............. . —_ 4,543 —
Purchase liabilities included in other non-current liabilities . 5,468 — —
Purchase of fixed assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities . . .. .. . 1,832 1,997 1,286
Membership interest liabilities included in other non—current liabilities. ... .......cocooeo oo, 5,920 — —
Common stock issued to settle purchase liability e e e e e s e T2 — —
Leasehold improvements funded by lease incentive 1,816 1,780 2,098
Non-cash debt issuance costs e e e e e e e — — 2,230
Purchase liabilities included in accrued expenses and other liabilities... e e e — — 856

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



Table of Contents
Envesinet, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

1. Organization and Description of Business

Envestnet, Inc. ("Envestnet™) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company ™} provide intelligent systems for wealth
management and financial wellness. Envestnet’s unified technology enhances advisor productivity and strengthens the wealth
management process. Through a combination of platform enhancements, partnerships and acquisitions, Envestnet empowers
enterprises and advisors to more fully understand their clients and deliver better outcomes.

Envestnet is organized around two primary, complementary business segments. Financia! information zbout each
business segment is contained in “Note 19—Segment Information”. The business segments are as follows:

«  Envestnet Wealth Solutions — a leading provider of unified wealth management software and services to empower
financial advisors and institutions.

Envestmet Wealth Solutions serves its clients principally through the following product and service suites:

+  Envestnet | Enterprise provides an end-to-end open architecture wealth management platform, through which
advisors can construct portfolios for clients. It begins with aggregated household data which then leads to a
financial plan, asset allocation, investment strategy, portfolio management, rebalancing and performance
reporting. Advisors have access to over 20,000 investment products. Envestnet | Enterprise also offers data
aggregation and reporting, data analytics and digital advice capabilities to customers.

+  Fnvestnet | Tamarac™ provides leading trading, rebalancing, portfolio accounting, performance reporting and
client relationship management software, principally to high-end registered investment advisers {“RIAs™).

= Envestnet | MonevGuide provides leading goals-based financial planning solutions to the financial services
industry. The highly adaptable software helps financial advisors add significant value for their clients using
best-in-class technology with enhanced integrations to generate financial plans.

«  Envesinet | Retirement Solutions (' ERS’) offers a comprehensive suite of services for advisor-sold retirement
plans. Leveraging integrated technology, ERS addresses the regulatory, data and investment needs of
retirement plans and delivers the information holistically.

«  Envestnet | PMC® or Portfolio Management Consultants (“PMC ™) provides research and consulting services
to assist advisors in creating investment solutions for their clients. These solutions include over 4,500 vetted
third party managed account products, multi-manager portfolios, fund strategist portfoliocs, as well as over
1,000 proprietary products, such as quantitative portfolios and fund stralegist portfolios. PMC also offers
portfolio overlay and tax optimization services.

+  Envestner Data & Analytics — a leading data aggregation and data intelligence platform powering dynamic, cloud-
based innovation for digital financial services, and includes product offerings from Envestnet | Yodlee and
Envestnet | Analytics.

Envestnetl operates four RIAs registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). As of
December 31, 2019, Envestnet filed requests to terminate the registration of its broker-dealer with the SEC and the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, both of which were approved.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company follows accounting standards established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board {*FASB™) to
ensure consistent reporting of financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. References to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP™) in these notes are to the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™.
sometimes referred to as the codification or “ASC™.

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Envestnet and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
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Foreign Currency—Accounts for the Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment that are denominated in a non-U.S. currency
have been re-measured using the U.S. dollar as the functional currency. Certain accounts within the Envestnet Data &
Analytics segment are recorded and measured in foreign currencies. The assets and liabilities for those subsidiaries with a
functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and revenues
and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. Differences arising from these foreign currency translations are recorded
in the consolidated balance sheets as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders' equity. The
Company is also subject to gains and losses from foreign currency denominated transactions and the remeasurement of foreign
currency denominated balance sheet accounts, both of which are included in other expense, net in the consolidated statements
of operations.

Management Estimates—Management has made certain estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with GAAP. Areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to estimating uncollectible
receivables, revenue recognition, valuations and assumptions used for impairment testing of goodwill, intangible and other
long-lived assets, right of use assets, restricted stock and stock options issued, contingent consideration, realization of deferred
tax assets, uncertain tax positions, sales tax liabilities, operating lease liabilities, fair value of the liability portion of the
convertible debt, fair value of warrants issued, commitments and contingencies and assumptions used to allocate purchase
prices in business combinations. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives revenues from asset-based and subscription-based services and professional services and other
sources. Revenues are recognized when control of these services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services. All revenue recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations is considered to be revenue from contracts with customers. Sales and usage-based taxes are excluded
from revenues.

Asset-Based Recurring Revenues—Asset-based recurring revenues primarily consist of fees for providing customers
continuous access to platform services through the Company's uniquely customized platforms. These platform services include
investment manager research, portfolio diagnostics, proposal generation, investment model management, rebalancing and
trading, portfolio performance reporting and monitoring solutions, billing and back office and middte-office operations and
administration and are made available to customers throughout the contractual term from the date the customized platform is
launched.

The asset-based fees the Company eamns are generally based upon variable percentages of assets managed or
administered on our platforms. The fee percentage varies based on the level and tvpe of services the Company provides to its
customers, as well as the values of existing customer accounts. The values of the customer accounts are affected by inflows or
outflows of customer funds and market fluctuations.

The platform services are substantially the same over each quarter and performed in a similar manner over the contract
period, and are considered stand-ready promises. The platform services that are delivered to the customer over the quarter are
considered distinct, as the customer benefits distinctly from each increment of our services and each quarter is separately
identified in the contract, and are considered to be a single performance obligation under ASC 606.

The pricing generally resets each quarter and the pricing structure is consistent throughout the term of the contract.
The variable fees are generally calculated and billed quarterly in advance based on preceding quarter-end values and the
variable amounts earned from the platform services relate specifically to the benefits transferred to the customer during that
quarter. Accordingly, revenue is allocated to the specific quarter in which services are performed.

The asset-based contracts generally contain one performance obligation and revenue is recognized on a ratable basis
over the quarter beginning on the date that the platform services are made available to the customer as the customer
simultaneously consumes and receives the benefits of the services. All asset-based fees are recognized in the Envestnet Wealth
Solutions segment.
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For certain services provided by third parties, the Company evaluates whether it is the principal (revenues reported on
a gross basis) or agent (revenues reported on a net basis). Generally, the Company reports customer fees including charges for
third party service providers where the Company has a direct contract with such third party service providers on a gross basis,
whereas the amounts billed to its customers are recorded as revenues, and amounts paid to third party service providers are
recorded as cost of revenues. The Company is the principal in the transaction because it controls the services before they are
transferred to its customers. Control is evidenced by the Company being primarily responsible to its customers and having
discretion in establishing pricing.

Subscription-Based Recurring Revenues—Subscription-based recurring revenues primarily consist of fees for
providing customers continuous access to the Company s platform for wealth management and financial wellness. The
subscription-based [ees generally include fixed fees and or usage-based fees.

Generally, the subscription services are substantially the same over each quarter and performed in a similar manner
over the contract period, and are considered stand-ready promises. Quarterly subscription services are considered distinct as the
customer can benefit from each increment of services on its own and each quarter is separately identified in the contract, and
services are considered to be a single performance obligation under ASC 606.

The usage-based pricing generally resets each quarter and the pricing structure is generally consistent throughout the
term of the contract. The fixed fees are generally calculated and billed quarterly in advance. The usage-based fees are generally
calculated and are billed either monthly or quarterly based on the actual usage and relate specificaliy to the benefits transferred
to the customer during that quarter. Accordingly, revenue is allocated to the specific quarter in which services are performed.

Certain subscription-based contracts contain multiple performance obligations (i.e. platform services performance
obligation and professional services performance obligation). Fixed fees are generally recognized on a ratable basis over the
quarter beginning when the subscription services are made available to the customer, as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits of the subscription services. Usage-based revenue is recognized on a monthly basis as the customer
receives and consumes the benefit as the Company provides the services. Subseription-based fees are recognized in both the
Envesmet Wealth Solutions and Envestnet Data & Analytics segments.

Professional Services and Other Revenues—The Company earns professional services fees by providing contractual
customized services and platform software development as well as initial implementation fees. Professional services contracts
generally have fixed prices, and generally specify the deliverables in the contract. Certain professional services contracts are
billed on a time and materials basis and revenue is recognized over time as the services are performed. For contracts billed on a
fixed price basis, revenue is recognized over time based on the proportion of services performed. Initial implementation fees are
fixed and recognized ratably over the contract term.

Other revenues primarily includes revenue related to the Advisor Summit. Other revenues are recognized when the
events are held, Other revenues are not significant.

The majority of the professicnal services and other contracts contain one performance obligation. Professional services
and other revenues are recognized in both the Envestnet Wealth Solutions and Envestnel Data & Analytics segments.

Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations—Certain of the Company s contracts with customers contain
multiple performance obligations such as platform services performance obligation and professional services performance
obligation. For such arrangements, the Company allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative
standalone selling price. Standalone selling prices of services are estimated based on observable transactions when these
services are sold on a standalone basis or based on expected cost plus margin.

The Company has applied the practical expedients and exemption and therefore does not disclose the value of
unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected length of one year or less; (ii) contracts for which
the Company recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to invoice for services performed; and (iii) contracts for
which the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligations or to a wholly unsatisfied
promise to transfer a distinct service that forms part of a single performance obligation.

Contract Balances—The Company records contract liabilities (deferred revenue) when cash payments are received in
advance of its performance. The term between invoicing date and when payment is due is generally not significant. For the
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majority of its arrangements, the Company requires advance quarterly payments before the services are delivered to the
customer.

Deferred Revenue—Deferred revenue primarily consists of implementation fees, professional services, and
subscription fee payments received in advance from customers.

Deferred Sales Incentive Compensation—Sales incentive compensation earned by the Company’s sales force is
considered an incremental and recoverable cost to acquire a contract with a customer. Sales incentive compensation for initial
contracts is deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of benefit. The Company determined the period of
benefit by taking into consideration its customer contracts, life of the technology and other factors. Sales incentive
compensation for renewal contracts are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the related contractual renewal
period. Deferred sales incentive compensation is included in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets and
amortization expense is included in compensation and benefits expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company has applied the practical expedient to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an
expense when incurred if the amortization petiod would have been one year or less. These costs are included in compensation
and benefits expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Cost of Revenues—Cosl of revenues primarily includes expenses related to third party investment management and
clearing, custody and brokerage services. Generally, these expenses are calculated based upon a contractual percentage of the
market value of assets held in customer accounts measured as of the end of each quarter and are recognized ratably throughout
the quarter based on the number of days in the quarter.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—The Company evaluates the need for an allowance for doubtful accounts for
potentially uncollectible fees receivable. In establishing the amount of the allowance, if any, customer-specific information is
considered related to delinquent accounts, including historical loss experience and current economic conditions. As of
December 31, 2019, and 2018, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts was $1,093 and 3826, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates fair

value. The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents.

Restricted Cash—The following table reconciles cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash from the consolidated
balance sheets to amounts reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows:

December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Cash and cash equIVAIENLS..........coweecrrirenressimesss e e eres reasssssssssnsees $ 82,505 $§ 289,345 § 60,115
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assels...... 82 158 2,000
Restricted cash included in other non-current 85sets ........oevevvrevereerererens 168 168 148
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash .......o.cooveeieeeceeeneee b 82,755 % 289671 % 62,263

Property and Equipmeni—Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization,
Depreciation of furniture and equipment is computed using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of the
depreciable assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic useful lives or
the remaining lease term, whichever is shorter. Improvements are capitalized, while repairs and maintenance costs are charged
to operations as incurred. Assets are reviewed for recoverability whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable.

Internally Developed Software for Internal Use—Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed
as incurred. Once an application has reached the development stage, intemmal and external costs, if direct and incremental, are
capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalization ceases upon completion of
all substantial testing. The Company also capitalizes costs refated to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable
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the expenditures will result in additional functionality. Maintenance and training costs are expensed as incurred. Internally
developed software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Management evaluates the useful lives of
these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumslances oceur that could impact
the recoverability of these assets. There were no impairments of internally developed software for internal use during the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of
identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment each year using a qualitative or quantitative
process that is performed at least annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate a likely reduction in the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying amount. The Company has concluded that it has two reporting units.

The Company performs the annual impairment analysis on October 31 in order to provide management time to
complete the analysis prior to year-end. Prior to performing the quantitative evaluation, an assessment of qualitative factors
may be performed to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the carrying
value. If it is determined that it is unlikely that the carrying value exceeds the fair value, the Company is not required to
complete the quantitative goodwill impairment evaluation. If it is determined that the carrying value may exceed fair value
when considering qualitative factors, a quanlitative goodwill impairment evaluation is performed. When performing the
quantitative evaluation, if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss equal to the
difference will be recorded. No goodwill impairment charges have been recorded for the years ended December 31,2019, 2018
and 2017.

Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances may affect the recoverability of the net assets. Such reviews include an analysis
of current results and take into consideration the undiscounted value of projected operating cash flows. No intangible asset
impairment charges have been recorded for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,

Leases—On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02 and all subsequent ASUs that modified Topic 842
(“ASC 842”) using the effective date transition method and elected the available package of practical expedients. The Company
has elected to apply the short-term lease exemption to all of its classes of underlying assets.

Adoption of the standard had a material impact on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. but did not have an
impact on the Company's consolidated statements of operations. The most significant impact was the recognition of right-of-use
(“ROU™) assets and lease liabilities for operating leases. Adoption of the standard had no impact to previously reported results.

At inception, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease. Operating leases are included in operating ROU
assets, current operating lease liabilities and non-current operating lease liabilities in the Company's consolidated balance
sheets. The Company does not have material finance leases.

ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent
the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are
recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the remaining lease term. The operating
lease ROU asset also includes prepaid payments and excludes lease incentives. As none of the Company's leases provide an
implicit rate, the Company uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement
date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company's lease terms may include options to extend or terminate
the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components. The Company has elected the practical
expedient to account for non-lease components as part of the lease component for all asset classes. The majority of the
Company's lease agreements are real estate leases.

Income Taxes—The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and net operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
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recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce
deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

The Company follows authoritative guidance related to how uncertain tax positions should be recognized, measured,
disclosed and presented in the consolidated financial statements. This requires the evaluation of tax positions taken or expected
to be taken in the course of preparing the Company’s tax returns to determine whether the tax positions are “more-likely-than-
not” of being sustained “when challenged™ or “when examined” by the applicable tax authority. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from tax positions are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50%
likelihood of being realized upon ultimaie settlement,

Business Combinations—The Company accounts for business combinations under the acquisition method. The cost of
an acquired company is assigned to the tangible and intangible assels acquired and the liabilities assumed on the basis of their
fair values at the date of acquisition. The determination of fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires
management to make estimates and use valuation techniques when market values are not readily available. Any excess of
purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired is allocated to goodwill. Transaction costs
associated with business combinations are expensed as incurred. The Company determines the fair value of contingent
consideration payable on the acquisition date using a discounted cash flow approach utilizing an appropriate discount rate. Each
reporting period thereafter, the Company revalues these obligations and records increases or decreases in their fair value as
adjustments to fair market value adjustment on contingent consideration in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration payable can result from adjustments to the estimated
revenue forecasts included in the contingent consideration calculations.

Stock-Based Compensation—Compensation cost relating to stock-based awards made to employees and directors is
recognized in the consolidated financial statements using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model in the case of non-qualified
stock option awards, and intrinsic value in the case of restricted stock awards. The Company measures the cost of such awards
based on the estimated fair value of the award measured at the grant date and recognizes the expense on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period.

Determining the fair value of stock options requires the Company to make several estimates, including the volatility of
its stock price, the expected life of the option, forfeiture rate, dividend yield and interest rates. The Company estimaies the
expected life of its options using historical internal forfeiture data. The Company estimates stock-price volatility using
historical third-party quotes of Envestnet’s common stock. The Company utilizes a risk-free interest rate, which is based on the
yield of U.S. zero coupon securities with a maturity equal to the expected life of the options. The Company has not and does
not expect to pay dividends on its common shares.

The Company is required to estimate expected forfeitures of stock-based awards at the grant date and recognize
compensation cost only for those awards expected to vest. The forfeiture assumption is ultimately adjusted to the actual
forfeiture rate, Therefore, changes in the forfeiture assumptions may impact the total amount of expense ultimately recognized
over the vesting period. Estimated forfeitures will be reassessed in subsequent periods and may change based on new facts and
circumstances.

Convertible Notes—In 2014, the Company issued $172,500 of 1.75% convertible notes that matured on December 13,
2019. In May 2018, the Company issued $345,000 of 1.75% convertible notes due June 2023. Collectively the “Convertible
Notes™ are accounted for in accordance with ASC 470-20. The Company has determined that the embedded conversion options
in the Convertible Notes are not required to be separately accounted for as a derivative under GAAP. The Company separately
accounts for the liability and equity components of Convertible Notes that can be settled in cash by allocating the proceeds
from issuance between the liability component and the embedded conversion option, or equity component, in accordance with
accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash (including partial cash settlement} upon conversion. The
value of the equity component is calculated by first measuring the fair value of the liability component, using the interest rate of
a similar liability that does not have a conversion feature, as of the issuance date. The difference between the proceeds from the
convertible debt issuance and the amount measured as the liability component is recorded as the equity component with a
corresponding discount recorded on the debt. The Company recognizes the accretion of the resulting discount using the
effective interest method as part of interest expense in its consolidated statements of operations.

Non-controlling Interest—EfTective February 1, 2014, the Company formed ERS with various third parties. ERS offers
advisory and technology enabled services to financial advisors and retirement plans. In exchange for a 64.5% ownership
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interest in ERS, the Company contributed certain assets and has agreed to fund a certain amount of the operating expenses of
ERS. Primarily due to the issuance of units related to the contributions of FinaConnect, Inc. and Castle Rock Innovations, Inc.
and the purchase of additional ERS units acquired from the former owners of Klein Decisions, Inc. the Company’s ownership in
ERS increased to 81.5% as of December 31, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company purchased all
remaining outstanding units for approximately $6,560, which increased the Company’s ownership percentage to 100% as of
December 31, 2018.

The allocation of gains and losses to the members of ERS was based on a hypothetical liquidation book value method
in accordance with the ERS operating agreement. There were no losses for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
reflected as non-controlling interest in the consolidated statements of operations related to ERS.

In March 2018, the Company acquired a 43% fully diluted interest in a private company for cash consideration of
$1.333. In connection with the acquisition, the Company was granted the ability to appoint two members to the private
company's board of directors. The appointment of two board members gives the Company the majority of the board's voting
rights. As a result, the Company uses the consolidation method of accounting for this investment. The private company was
formed to enable financial advisors to provide insurance and income protection products to their clients.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncemenis—In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers,” which amends the existing accounting standards for revenue recognition. This standard was
effective for financial statements issued by public companies for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2017. These changes became effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning January 1, 2018 and have been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases.” which amends the requirements for assets and liabilities
recognized for all leases longer than twelve months. This standard was effective for financial statements issued by public
companies for the annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018. These changes became effective for the
Company's fiscal year beginning January 1. 2019 and have been reflected in these consolidated financial stalements. See “Note
10—Leases™.

In August 2018. the FASB issued ASU 2013-15, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic
350-40}): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That [s a Service
Contract {a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force)”. This update is intended to guide entities in evaluating the
accounting for fees paid by a customer in a cloud computing arrangement by providing guidance for determining when the
arrangement includes a software license. This standard is effective for financial statements issued by public companies for
annual and interim periods beginning after December 15. 2019. Early adoption of the standard is permitted. The Company early
adopted this standard beginning January 1, 2019, noting that this standard was applied prospectively. Adoption of this standard
did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Nor Yet Adopted Accounting Pronouncements—In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial [nstruments-
Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments {Topic 326)”. This update significantly changes the way
that entities will be required to measure credit losses. This standard requires that entities estimate credit losses based upon an
“expecled credit loss” approach rather than the “incurred loss™ approach, which is currently used. The new approach will
require entities to measure all expected credit losses for financial assets based on historical experience, current conditions, and
reasonable forecasts of collectability. The change in approach is anticipated to impact the timing of recognition of credit losses.
This standard is effective for financial statements issued by public companies for annual and interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2019. Early adoption of the standard is permitted. The Company does not expect the standard to have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12. “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for
Income Taxes”. This update aims to reduce complexity within the accounting for income taxes as part of the simplification
initiative. This standard is effective for financial statements issued by public companies for annual and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption of the standard is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the
potential impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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3. Business Acquisitions

The following acquisitions are included within the Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment, except for the private
company acquisitions, which are included within the Envestnet Data & Analytics segment.

FolioDynamix

On January 2, 2018, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding membership interests of FolioDynamics
Holdings, Inc. (*FolioDynamix") through a merger of FolioDynamix with and into a wholly owned subsidiary of Envestnet.

FolioDynamix provides financial institutions, RIAs, and other wealth management clients with an end-to-end
technology solution paired with a suite of advisory tools including model portfolios. research and overlay management services.
FolioDynamix is included in the Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment.

The Company acquired FolioDynamix to add complementary trading tools as well as commission and brokerage
support to Envestnet’s existing suite of offerings. Envestnel is continuing to integrate the technology and operations of

FolioDynamix into the Company’s wealth management channel, enabling the Company to further leverage its operating scale
and data analytics capabilities.

The Company funded the acquisilion with a combination of cash on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and
borrowings under its revolving credit facility.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition was as follows:

CASh CONSIARTALION ..cuveeereeeeeereiie e e iie e ressssssissisist s testostosessessessessesnernesaesaesaesssssessnssssssnsensesnens sns smsansassnennrnsenses $ 199,877
Working capital and other adjUSIMEnES ..o s (6,742)
Total consideration TANSTEITE ...vetveveereceseeeerieetee et e eeeem b es e et e memeees seseebesses et et ans smesnsseresersamennessbsanas $ 193,135

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

Cash and cash EQUIVAIEIIS. ..o et e e $ 4,876
ACCOUNES TECEIVADLE ... vereeee ettt ee e e bt e ta e b e eseaa e s ces e besbsebbs ehbaa b e be s be s kb eassrs e bbrasrarensanrenss 4,962
Prepaid expenses and other CUMTENt ASSEES ........ov i s e e 3,773
Property and eqUIPIMENL, TEL ....ccoiiecririereercenit e sereses st e e r et e ma e e eas s s s e en s seansEsam s n et nan 927
T NMONM-CUITENE BSSEES ..ot eeieee et et ettt e et e e s e e e s e b e s e b e re e ne e ne e stk et e b et e b et et e b eas e s eas e s e b s s sba b n 441
[dentifiable intAngible BSSELS ....cc.v vttt e s e s e s s e 135,700
GOOAWINL ..ttt a et re e et st et £ e b e et e £ et e nan At nE R Rt e e e er et ne e e 79,891
Total 8SSEtS ACGUITED v.vevreereerercrcerrerreesesensscsrmessscscmssmesssesessescsessoseesomes s ans cesarscesonscssasscssaserssssesssssbsbossissssonasn 230,570
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE 1.vveecrreesere e ce e st e e e e e (5,358)
ACCTUCA BXPEIISES .o.venerverrenserenssereeeesemeseremcssescscmssnscmemsscecmsesesshemmsseshecassboebe e bbb bed bt e bbb s b s b ora bk srababtREpa vt (7,907)
DefErTed AN HADITITY «oicuiieeiiee ettt etea et b eac st s e sae s aa e as e e se b aannbasne s e e ae sasne s nmnnnnsrne (23.300)
DIETEITEA FEVEIIUE ... ce cieiiiiiriasiisunsirstrssisrnstesssns e sanssrssans snssases sonsessussanas mseesms e s st ansnssnssen sonessnsans esuesensansenaraserssne (806)
Other non-curment HADIITIES ..oovv vt n st (64)
TOtal 1Fabilities BSSUIMET ..vereeieeiesienersirersarsaessisasserasrasesesessessensesessessessessesssnssnnsmssmssmssarassassmssmansessnssassassssasns (37,435)
Total NEt ASSELS ACQUIFRT ...oiiriiee ettt et ede b e m bbb b ha e s ba bbb ad s e bbb h) 193,135

The goodwill arising from the acquisition represents the expected synergistic benefits of the transaction, primarily
related to lower future operating expenses and the knowledge and experience of the workforce in place. The goodwill is not
deductible for income tax purposes.
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A summary of estimated identifiable intangible assets acquired, estimated useful lives and amortization method

follows:
Estimated Amortization
Amount Uiselul Lile in Years Method
LT 1) 4o T=] ol 1] SRR UPUROPOR. 113,500 13 Accelerated
Proprietary technology ... veevveenmesmsmiminc e e 17,500 5 Straight-line
Trade names and dOMAINS ......c..c.ccreerirvnir e e e 4,700 6 Straight-line
Total intangible assets acquired ........cocmmimiriececincncsneinarienens b 135,700

The results of FolioDynamix’s operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations beginning January
2, 2018. FolioDynamix's revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 totaled $68.122. FolioDynamix’s pre-tax loss for the
year ended December 31, 2018 totaled $13,777. The pre-tax loss includes acquired intangible asset amortization of $17,908 for
the year ended December 31, 2018.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, acquisition related costs for FolioDynamix totaled $1,282 and
$1.557, respectively, and are included in general and administration expenses.

Acquisition of private technology company

On August 13, 2018, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding membership interests of a private
technology company that provides market research analytics (the “private technology company acquisition™). In connection
with this acquisition, the Company paid estimated net consideration of $6,585, subject to certain closing and post-closing
adjustments.

The technology and operations of the private company are included in the Company’s Envestnet Data & Analytics
segment.

The preliminary estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition are not
material. As a result the remaining balance was allocated to goodwill in the amount of $6,885. The goodwill is not deductible
for income tax purposes.

The results of the private technology company’s operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations
beginning August 13, 2018 and were not considered material to the Company’s results of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, acquisition related costs for the private technology company
acquisition were not material, and are included in general and administration expenses.

Acquisition of private artificial intelligence (“AP") company

On January 2, 2019, pursuant to an agreement and plan of merger dated as of January 2, 2019 between Envestnet and a
private Al company, the private Al company merged into Yodlee Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “private
Al company acquisition™). The private Al company provides conversational artificial intelligence tools and applications to
financial services firms, improves the way Financial Service Providers (“FSPs™) can interact with their customers, and supports
these FSPs to better engage, support and assist their consumers leveraging this latest wave of customer-centric capabilities.

The technology and operations of the private company are included in the Company’s Envestnet Data & Analytics
segment.

The seller of the private Al company is also entitled to an additional unlimited earn-out payment with an estimated

fair value of $7,580 as of the acquisition date. The unlimited eam-out payment is based on the private company's revenue and
other retention targets for the twelve-month period beginning January 1, 2021,
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The consideration transferred in the acquisition was as follows:

CASH CONSIAEIALION ..ottt cster it re st s ts s b E e st s bt s asbas e e sastsbEosResbsersstabEebrabas antratsntontsrsaratratons $ 11,173
Purchase consideration THABIIEY ......o oottt rae e s e aa b aee e e ar e e nanas 6,240
Contingent consideration liability . 7,580
Working capital adjustment. ... e 70

Total consideration trANSTEITEA .......ccvevreresiereetreieinsrerestesisnssersssrsssesrssestossssesssnssssssaessssossonnsssnssnssessensrsseen $ 25,063

In December 2019, the Company determined that revenue targets for this acquisition would not be met. As a result,
the Company reduced the contingent consideration liability plus accrued interest associated with this acquisition by 58,126 and
recorded this as a reduction to general and administration expenses.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

Total tangible assets ACQUITE ..o e e e et stes D 144
Total liabilities ASSUME. ... st s sasrs s st bestssssssa sons bR et ses e s e ben e nsbesbnnsn (688)
Identifiable intangible assets....covveveorecricrrencc i 4,100
LT T 1 | | PO VPPV UVOROPOUOON 21,507

Total Net asSetS ACGUITEM. .. .. eiee i eeieitee e ra bt caraas e sae st besaa b e st e eas e sranrass st nssesrsbensrnsranrnns B 25,063

The goodwill arising from the acquisition represents the expected synergistic benefits of the transaction, primarily
related to an increase in future revenues as a result of potential cross selling opportunities. The goodwili is not deductible for
income tax purposes.

A summary of estimated intangible assets acquired, estimated useful lives and amortization method follows:

Preliminary Estimated Amortization
Estimnate Useful Life in Years Method
Proprietary technology ... 5 4,100 4 Straight-tine

The results of the private Al company's operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations beginning
January 2, 2019 and were not considered material to the Company s results of operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, acquisition related costs for the private Al company acquisition were not
material, and are included in general and administration expenses. The Company may incur additional acquisition related costs
in 2020,

Acquisition of PortfolioCenter business

On April 1, 2019, pursuant to an asset purchase agreement, Tamarac, Inc. (*Tamarac™). a wholly owned subsidiary of
Envestnet, acquired certain of the assets, primarily consisting of intangible assets, and the assumption of certain of the liabilities
of the PortfolioCenter business (*PortfolioCenter™) from Performance Technologies, Inc. (the “PC Seller™), a wholly owned
subsidiary of The Charles Schwab Corporation (“PostfolioCenter acquisition™). The PortfolioCenter business provides
investment advisors and investment advisory service providers with desktop, hosted and outsourced multicustodial software
solutions. These solutions provide data-management and performance-measurement tools, as well as customizable accounting,
reporting, and billing functions delivered through the commercial software application products known as PortfolioCenter
Desktop. PortfolioCenter Hosted, PortfolioServices and Service Bureau.

Tamarac acquired the PortfolioCenter business to better serve small and mid-size RIA firms. The PortfolioCenter
business is included in the Company’s Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment.

In connection with the PortfolioCenter acquisition, Tamarac paid $17,300 in cash, Tamarac funded the PortfolioCenter
acquisition with available cash resources. The PC Seller is also entitled to an earn-out payment based on PortfolioCenter's
revenue for the twelve-month period beginning April 1, 2020. The discounted amount of the contingent consideration liability is
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estimated to be $8,200 and is included as a non-current liability in the consolidated balance sheets.

The preliminary consideration transferred in the acquisition was as follows:

Messurement
Preliminary Periad Revised
Estimate Adjustments Estimate
Q7T Tt 13 1oL (=1 = U [0 | FOUO 3 17,560 § — 3 17,500
Contingent consideration lability ......ccovvvvervrnnsrres v v v veeseeee e s 8,300 (100} 8,200
Total consideration tANSTEITEd .....vvvrreerresrmiesiresssressrasasssssrraseesmsscsessmneens $ 25,800 3 (100) § 25,700

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

Measurement
Preliminary Perdod Revised
Estimate Adjustments Estimate
Total tangible 2855ets 8CQUITEd........coccereecveieriereersienrirssresssses e e essesssnenns $ 13 % — 13
Total liabilities assUMEd .......c.cceeiieierecece e v e e va e renens (1,600) — (1,600)
Identifiable intangible ASSELS ......cveveemrrrerceemrans e reme et e 12,400 (700) 11,700
GOOAWIL .ttt e s s sr e e 14,987 600 15,587
Total net 8S5etS BEQUITEd ..........ccueveeecrecisesessrisenssrssssresrssrenssnssassnssras b 25,800 § (100) $ 25,700

The goodwill arising from the acquisition represents the expected synergistic benefits of the transaction, primarily
related to an increase in future revenues as a result of expanding market opportunities within the mid-size and small RIA
market, potential cross selling opportunities, and lower future operating expenses. The goodwill is deductible for income tax

purposes.

A summary of estimated intangible assets acquired, estimated useful lives and amortization method follows:

Measurement
Preliminary Period Revised Estimated Amortization
Estimate Adjustments Estimate Useful Life in Years Method
Customer list......ccoeereereeerveerseressnreens $ 9,100 % (600) % 8.500 10 Accelerated
Proprietary technology ....ccccoeeenn. 3,300 (100) 3,200 5 Straight-line
Total intangible assets acquired.. $ 12,400 § (700) § 11,700

The results of PortfolioCenter's operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations beginning April
1, 2019. PortfolioCenlter's revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 totaled $6,705. PortfolioCenter's pre-tax loss for the
year ended December 31, 2019 totaled $2,568. The pre-tax loss includes acquired intangible asset amortization of $1,459 for
the year ended December 31, 2019,

For the year ended December 31, 2019, acquisition related costs for the PortfolioCenter acquisition were not material,
and are included in general and administration expenses. The Company may incur additional acquisition related costs in 2020.

Acquisition of PIEtech

On May 1, 2019, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of PIEtech, Inc., a Virginia
corporation (“PIEtech”). PIEtech empowers financial advisors to use financial planning to efficiently motivate their clients to
create, implement and maintain financial plans that best meet their lifetime financial goals. The technology and operations of
PIEtech, which now operates as Envestnet | MoneyGuide. are included in the Envestnet Wealth Solutions segment.

The acquisition of PIEtech (the “PIEtech acquisition™) establishes Envesinet as a leader in financial planning
solutions, providing advisors and their clients with access to a full spectrum of financial planning capabilities, and offering a

broad range of data-driven, financial ptan-informed financial wellness solutions. both domestically and internationally over
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time. Integration of P[Etech's MoneyGuide software with the Company's integrated technology platform is expected to reduce
friction and enhance productivity for advisors.

In connection with the PIEtech acquisition, the Company paid net cash consideration of $298,714, subject to a
working capital adjustment, and issued 3,184,713 shares of Envestnet common stock to the sellers. The Company funded the
PIEtech acquisition with available cash resources and borrowings under its revolving credit facility.

In connection with the PIEtech acquisition, the Company established a retention bonus pool consisting of
approximately $30,000 of cash and restricted stock units to be granted to employees and management of P[Etech as inducement
grants, As a result, the Company adopted the Envestmet, Inc. 2019 Acquisition Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Equity Plan™)
in order to make inducement grants to certain PIEtech employees who will join Envestnet | MoneyGuide (See “Note 15—
Stock-Based Compensation™). Envestnet agreed to grant al future dates, nol earlier than the sixty day anniversary of the PIEtech
acquisition, up to 301,469 shares of Envestnet common stock in the form of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance
stock units (“PSUs”) pursuant to the 2019 Equity Plan and made cash retention payments of approximately $8,800 to certain
legacy PIEtech employees who joined Envestnet | MoneyGuide. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has issued
approximately 62,400 and 24,900 RSUs and PSUs, respectively, under the 2019 Equity Plan to legacy PIEtech employees. At
this time the Company expects to issue approximalely 214,000 additional RSUs and PSUs and expects to pay approximately
$5,300 in cash bonus payments over the next three years in connection with the PIEtech acquisition.

The Company also granted membership interests in certain of the Company's equity method investments to two
legacy PIEtech executives with an estimated grant date fair market value of $8,900. These membership interests will vest on
May 1, 2020 and become exercisable in future periods. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has recorded approximately
$5,920 as a component of compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations with a corresponding liability
in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

The preliminary consideration transferred in the acquisition was as follows:

Measurement
Preliminary Period Revised
Estimate Adjustments Estimate
Cash CONSIAEration .......cceeeieeesrsns s s s sersessosassassas smsssssns e sraseases ) 299,370 §$ (656) § 298,714
StOck CONSIAELALION ueevvi vt erars s es e e re raee e sasaeemeeananes 222,484 — 222,484
Less: cash acquired ..o (6,360) — (6,360)
o o e e e . 5 515494 5 (656) 3 514838
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

acquisition:

Measurement
Preliminary Period Revised
Estimate Adjustments Estimate
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ......ccvcricvernersre e rrereresreresnsasesressasescsnresses $ 6,360 § — 3 6,360
ACCOUNTS TECEIVADIE 1ot 3,782 — 3.782
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ..., 969 — 969
Other NON-CUIMTENT @SSELS.....cocviriieereiaaeieeaneseir e s srnesneraesessmrenseeasseessres 4,274 — 4,274
Property and eqUIpMENt, NEE ....c.cvveeccrncnr e ers reanes 6,057 — 6,057
Operating lease right-of-use assets, Ne......ccvvivncieciiicise e, 1,688 324 2,012
Identifiable intangible Assets ... e 217,000 36,000 253,000
GOOAWIIL. ..ttt e e e e e 353,085 (29,134) 323951
Total assets BCqUITed ... et s 593,215 7,190 600,405
Accounts payable and accrued expenses........occoiviiinc e, {2.166) 505 {1,661)
Operating lease liabilities. ... e {2,012) — {2,012)
Deferred iNCOME LAXES ...oueieeereereeereesesreerrmereren e reseseeresrvmrs s creene e e enees {59,643) (2.291) (68,534)
Defermed MEVENUC ... .o iceccrreeree e ene e sasmmsssne s o s smemnemees mseee s ree s ceran et (7,540) 540 (7,000)
Total liabilities assurmed ... e (71,361) (7,846) (79.207)
Total net assets AcqUIred ..o s $ 521,854 § (656) § 521,198

The goodwill arising from the acquisition represents the expected synergistic benefits of the transaction, primarily
related to an increase in future revenues as a result of potential new business and cross selling opportunities. The goodwill is
not deductible for income tax purposes. In December 2019, the Company finalized its acquisition accounting for the PIEtech
acquisition, resulting in adjustrents to previously reported allocations of the purchase consideration. The adjustments were a
result of changes to the original fair value estimates of certain items acquired. These changes are the result of additional
information obtained during 2019 that related to facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.

A summary of estimated intangible assets acquired, estimated useful lives and amortization method follows:

Measurement
Preliminary Period Revised Estimated Amortizition
Estimate Adjustments Estimate Useful Life in Years Method
Customer lists ..o 5 181,000 $ 41,000 % 222,000 10-20 Accelerated
Proprietary technologies .......c...... 25,000 (2,000} 23.000 4 Staight-line
Trade NAMES ....coccvreerinrireinereesesnnns 11,000 (3,000) 8,000 7  Straight-line

Total intangible assets acquired ...... by 217.000 % 36,000 3 253,000

The results of PIEtech's operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations beginning May 1, 2019.
PIEtech's revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 totaled $30,315. PIEtech's pre-tax loss for the year ended
December 31, 2019 totaled $12,374. The pre-tax loss includes acquired intangible asset amortization of $17,634 for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, acquisition related costs for the PIEtech acquisition totaled approximately
$16,738, and are included in general and administration expenses. Included in this amount is approximately $8,800 in one-lime
cash retention bonuses plus related tax witholding, which are included in compensation and benefits in the consolidated
stalements of operations. The Company may incur additional acquisition related costs in 2020.
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Pro forma financial information (unaudited)

The following pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations of Envestnet,
PortfolioCenter and PIEtech for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The pro forma financial information presents the
results as if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of 2018. The results of the private company acquisitions are not
included in the pro forma financial information presented below as they were not considered material to the Company's results
of operations.

The unaudited pro forma results presented include estimated amortization charges for acquired intangible assets,
interest expense, stock-based compensation expense and income tax. The Company's 2018 pro forma information includes the
reversal of a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets, transaction fee payments and retention bonus payments that were
incurred in 2019 as a result of these acquisitions and reverses these amounts from the appropriate periods in 2019. All
intercompany revenues have been eliminated within this pro forma information.

Pro forma financial information is presented for informational purposes and is not indicative of the results of
operations that would have been achieved if the acquisitions had taken place as of the beginning of 2018.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
REVEIUES ....ooce it s s s s s sne et sn s $ 919,291 $ 869,247
Net loss attributable to Envestnet, INC. ....cc.ooimiiiiice e e {16,860) (1,367)
Net loss per share attributable to Envestnet, Inc.:
|5 73T S U VUV U R UU OO UR U URURORVUIOR h) (0.32) % (0.03)
DiHIEd. c.onier ettt s st e e e e e s $ (0.32) § (0.03)
4. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assels consisted of the following:
December 31,
2019 2018
Prepaid technologY ..ot s s 3 8,178 3§ 6,766
Non-income tax TECEIVADIES ... v iveeeeeeee et een 5,555 6,240
Advance payroll taxes and benefits........ccooeeirerecre e e 5,446 —
Prepaid outside information SEIVICES......cooeverr et 2,209 1,515
Prepaid INSUMANCE. ... ot e s s s e e e e e e s 1,919 %943
L1 115 OO U S TR OO P TR U OO 8,876 8,093
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets .......c.crisiii i, 3 32,183 § 23,557
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5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

Estimated Useful Life 2019 2013
Cost:
Computer equipment and software........ 3 years $ 72,190 § 64,346
Leasehold improvements...........cocineens Shorter of the lease term or useful life of the asset 34,645 28,191
Office furniture and fixtures ........cc.o... 3-7 years 10,832 9,291
Office equipment and other .................. 3-5 years 6,850 5,577
Building and building improvements ... 7-39 years 2,647 —
Land..... e Not applicable 940 —
128,104 107,405
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortiZation........cccceerieniiesnninn st sosesnesens (74,348) (62,414)
Total property and eqUIPMENT, DB .........c..oooiiiiiiiicrie e srre e s e e e e s F 53756 % 44991

During 2019 and 2018, the Company retired property and equipment that was no longer in service for the Envestnet
Wealth Solutions segment with an historical cost of 38,264 and $5,984, respectively. During 2019 and 2018, the Company
retired property and equipment that was no longer in service for the Envestnel Data & Analytics segment with an historical cost
of $4,621 and $5,387. respectively. Gains and losses on asset retirements during 2019 and 2018 were not material.

The following table presents the cost amounts and related accumulated depreciation written off by category:

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Year Ended December 31, 2018

Accumulated Accumulated

Cost Depreciation Cost Depreciation
Computer equipment and software s 12,597 % (12,542) % 10,733 § (10,709)
Leasehold improvements......c..cocvrieeornercreecnennereennnens 229 (135) 297 (269)
Office furniture and fixtures........oooo e 42 21) 32 (32)
Office equipment and other........c.covnvceien st 17 (17) 309 (2838)
Total property and equipment retirements .........o.poceeee..e $ 12,885 $ (12,715) § 11,371  § {11,298)

Depreciation and amortization expense was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Depreciation and amortization eXpense ........ccoooeieeieeser s e $ 20,777 § 15,737 $ 15,383

6. Internally Developed Software

Internally developed software consisted of the following:

December 31,

Estimated Useful Life 2019 2018
Internally developed sOftWare........ceervcevrecraesreen e cemene e e 5 years $ 104703 § 70,410
Less; accumulated amortiZation .......oooeverenesiesese e (44,440) (32,201)
Internally developed software, net ... ... $ 60263 $ 38,209

90



Table of Contents
Envestnet, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Amortization expense was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
AMOTIZALION EXPENSE ...cvrtreereirisreissese s s ineses et sesas o ssesanas b 12,042 § 8033 % 5,310
7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:
Envestnet Wealth Envestnet Data &
Solutions Analyties Total
Balance at December 31, 2017 .....cocecimiccininnnnisesmernsnssreensanenns 5 163,751 % 269,204 % 432,955
FolioDynamix acquisSition ........c.ccocviveeernvenieerervsresrenserseesnnns 79.891 — 79,891
Private technology company acquisition .............cecvureeeereneneas — 6,885 6,885
Foreign currency and other ... e 167 (796) (629)
Balance at Decernber 31, 2018 ... crmnrencnssreesnaens 243,809 275,293 519,102
Privale Al company acquisition .......coeeeeceecriceeicnereeeerenns — 21,507 21,507
PortfolioCenter acquisition 15,587 — 15,587
PIEtech acquiSition ........cocveeevcvnveree e riccunes 323,951 — 323,951
Foreign currency and other (100) (197} 297)
Balance at December 31, 2019 .ottt B 583,247 $ 296,603 $ 879,850
Intangible assets, net consisted of the following:
December 31,2019 December 31, 2018
Gross Net Gross Net
Estimated Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Uselul Life Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Customer lists .......cooene.. 7-20years  $ 591,520 § (148,517) § 443,003 $ 361,020 $ (102,077) § 258,943
Proprietary technologies .. 4-6 years 87,714 (44,165} 43,549 66,746 (36,151 30,595
Trade names.............coou... 6-7 years 33,700 (14,663) 19,037 27,990 {12,352) 15,638
Backlog......ocooveveeneeeece. NFA — — — 11,000 (10,935) 65
Total intangible assets .......ccoerverveecunen $ 712934 % (207,345) § 505,589 $ 466,756 $ (161,515) § 305,241

During 2019 and 2018, the Company retired fully amortized intangible assets for the Envestnet Wealth Solutions
segment with a historical cost of $11,520 and $22,177, including proprietary technologies and trade names. During 2019 and
2018, the Company retired fully amortized intangible assets for the Envestnet Data & Analytics segment with a historical cost
of $11,100 and 30, including trade names and backlog.

Amortization expense was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

AMOTTIZATION EXPEIISE 1v.veruererressenrorssrersasessasemscmsssesemsesssssmssesemsmssasrsemcsens $ 68452 % 53,856 % 42,127
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Envestnet, Inc.

Future amortization expense of the intangible assets as of December 31, 2019, is expected to be as follows:

Years ending December 31:

92

2020 .. e tr ettt et e Rt aR e eR e eResReeReRe e R SeASeASeASe AN S e RS e SaAe SRS eASA s LA hh s bbb bbbttt ra bha bt haransansaaran b3 72,918
202 ] e e e e e a L e E i e A b e b e e e bad s ea s e At e AL E bR he A b e s Ad e e ae hab e b e e e s e b e b b e 62,895
L 7 OSSO 59,150
1 120 TSR 44,801
. U U OO S U 38,631
1T G111 OO TRTURR T 227,194
TOUAL 1euveurererer e e e eres s e rease e e sn e s s saeatrat satensensen s antenanatsatsatsatenseneaneeRseResReaReRAe Ae b e Aaa b ra bra bttt et bn b 505,589
8. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following:
December 31,
2019 2018
Accrued compensation and refated tAXES .....oovvccirenciee e et e 53,627 § 50,598
Accrued investment Manager fees ... 48,720 50,635
Non-income tax payables ... e sr e e 11,040 9,733
Accrued charitable contribUtion ... 5,020 —
Accrued professional SETVICES .......occiiiienieirienit e e s e 3,833 4,517
Acerued teChOIORY .o e 3,042 4,728
AcCrued trANSACTION COSS cuviuuiieierierieerrerraresssresrsnssmssmeseeseeseeseereesessessessessensesensansensnsnnns 2,482 4,543
Other accrued expenses 10,180 8.544
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities 137944 3§ 133,298
9, Debt
The Company’s outstanding debt obligations as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:
December 31,
2019 2018
Revolving credit facility balance ..o vvvreermmrerresssersesesasrassnscssrssrsrsassnssssesssrasenssscens 260,000 % —
Convertible Notes due 2019 ... eacse e s e se et e ems sme s s e e saensenees — % 172,500
Unaccreted discount on Convertible Notes due 2009 ... — (5,890)
Unamortized issuance costs on Convertible Notes due 2019........coovcvcivieesinsinsinsinnnn — (899)
Convertible Notes due 2019 carrying value ..o — % 165,711
Convertible Notes due 2023 ... 345,000 $ 345,000
Unaccreted discount on Convertible Notes due 2023 .....oeieeninnninncennensencerensensnens (33,491) (42,641)
Unamortized issuance costs on Convertible Notes due 2023 ... (5,996) (7,634)
Convertible Notes dug 2023 carmying valUe ...t 305,513 § 294,725
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Interest expense was comprised of the following and is included in other expense, net in the consolidated statements of
operations:

Year Ended December 31,

2015 2018 2017
Accretion of debt diSCOUNL ....c..ccvevuiceernsiensinrerneresnrensnsssessssssessesssnssess $ 15040 % 11,134 § 5,472
COUPON INEETESE oeeciireceeciesar s s b e b e 8,917 6,650 3,019
Interest on revolving credit facility ........c.coercriininnicinnncesineenne 4,065 3,994 4,153
Amortization of ISSUANCE COSIS .o 3,703 2,771 3,279
Undrawn and other fees .......ccccvovivierrciencrsnsenccssesesnesessrssesssssississsens 795 654 424
Total INtErESt EXPENSE .-.ooereeeeereireneiieeneeer e e srernaesr e s s sasranremmarareses B 32,520 % 25203 % 16,347

Amended Credit Agreement

In 2014, Envestnet and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement with a group of banks (the “Banks™),
for which Bank of Montreal is acting as administrative agent. Since 2014, the credit agreement has been amended several times,
the latest of which occurred in September 2019 (the “Amended Credit Agreement™).

Pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement, the Banks have agreed to provide to the Company with a revolving credit
facility of $500,000, of which amount may be increased by $150,000 (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Amended Credit
Agreement also includes a $5,000 sub-facility for the issuances of letters of credit. As of December 31, 2019, there was
$260,000 outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement are guaranteed by substantially all of Envestnet’s U.S. subsidiaries.
In accordance with the terms of the Security Agreement, dated November 19, 2015, among the Company, the Debtors party
thereto, the Banks and the Administrative Agent, obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement are secured by substantially
all of the Company’s domestic assets and the Company’s pledge of 66% of the voting equity and 100% of the non-voting equity
of certain of its first-tier foreign subsidiaries. Proceeds under the Amended Credit Agreement may be used to finance capital
expenditures, working capital, permitted acquisitions and for general corporate purposes.

The Company will pay interest on borrowings made under the Amended Credit Agreement at rates berween 1.50% and
3.25% above LIBOR based on the Company’s total leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2019, this equates to an interest rate of
4.0%. Borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement are scheduled to mature on September 27, 2024. There is alsc a
commitment fee equal to 0.25% per annum on the daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains customary conditions, representations and warranties, affirmative and
negative covenants, mandatory prepayment provisions and events of default. The covenants include certain financial covenants
requiring the Company to maintain compliance with a maximum senior leverage ratio, a maximum total leverage ratio, a
minimum interest coverage ratio and minimum adjusted EBITDA. The Amended Credit Agreement also contains provisions
that require the Company to maintain minimum liquidity levels, limit the ability of Envestnet and its subsidiaries to incur debt,
make investments, sell assets, create liens, engage in transactions with affiliates, engage in mergers and acquisitions, pay
dividends and other restricted payments, grant negative pledges and change their business activities. The Company was in
compliance with these financial covenants and other requirements as of December 31. 2019,

During 2019, in connection with amending the credit agreement, the Company capitalized an additional $2,103 of
deferred financing charges 1o other non-current assets in the consclidated balance sheets and wrote off $299 of pre-existing
finance charges to interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2019, the debt issuance
costs related to the Amended Credit Agreement are presented in prepaid expenses and other non-current assets in the
consolidated balance sheets which have outstanding amounts of $853 and $3,190, respectively.
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Convertible Notes due 2019

In 2014, the Company issued $172,500 of convertible notes that matured on December 15, 2019 (the “Conventible
Notes due 2019™). Proceeds from the offering were $166,967, net of $4,651 of issuance costs, The Convertible Notes due 2019
were general unsecured obligations, subordinated in right of payment to our obligations under our Credit Agreement. The
Convertible Notes due 2019 bore interest at a rate of 1.75% per annum. The Convertible Notes due 2019 were convertible into
shares of the Company’s common stock under certain circumstances prior to maturity at a conversion rate of 15.9022 shares per
one thousand principal amount of the Convertible Notes due 2019, which represented a conversion price of $62.88 per share,
subject to adjustment under certain conditions.

The Company separately accounted for the liability and equity components of the Convertible Notes due 2019 by
allocating the proceeds from issuance of the Convertible Notes due 2019 between the liability component and the embedded
conversion option, or equity component. This allocation was done by first estimating an interest rate at the time of issuance for
similar notes that do not include the embedded conversion option. The Company allocated $26,618 to the equity component,
net of offering costs of $882. The Company recorded a discount on the Convertible Notes due 2019 of $27,500 which was
accreted and recorded as additional interest expense over the life of the Convertible Notes due 2019, During 2019, 2018 and
2017, the Company recognized $5,890, $5.690 and $5,472, respectively, in accretion related to the discount. The effective
interest rate of the liability compenent of the Convertible Notes due 2019 is equal to the stated interest rate plus the accretion of
original issue discount. The effective interest rate on the liability compenent of the Convertible Notes due 2019 for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was approximately 6%.

Upon maturity, the Company settled the Convertible Notes due 2019 for $184,751, which included $172,500 of
principal and $12,251 of additional premium payable to note holders who tendered their conversion notice. The additional
$12,251 was recorded as a reduction to equity. The Convertible Notes due 2019 were paid using a combination of cash on hand
and through borrowings on the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility. No shares of the Company's common stock were issued
upon settlement of the Convertible Notes due 2019.

Convertible Notes due 2023

In May 2018, the Company issued $345.000 of convertible notes maturing June i, 2023 (the “Convertible Notes due
2023™). Net proceeds from the offering were $335,018. The Convertible Notes due 2023 bear interest at a rate of 1.75% per
annum payable semiannually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year. beginning on December 1, 2018.

In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Notes due 2023, the Company incurred $8,593 of issuance costs in
2018, which are presented net in Convertible Notes due 2023 in the consolidated balance sheets. These costs are being
amortized and are recorded as additional interest expense over the life of the Convertible Notes due 2023.

The Convertible Notes due 2023 are general unsecured senior obligations, subordinated in right of payment to our
obligations under our Amended Credit Agreement. The Convertible Notes due 2023 rank equally in right of payment with all of
the Company’s existing and future senior indebtedness and will be senior in right of payment to any of the Company’s future
subordinated obligations. The Convertible Notes due 2023 will be structurally subordinated to the indebtedness and other
liabilities of any of our subsidiaries, other than our wholly owned subsidiary, Envestnet Asset Management, Inc., which will
fully and unconditionally guarantee the notes on an unsecured basis, and other than to the extent the Convertible Notes due
2023 are guaranteed in the future by any of our other subsidiaries as described in the indenture and will be effectively
subordinated to and future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. Certain of
our subsidiaries guarantee our obligations under our Amended Credit Agreement.

Upon the occurrence of a “fundamental change™, as defined in the indenture, the holders may require the Company to
repurchase all or a portion of the Convertible Notes due 2023 for cash at 100%5 of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes
due 2023 being purchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest.

The Convertible Notes due 2023 are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock under certain
circumstances prior to maturity at a conversion rate of 14.6381 shares per one thousand principal amount of the Convertible
Notes due 2023, which represents a conversion price of $68.31 per share, subject to adjustment under certain conditions.
Holders may convert their Convertible Notes due 2023 at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding December 15, 2022, only under the following circumstances: (a) during any calendar quarter
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commencing after the calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2018 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale
price of our common stock, for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) in the period of 30 consecutive trading
days ending on the last trading day of the calendar quarter inmediately preceding the calendar quarter in which the conversion
occurs, is more than 130% of the conversion price of the Convertible Notes due 2023 in effect on each applicable trading day;
(b) during the five consecutive business-day period following any five consecutive trading-day period in which the wading price
per one thousand principal amount of the Convertible Notes due 2023 for each such trading day was less than 98% of the last
reported sale price of our common stock on such date multiplied by the then-current conversion rate; (¢) if we call any or alf of
the Convertible Notes due 2023 for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day
immediately preceding the redemption date; or (d) upon the occurrence of specified corporate events as defined in the
indenture.

Upon conversion, the Company may pay cash, shares of the Company’s common stock or a combination of cash and
stock, as determined by the Company in its discretion. The Company’s stated policy is to settle the debt component of the
Convertible Notes due 2023 at least partially or wholly in cash. This policy is based both on the Company’s intent and the
Company’s ability to settie these instruments in cash.

The Company has separately accounted for the liability and equity components of the Convertible Notes due 2023 by
allocating the proceeds from issuance of the Convertible Notes due 2023 between the liability component and the embedded
conversion option, or equity component. This allocation was done by first estimating an interesl rate at the time of issuance for
similar notes that do not include the embedded conversion option. The Company allocated $46,611 to the equity component, net
of offering costs of $1,389. The Company recorded a discount on the Convertible Notes due 2023 of $48,000 which will be
accreted and recorded as additional interest expense over the life of the Convertible Notes due 2023. During 2019 and 2018, the
Company recognized $9,150 and 35,444, respectively, in accretion related to the discount. The effective interest rate of the
liability component of the Convertible Notes due 2023 is equal to the stated interest rate plus the accretion of original issue
discount. The effective interest rate on the liability component of the Convertible Notes due 2023 for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately 6%.

See “Note 18—Net Income {Loss) Per Share” for further discussion of the effect of conversion on net income per
common share.

10. Leases

The Company has operating leases for corporate offices and certain equipment, some of which may include options to
extend the leases for up to 20 years, and some of which may include options to terminate the leases within 90 days. Terms of
the Company's operating leases may change from time to time. The Company's leases have remaining lease terms of 3 months
to 13 years.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the total operating lease cost and short-term lease cost were $17,736 and
$4,683, respectively. The Company did not have significant sublease income or variable lease cost for the vear ended December
31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining lease term was 9.2 years and the weighted average
discount rate was 6.0%. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of the operating lease liability for the year ended
December 31, 2019 was $19,002. The ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities for the year ended
December 31, 2019 was $30,455.
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases, as of December 31, 2019, were as follows:

Operating
Leases
Years Ending December 31,

20200 e e e ARt e ea Rt e R R R R eme e e en st e 3 19,390
77 18,211
2022 e e e bRt E e R et e s R bRt e h et et eme e s en e 13,820
2023t s e e R SR e R AR SR AR LSRR RS RS RR PR A sat e et s 11,362
1 S OO T eSO P ST P RPN 10,178
TRETCATIET ...cvvee e ses e ss e enssae e aesaesae e se sme s am sm smsn e e st et s et e e ba pesrent e tentantantententantartensenaranansanian 59,876
Total future MiniMUM [BASE PAYITIENLS. ....c.oreeoeieeetierecrer e ree et st re e eese e ee et emsree e s e se s e sensseeensesoenssarscaces 132,837
L eSS IMPULE TNEELESE.....cviieetinit i e e s e b s e s e s s s e s np st e (30,656)
Total operating lease Habilities. ... ... ... e b 102,181

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has several operating lease commitments, primarily for our corporate offices,
that have not yet commenced. These operating leases are expected to commence through January 2024 with lease terms of up to
13 years.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company disclosed the following information related to its leases:

The Company rents office space under leases that expire at various dates through 2030. Future minimum lease
commitments under these operating leases, as of December 31, 2018, were as follows:

Years ending December 31,

2009t st bs e st se s SR e R e EeR TR eSS e RS SRS RS beR SRR TR RS R R e e eR e s brs b e aansere e e e entnnsaramnaras $ 15,997
2020 e e L e e e L e e e et sR st et R e e R e R e AR TRt e R e a Rt ar s 15,437
2021ttt ettt et e at et e e e e et e e s srenresaseassreree At R R et et s s et et et eResae s At sResassansnsanes 14,705
202 ettt s e e ra e e e bs s eSS eas e 2 e e et Ses St ae e eatanAtanaAiataEaEeeeeteaseataaesensant et ant et earatnnnsantans 10,816
{1 T PSR 9,910
3T =T =] O 39,449

TOLAL ... eiiicetete st eesie s sissrs e sae e e srns e sasass s e ra s e s sas e s nasses se s e pes pE e SRS SEsmta bt e s nae e bEs eas seean s annnsenrnsrnras 3 106,314

11. Stockholders® Equity

On February 25, 2016, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a share repurchase program
under which the Company mayv repurchase up to 2,000,000 shares of its common stock. The timing and volume of share
repurchases will be determined by the Company’s management based on its ongoing assessments of the capital needs of the
business, the market price of its common stock and general market conditions. No time limit has been set for the completion of
the repurchase program, and the program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The repurchase program authorizes the
Company to purchase its common stock from time to time in the open market (including pursuant to a “Rule 10b5-1 plan™), in
block transactions, in privately negotiated transactions, through accelerated stock repurchase programs, through option or other
forward transactions or otherwise, all in compliance with applicable laws and other restrictions. For each of the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company purchased no shares of the Company’s common stock. As of both December 31,
2019 and 2018, a maximum of 1,956,390 shares may yet be purchased under this program.

On December 20, 2018. the Company issued and sold to BlackRock, Inc. ("BlackRock™) approximately 2,356,000
cominon shares at a purchase price of $52.13 per share, and warrants to purchase approximately 470,000 common shares at an
exercise price of $65.16 per share, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. The warrants are exercisable at BlackRock's
option for four years from the date of issuance. The warrants may be exercisable through cash exercise or net issue exercise
with cash settlement at the sole discretion of the Company. The gross proceeds received of approximately $122 788 were
allocated to the common shares and the warrants and recorded within stockholders” equity. In connection with this transaction,
the Company incurred total transaction costs of approximately $4.627 and recorded them as a reduction in equity.
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On May 1, 2019, in connection with the P[Etech acquisition. the Company issued 3,184,713 shares of Envestnet
common stock with a fair value of $222,484 to the sellers. See “Note 3—Business Acquisitions”.

12. Fair Value Measurements

The Company follows ASC 825-10, “Financial Instruments,” which provides companies the option to report selected
financial assets and liabilities at fair value. ASC 825-10 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to
facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities
and to more easily understand the effect of the Company’s choice to use fair value on its earnings. ASC 825-10 also requires
entities to display the fair value of the selected assets and liabilities on the face of the balance sheets. The Company has not
elected the ASC 823-10 option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value.

Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based upon a
fair value hierarchy established by GAAP, which prionitizes the inputs used to measure fair value into the following levels:

Level I: Inputs based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 1I: Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and
liabilities in markets that are not active; or inputs that are observable and can be corroborated by obsetrvable
market data.

Level ITl:  Inputs reflect management's best estimates and assumplions of whatl market participants would use in pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. The inputs are unobservable in the market and significant to the
valuation of the instruments.

The following tables set forth the fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on
a recurring basis in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2013, based on the three-tier fair value
hierarchy:

December 31, 2019

Fair Value Level 1 Level T Level 111

Assets:

Money market funds ...oocoeeeii, g 37,730 §$ 37,730 % — % —

Assets used to fund deferred compensation liability .....ccoveneas 8,390 — — 8,390

TORAl ASSEES -veeureeeeiiecaeieraesecaeseeeasansmr e s sreeseesne s srmarreesnmeenean 3 46,120 % 37730 § — 3 8,390
Liabilities:

Contingent consideration Hability ....c.ouovvrerrninimnrmvnnieninns by 9,045 § — % — 3 9,045

Deferred compensation Hability......cccomvemncinimiissnmiesinns 8,208 8,208 — —

Total HabUEES «oceeeeeeeeeee et et s e $ 17253 % 8208 % — % 9,045
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December 31, 2018

Fair ¥alue Level I Level IT Level OI

Assets:

Money markel funds ..o $ 265,554 % 265,554 § — % —

Assets used to fund deferred compensation liability .....ovvvaee 6,346 — — 6,346

TOA] ASSEES 1vvvvvrerrenrirerrrerrererreressrssrserneressesessessensersrssrasressesreneass $ 271,900 $ 265554 $ — 5 6,346
Liabilities:

Contingent consideration liability c..ocovviivieiiiiisiicvieee. § 732§ % 3 732

Deferred compensation liability ..o 6,196 6,196 — _

Total HABIHIIES «eveeieeee et e et e Y 6,928 S 6,196 $ — 3 732

Level I assets and liabilities include money-market funds not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC™) and deferred compensation liability. The Company periodically invests excess cash in money-market funds not
insured by the FDIC. The Company believes that the investments in money market funds are on deposit with creditworthy
financial institutions and that the funds are highly liquid. These money-market funds are considered Level I and are included in
cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheets. The fair values of the Company’s investments in money-market
funds are based on the daily quoted market prices for the net asset value of the various money market funds. The fair market
value of the deferred compensation liability is based on the daily quoted market prices for the net asset value of the various
funds in which the participants have selected, and is included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Level 111 assets and liabilities consist of the estimated fair values of contingent consideration as well as the assets to
fund the Company's deferred compensation liability. The fair market value of the assets used to fund the Company's deferred
compensation liability approximates the cash surrender value of the Company's life insurance premiums and is included in
other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

The fair values of the contingent consideration liabilities related to certain of the Company's acquisitions
were estimated using a discounted cash flow method with significant inputs that are not observable in the market and thus
represents a Level [ fair value measurement as defined in ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”. The
significant inputs in the Company's Level IIl fair value measurement not supported by market activity included its assessments
of expected future cash flows related to these acquisitions and their ability to meet the target performance objectives during the
subsequent periods from the date of acquisition, which management believes are appropriately discounted considering the
uncertainties associated with these obligations, and are calculated in accordance with the terms of their respective agreements,

The Company will conlinue (o reassess the fair values of the contingent consideration liabilities at each reporting date
until settlement. Changes to these estimated fair values will be recognized in the Company's earnings and included in general
and administration expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. During 2019 and 2018, the Wheelhouse Analytics
LLC contingent consideration liability was settled in the amounts of $749 and $2.193, respectively. The discounted amount of
the private Al company contingent consideration liability was estimated to be $7,580. [n December 2019, the Company
determined that revenue targets related to the private Al company acquisition would not be met. As a result, the Company
reduced the contingent consideration liability plus accrued interest associated with this acquisition by $8,126 and recorded this
as a reduction to general and administration expenses.
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The table below presents a reconciliation of the Company's contingent consideration liabilities, which were measured
at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level I11) for the period from December 31, 2018 to
December 31, 2019:

Fair Value of

Contingent
Consideration
Liabilities
Balance at December 31, 2018 ...t ettt s ste et e st e e em e s e s e e smtre st e s sesmtreeemeernseemteebasean s beaan 3 732
Private Al COMPANY BCQUISTHION c.vovivieiirresiinsieiitsinen et senenee e sressesresranas e ontseasse sra bassassrs beasasses s smsansensas 7,580
PorifolioCenter acquisition 8,200
Settlement of contingent consideration liability (749)
Fair market value adjustment on contingent consideration ability ..o (8,126)
Accretion on contingent consideration Habilities .......cccveiereirenrercervereenscsesmeresenseassnissrensssessarramsmsemsms soecas 1,408
Balance at December 31, 2019 ..o eieeiettse e et et na e n e e e b s e e st smnrnens b 9,045

The table below presents a reconciliation of assets used to fund deferred compensation liability, which was measured
at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 1) for the period from December 31,2018 to
December 31, 2019:

Fair Value of
Asscts Used to
Fund Deferred
Compensation

Liability
Balance at December 31, 2018 ... et et et e e s s e em e e b eme et e e e s emmensaesassas S esaera e e 3 6,346
Contributions and fair value adjustments 2,044
Balance at December 31, 2019 ...ttt sieesensesas s e sasrantas : S 8,390

The value of the assets used to fund the Company’s deferred compensation liability, which are included in other non-
current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. increased due to funding of the plan and gains on the underlying investment
vehicles.

The Company assesses the categorization of assets and liabilities by level at each measurement date, and transfers
between levels are recognized on the actual date of the event or when changes in circumstances cause the transfer, in
accordance with the Company's accounting policy regarding the recognition of transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy. There were no transfers between Levels I, [1 and II during the year ended December 31, 2019,

On December 15, 2014, the Company issued $172,500 of Convertible Notes due 2019. As of December 31, 2018, the
carrying value of the Convertible Notes due 2019 equaled $165,711, and represented the aggregate principal amount
outstanding less the unamortized discount and debt issuance costs. As of December 31, 2018, the estimated fair value of the
Convertible Notes due 2019 was $174,101. The Company considered the Convertible Notes due 2019 to be a Level II liability
as of December 31, 2018, and used a market approach to calculate the fair value. Upon maturity, the Company settled the
Convertible Notes due 2019 for $184,751, which included $172,500 of principal and $12,251 of additional premium payable to
note holders who tendered their conversion notice.

On May 25, 2018, the Company issued $345,000 of Convertible Notes due 2023. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
the carrying value of the Convertible Notes due 2023 equaled $305,513 and $294,723, respectively. and represented the
aggregate principal amount outstanding less the unamortized discount and debt issuance costs. As of December 31, 2019 and
2018, the estimated fair value of the Convertible Notes due 2023 was $414,852 and $339,024, respectively. The Company
considered the Convertible Notes due 2023 to be a Level 1I liability as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and used a market
approach to calculate the fair value. The estimated fair value was determined based on the estimated or actual bids and offers of
the Convertible Notes due 2023 in an over-the-counter market on December 31, 2019. See “Note 9—Debt™.
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As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there was $260.000 and 30, respectively, outstanding on the revolving credit
facility under the Amended Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2019, the outstanding balance on the revolving credit
facility approximated fair value as borrowings under the revolving credit facility bore interest at variable rates and the
Company believes its credit risk quality was consistent with when the debt originated. The Company considered the revolving
credit facility to be a Level I liability as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. See “Note 9—Debt™.

The Company considered the recorded value of our other financial assets and liabilities, which consist primarily of
cash and cash equivalents, fees receivable and accounts payable, to approximate the fair value of the respective assets and
liabilities at December 31, 2019 based upon the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities,

13. Revenue

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09 and all subsequent ASUs that modified Topic 606 (“ASC
606™) using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not completed as of January 1, 2018. The
Company recognized the cumulative effect of the initial application of ASC 606 as an adjustment of $9,217 to the opening
balance of accumulated deficit.

In accordance with ASC 606 requirements, the impact of adoption on the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations was as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Without Adoption of Effect of Change
As Reported ASC 606 Higher/(Lower)
Statements of Operations
Revenues:
ASSEE-DASEd ... s $ 481,233 § 495,646 % (14,413)
Subscription-based ..o 295,467 295,467 —
Total recurring reVENUES .......ccc.omocvemeeeecsrsainae 776,700 791,113 (14,413)
Professional services and other revenues.................... 35,663 35,840 (177}
TOLA] FEVEMUES .ovevererererercrrmsansemsamsmasusressssasassassassosas 812,363 826,953 (14,590)
Operating expenses:
COSt Of FEVENUES ..vereererirerrnrenrenrecsnare e e es eree e e s e 263,400 277,813 (14,413)
Compensation and benefits ... 317,188 318,887 (1,699)
Total Operating eXPENSES ...ovirerrrrrsrssmses e mmsmnsnssersnsnes 798,198 814,310 (16,112)
Income from operations ..........ooeveeceeecvicciieiiciienas 14,165 12,643 1,522
INEL ITICOIME ... rereereesernenrescssrsmsesenrensesses s snrmssessseasaes 4,010 2,488 1,522
Net income attributable to Envestnet, Inc. .................. 5 5755 % 4233 % 1,522

The comparative information was not restated and will continue to be reported under the accounting standards in effect
for those periods. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASC 606 to have a material impact to the results of operations
on an ongoing basis.

The majority of the Company’s revenues continue to be recognized when services are provided. The adoption of ASC

606 primarily impacted timing of revenue recognition for initial implementation services, deferral of incremental direct costs in
obtaining contracts with custemers and gross versus net presentation related to certain third party manager agreements.
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Disaggregation of revenue

The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by major source:

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Envestnet Wealth Envestnet Data &
Solutions Analytics Consolidated
Revenues:
Asset-based..........c.ce e e 3 484,312 % — % 484,312
Subscription-based ..o, 207,606 171,207 378,813
Total TECUTTING TEVENUES ....ovevesrrrrenesrersecssseerceaeenes 691,918 171,207 863,125
Professional services and other revenues ..................... 17,540 19,462 37.002
TOUA] FEVEIUES .....covevrecreeeerneeeenreeereesassmeerseesansreasneen $ 709,458 % 190,669 § 90,127
Year Ended December 31, 2018
Envestoel Wealth Envestoet Data &
Solutions Analytics Consolidated
Revenues:
ASSEE-DASE........eereeree et re s ) 481,233 % — 5 481,233
Subscription-based .........ocoooeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 138,372 157,095 295,467
Total recurring revenues ... ieesssnceecssnaenes 619,605 157,095 776,700
Professional services and other revenues..........cccoee. 13,000 22,663 35,663
TOtAl FEVENUES ..o emec st ese st esserssrssnesnene 3 632,605 §% 179758 % 812,363
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Envestnet Wealth Envestnet Data &
Solutions" Analytics™ Consolidated™
Revenues:
ASSEL-DASEU ....eovveieeeee st s srs e rens $ 410,016 % — $ 410,016
Subscripion-based ..........coceviiiieieeee e 106,048 139.819 245,867
Total recurring revenues.........cocermerenissesirerssrenennnes 516,064 139,819 655,883
Professional services and other revenues ..................... 11,841 15,955 27,796
Total reVENUES ........ccccvevcrrerninrersrsesrsrrsssns e seensenens b 527905 $ 155,774  $ 683,679

(1) As noted above, prior period amounts have not been adjusted under the modified retrospective method.

One customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenues:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

FIARIILY orcerererecree e e s s st ar s s rersrernsenere e 15% 17% 17%

Fidelity accounted for 19%, 21% and 22% of the Envesinet Wealth Solutions segment’s revenues for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

No single customer revenue amounts for Envestnet Data & Analytics exceeded 10% of the segment revenue total.
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The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by geography, based on the billing address of the
customer:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017w
UNIEA STALES 1uoiiviiiie et e s eeseae et areare st eneereereereeren 3 871,456 % 778,565 % 617,835
International P e 28,671 33,798 65,844
TOMAL TEVEMUES .....eeueeeeet ettt e e e ee et e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeneen 3 900,127 § 812363 § 683.679

(1) As previously noled. prior period amounts have not been adjusted under the modified retrospective method.
(2} No foreign country accounted for more than 109 of total revenues.
(3) In 2018, upon adoption of ASU 2014-09, gross revenue recognition changed to net revenue recognition for one customer.

Remaining performance obligations

The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied {or partially unsatisfied) as of December 31, 2019:

Years ending December 31,

14 OO PR b 203,814
2021 e e eeiestedtefsasstetestistieatesteseieesesseseatissieetessesstentasetentinsieetetenenrenrareseneraereseanereean 131,567
2022, et e e er e e a e e R e s sR s SRt eR ae PeaEeaSussas e et et aE eA e Re et sas et araE e rin 90,416
/2 22,867
4T = 1= O U UT T T TR 26,454

TOLAL. .ot caieereeremine et et ettt eeeeeeeeee et teeeeeas e seeememseeneeme e s e bene st dta bt R e At bbb E R ea bt eraena enrsar s $ 516,259

Only fixed consideration from significant contracts with customers is included in the amounts presented above.

The Company has applied the practical expedients and exemption and does not disclose the value of unsatistied
performance obligations for (i} contracts with an original expected length of one year or less; (ii) contracts for which the
Company recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to invoice for services performed; and (iii) contracts for
which the variable consideration i5 allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligations or to a wholly unsatisfied
promise to transfer a distinct service that forms part of a single performance obligation.

Cantract balances

Total deferred revenue as of December 31, 2019 increased by $9,609, primarily the result of the PIEtech and
PortfolioCenter acquisitions and an increase in deferred revenue related to subscription-based services during the year ended
December 31, 2019. Total deferred revenue as of December 31, 2018 increased by $1.507, primarily the result of an increase in
deferred revenue related to subscription-based services during the year ended December 31, 2018. The majority of the
Company's deferred revenue will be recognized over the course of the next twelve months.

The amount of revenue recognized that was included in the opening deferred revenue balance was $23,714 and
$18,620 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. respectively. The majority of this revenue consists of subscription-
based services and professional services arrangements. The amount of revenue recognized from performance obligations
satisfied in prior periods was not material.

Deferred sales incentive compensation
Deferred sales incentive compensation was $9.387 and $7,014 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Amortization expense for the deferred sales incentive compensation was $3,452 and $2,132 for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. No significant impairment loss for capitalized cosis was recorded during the periods.
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The Company has applied the practical expedient to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an
expense when incurred if the amortization period would have been one year or less. These costs are included in compensation
and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations.

14. Cost of Revenues

The following surnmarizes cost of revenues by revenue category:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
P LT o o 1« AU UURUSTURTURUSUOTR. 243913 % 232,145 % 194,894
Subscription-based.......c.occinncine e s 28,904 25,192 19,818
Professional services and OtheT ..o 5,994 6,063 4,325
Total COSE OF TEVENUIES .....ceeeeceerceerreiese i eesaeressesersesessrssssrassassastossasesras $ 278,811 % 263,400 3% 219,037

15. Stock-Based Compensation

On December 31, 2004, the Company adopted a stock incentive plan (the “2004 Plan™). The 2004 Plan provided for
the grant of options to employees, consultants, and non-employee directors to purchase common stock, which vest over time
and have a ten-year contractual term. To satisfy options granted under the 2004 Plan, the Company made common stock
available from authorized but unissued shares or shares held in treasury, if any, by the Company. Stock options granted under
the 2004 Plan were non-stock oplions, as defined in the 2004 Plan agreement. Stock options were granted with an exercise price
no less than the fair-market-value price of the common stock at the date of the grant.

The 2004 Plan has a change in control provision whereby if a change in control occurs and the participant’s awards are
not equitably adjusted, such awards shall become fully vested and exercisable and all forfeiture restrictions on such awards
shall lapse. Based on the terms of the 2004 Plan, the Company’s initial public offering in 2010 did not trigger the change in
control provision and did not result in any moedifications to the outstanding equity awards under the 2004 Plan,

On June 22, 2019, the Board of Directors approved the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2010 Plan™), effective upon
the closing of the Company’s initial public offering. The 2010 Plan provides for the grant of options, stock appreciation rights,
Full Value Awards {as defined in the 2010 Plan agreement) and cash incentive awards to employees, consultants and non-
employee directors to purchase common stock, which vest over time and have a ten-year contractual term. The maximum
number of shares of common stock that may be delivered under the 2010 Plan is equal to the sum of 2.700,000 plus the number
of shares of common stock that are subject to outstanding awards under the 2004 Plan which are forfeited, expire or are
canceled after the effective date of the Company’s initial public offering. As approved by shareholders, the plan has since been
amended to increase the available number of shares reserved for delivery to 8,925,000. Stock options and stock appreciation
rights are granted with an exercise price no less than the fair-market-value price of the common stock at the date of the grant.

As a result of the merger between Envestnet and Tamarac, the Company adopted the Envestnet, Inc. Management
Incentive Plan for Envestnet | Tamarac Management Employees {the “2012 Plan"). The 2012 Plan provides for the grant of
restricted common stock, stock options and the purchase of common stock for certain Envestnet | Tamarac employees. The
maximum number of shares of stock which may be issued with respect to awards under the 2012 Plan is 1,023,851.

The 2012 Plan provides for the grant of up to 559,551 shares of common stock (“Target Incentive Awards™). The
Target Incentive Awards vest based upon Tamarac meeting certain performance conditions and then a subsequent two-year
service condition. The Company measured the cost of these awards based on the estimated fair value of the award as of the
market closing price on the day before the acquisition closed. The Company is recognizing the estimated expense on a graded-
vesting method over a requisite service period of three to five years, which is the estimated vesting period. The Company
estimates the expected vesting amount and recognizes compensation expense only for those awards expected to vest. This
estimate is reassessed by management each reporting period and may change based upon new facts and circumstances. Changes
in the assumptions impact the total amount of expense and are recognized over the vesting period. As of December 31, 2017, all
559,551 shares of restricted stock had vested.
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As a result of the merger between Envestnet and Yodlee, the Company adopted the Envestnet, Inc. 2015 Acquisition
Equity Award Plan (the 2015 Plan™). The 2015 Plan provides for the assumption of all unvested equity awards previously
granted pursvant to the Yodlee employees and the conversion of such awards into equity awards of the Company pursuant to the
2015 Plan. No new awards are being made under the 2015 Plan. The maximum number of shares of stock which may be issued
with respect to awards under the 2015 Plan is 1,058,807,

As a result of the PIEtech acquisition. described in “Note 3—Business Acquisitions”, the Company adopted the 2019
Equity Plan in order to make inducement grants to certain PIEtech employees who will join Envestnet | MoneyGuide. Envestnet
agreed to grant at future dates, not earlier than the sixty day anniversary of the PIEtech Acquisition, up to 301,469 shares of
Envestnet common stock in the form of RSUs and PSUs pursuant to the 2019 Equity Plan. The RSUs vest over time and
the PSUs vest upon the achievement of meeling certain performance conditions as well as a subsequent service condition. The
Company is recognizing the estimated expense on a graded-vesting method over a requisite service period of three to five years,
which is the estimated vesting period. The Company estimates the expected vesting amount and recognizes compensation
expense only for those awards expected to vest. This estimate {s reassessed by management each reporting period and may
change based upon new facts and circumstances. Changes in assumptions impact the total amount of expense and are
recognized over the vesting period.

As of December 31, 2019, the maximum number of options and restricted stock available for future issuance under the
Company’'s plans is 2,248,672.

Employee stock-based compensation expense under the Company's plans was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Stock-based cOMPENSAtION EXPENSE ...cccvcvrrerrarrersarrersasessrarearsaressrmsssersassons ) 54,436 § 40,245 % 31,331
Tax effect on stock-based compensation eXpense. ... iveveeeeeeenceneen (13,734) (10,093) (11,906)
Net effECt ON INMCOMIE ouuviivverierrerrerersrestressesssnsssestessns saeereeansasaesmeesessmssmrens S 40,702 § 30,152 §$ 19,425

The tax effect on stock-based compensation expense above was calculated using a blended statutory rate of 25.2%,
25.1%, and 38.0% for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. However, due to the valuation
allowance recorded on domestic deferred tax assets, there was no tax effect related to stock-based compensation expense for the
years ended December 31. 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Stock Options

The following weighted average assumptions were used to value options granted during the periods indicated:

December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Grant date fair value of Options ........oc.ovecieeeecenccesrenennereesaensreenenns $ 2155 % — 3 14.51
WO IR HEY . oo cee ettt et s bbb b 40.0% —9% 43.8%
RiSK-TTee INEEMESt FALE ...vviursirserseeseesrenrenssnsessensensesensensessnssnsmssms smnas sms sms sms smis 2.5% - 2.1%
Dividend yield.....cocoviiiii e s — — —
Expected term (in YEArs) ... e 6.5 — 6.3
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The following table summarizes option activity under the Company’s plans:

Weighted-Average

Weighted- Remaining
Average Contractual Life Aggregate
Options Exercise Price (Years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2016 ... 3,033,194 % 16.33 43 $ 63,264
GrANEG.....oee e cr e s ee e bae et asaaeaaaas 75,238 31.70
Exercised (837.857) 9.49
Forfeited (16,010) 3742
Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 .....coccoevrcvnennes 2,254,565 19.23 43 69,939
(16 1= (111 IO OO PR SS — —
EXEICISed..cviirereeieeraireirnriseesansraermeasenecssoeemsensnsseceennen (359,345) 14.76
Forfeited ... (7,251} 27.51
Outstanding as of December 31,2018 ... 1,887,969 20.05 34 56,046
Granted........ooooeee e e 81,807 49.02
EXETCISed . niriiireerrecrcve e e re s ees s eesas e s seaen (783,216) 13.52
FOrfeited oo ceiiirsceernsrae s ee it eme e e e (35,974) 48.33
Qutstanding as of December 31, 2019 .......coooviiiieinnne 1,150,586 25.66 34 50,590
Options exercisable ..o 1,097.503 24.63 3.1 49,383

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table below represent the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the aggregate difference
between the fair value of the Company’s common stock on December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 of $69.63, $46.19 and $49.85,
respectively, and the exercise price of in-the-money options) that would have been received by the option holders had all option
holders exercised their options as of that date.

Other information is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Total intrinsic value of Options eXercised ......cocuvecerreiniesinrsenisareaoninn 3 40,893 § 15,667 % 29,562
Cash received from exercises of stock OPHIONS...ocvciviiicniniirerere e 10,592 5,308 7,951

Exercise prices of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2019 range from $9.00 to $55.29. At December 31,
2019, there was $793 of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options, which the Company expects to
recognize over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.
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Restricted Stock Unlts and Restricted Stock Awards

Periodically, the Company grants restricted stock units and awards and performance stock units and awards to
employees. Restricted stock units awards vest one-third on the first anniversary of the grant date and quarterly thereafter.
Performance-based restricted units and awards vest upon the achievement of certain pre-established business and financial
metrics as well as a subsequent service condition. The business and financial metrics governing the vesting of these
performance-based restricted stock unit awards provide thresholds that dictate the number of shares to vest upon each
evaluation date, which range from 50% to 150% of the original grant number. If these metrics are achieved, as defined in the
individual grant terms, these shares would cliff vest three years from the grant daie.

The following is a summary of the activity for unvested restricted stock units and awards granted under the Company’s

plans:
RSUs P5Us
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Grant Averuge Grant
Number of Date Fair Value Number of Date Fair Value
Shares per Share Shares per Share
Qutstanding as of December 31, 2016 ......ccocverenen.. 1,689.759 § 32.64 205,000 $ 31.03
Granted.......cceereesinrnininisisessessesassassasiessesiensossnsasene 959,591 32.38 — —
VESted. oo (901,181) 32.79 (68.332) 31.03
Forfeited. ..ot ne et na e (118,198) 30.11 — —
Qutstanding as of December 31, 2017 . ..ococviiivenene 1,629,971 32.60 w 31.03
Granted........coourecmnrecnseecee e 940,113 55.24 55,986 61.25
] 1 OSSO (1,005,347) 3273 (68.334) 31.03
Forfeited......covviveeriereereerneirsinrreresresresresressessesenesens (103,269) 40.37 — —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 ... 1,461,468 46.59 124,320 44.64
Granted. ... iercnrnrercrnerieereesessessesresresenresensensreeres 997,971 61.91 202,168 69.68
VEStEd. v iuieieee e (1,029,790) 45.11 (68,334) 31.03
Forfeited...c.cucoeeereernienrmeeeeeeer e ecee e e e e (110,779) 53.16 (4,036) 61.27
Qutstanding as of December 31, 2019 ... 1,318,870 58.88 254.118 67.96

At December 31, 2019, there was $59.860 of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock
units and awards, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighled-average period of 1.9 years. At December 31,
2019, there was $9,547 of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested performance-based restricted stock units and
awards, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.

In connection with the Yodlee, [nc. (“Yodlee™) merger, on November 19, 20135, the Company issued 1,052,000 shares
of Envestnet restricted stock unit awards (“replacement awards™) issued in connection with unvested Yodlee employee equity
awards. The Yodiee unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock units were canceled and exchanged for the
replacement awards. In accordance with ASC 805, these awards are considered to be replacement awards. Exchanges of share
options or other share-based payment awards in conjunction with a business combination are modifications of share-based
payment awards in accordance with ASC 718. As a result, a portion of the fair-value-based measure of the replacement awards,
are included in measuring the consideration transferred in the Yodlee business combination. To determine the portion of the
replacement award that is part of consideration transferred to acquire Yodlee, we have measured both the replacement awards
granted by Envestnet and the historical Yodlee awards as of November 19, 2015 in accordance with ASC 718. The portion of
the fair-value-based measure of the replacement award that is part of the consideration transferred in exchange for the
acquisition of Yodlee. equals the portion of the Yodlee award that is attributable to pre-combination service. Envestnet has
attributed a portion of the replacement awards to post combination service as these awards require post combination service.
The fair value of the rollover consideration was estimated to be $32.836 of which $4.318 was artributable to pre-acquisition
services. The remaining fair value of $28,518 is amortizing over the 43 month vesting period subsequent to the acquisition date.
As of December 31, 2019, there was no remaining unrecognized expense.
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In connection with the unexpected death of our former CEQ, the Company modified certain of his outstanding equity
awards. The modifications include the extension of exercise periods for his outstanding stock options and the immediate vesting
of his outstanding RSUs. All unvested PSUs were forfeited. As a result of these modifications, the Company recorded
additional non-cash compensation expense of $4,286 in 2019.

16. Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a profit sharing and savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, covering
substantially all domestic employees. The Company made voluntary employer matching contributions as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Voluntary employer matching Contributions .......cccocieicniinenine s snessssaens 3 6,044 § 4,778 § 4,038

17. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income tax provision (benefit} was generated in the following jurisdictions:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
IIOITIESIIC 1vmuveremsreecareeressereassesesssesnssesessessesssenssssssessssassasensastorsssesisnsassansens $ (61,047) § (18,242) $ (9,387)
FOTEIZIN oottt s 12,952 5.080 7,698
TOAL ..t eeecierraerenererrnsesrensesronsasremsasesessseseeasseessemes sesesemssesemeansenebe ek binae ] (48,095) $ (9,162) % (1,689

The components of the income tax provision (benefit) charged to operations are summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Current:
FRAEIAL. ot seaae et e e s e et sessen s sen e 3 4 3 4,564 % (1,20D)
AL e eeeee e cena s et ns e eae b e et es e Es e na b e e s e e eRear e branreer 2,303 1,044 951
FOTIRIL et e 5,930 4,849 6,438
8,737 10,457 6,188
Deferred:
Federal (33,952) (19.444) (4,439)
SHALE ...t e ercres e smmr st ras s e er st s s ras e e e sas e s eas e s senee e srer e nranEanens (5,603) (3,182) 146
Foreign (75) (1,003) (304)
(39,630) (23,629) (4,597
TOLAL cuvoveerereerrsireersiareetensens seesesassassssenesessns sasarsmesessraerensensamesesassensassoses 3 (30,893) § (13,172} § 1,591
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Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) consisted of the following:

December 31,
2019 2018

DferTeAd FEVENUE .........ceeceee ettt s s e e s s ss st rass s essanesnesnsenssnssnssnesnesnes $ 5148 3% 5,642
Prepaid expenses and ACCTUAIS ...oviueiciecec e 9,533 3,302
Deferred rent and 1ease INCENLIVES ... sas s sas 273 4255
Right 0F USe ASS€L...cmiiiiieimiiirrac ettt s (18,507) —
Lease LADIlItY ....coceiemrereeiemsen ot sn et sn e s b sr e sr e e 22,983 —
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards ... 86,952 78,689
Property and equipment and intangible assets..........corwreesenrercscscnevesnsermasesscenesens (127,255) (73,778)
Stock-based cOmpPensation EXPENSE. ........cu i eieeeeeeee e e e ee e 8,033 7,667
Investment in PANEISHIPS ..ottt e e seane s sttt am e 2,196 12
Converlible NOLES ... ittt et e et e et e senennn (8,471) (11,918)
OB ottt e e e e e e e 2,218 1,020

Total deferred tax assets (Liabilities), NET.......ccoeeieieiieieceicerceee e (16,897) 14,891

Less: valuation allOWARCE ...t e res e e e et e et eaeaaeaesaes (12,584) (15,531)

Net deferred tax Habilities ... $ (29,481) § (640)

In December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act™) was enacted into United States law. Beginning in 20138, the
Tax Act includes the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income {*GILTI") and Base-Erosion Anti-abuse Tax (“BEAT”) provisions.
The Company elected to account for GILTI tax in the period in which it is incurred. The GILTI provision requires the Company
to include in its U.S. income tax return foreign subsidiary earnings in excess of an allowable return on the foreign subsidiary’s
tangible assets. The Company expects to fully offset any GILTI income with Net Operating Losses (“NOLs™). The Company
has reevaluated the entity classification of its Indian entities to a flow-through status. As a result. the Company does not
currently expect to be subject to BEAT. Additionally, the two Indian entities also are no longer subject to GILTI.

The deferred tax liability that is not being recorded because of the Company's assertion to permanently reinvest the
earnings of its India subsidiaries is $5,207 related to the dividend distribution tax in India, net of an assumed foreign tax
deduction for this amount in the U.S.

The valuation allowance for net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $12.584 and $15,531,
respectively. The change in the valuation allowance from 2018 to 2019 was primarily related to the acquisition of PIEtech. In
assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets. management considers whether it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of
the deferred tax assets will be realized.

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will
be generated to use the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence is the cumulative loss
incurred over the three years ended December 31. 2019, Such objective evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective
evidence such as the Company's projections for future growth,

On the basis of this evaluation, as of December 31, 2019, a valuation allowance of $12,584 has been recorded to
record only the portion of the deferred tax asset that is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset
considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are
reduced or increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional
weight may be given to subjective evidence such as the Company's projections for growth.
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The expected income tax provision (benefit) calculated at the statutory federal rate differs from the actual provision as

follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Tax provision (benefit}, at U.S. federal statutory tax rate .._.................... $ (10,012) % (1,559) § {573)
State income tax provision (benefit), net of federal benefit..................... (5,390) (1,714) (1,251)
Effect of stock-based compensation excess tax benefit.......................... (11,983} (7.782) (11,522)
Effect of permanent items....ou...vieeceessesressssessressssrastasssesssssss sessaeseses 1,048 2,967 1,145
Change in valuation allowWanCe..........c..cce v e s (3,364) (4,244) 2,151
Effect of change in federal income tax TALE .....cvveeeeriresrercsrcensssrseeresnons — — 13,792
Effect of change in state and foreign income tax rates.......c.ocoececoeonencnee 2,449 (269) 537
Uncertain tax POSIIONS ..coivvievvsreeesrerereseseeeeessseesessemsseems smesssnssssessenea 4,478 (2,062) 3,668
BEAT Hability ... eer et te et — 3,760 —
Research and development Credils ......oooeeeieesveieniecciee e e (6,756) 4,770) {2,815)
Change in permanent reinvestment assertion ........c.cooveieiesenecersriuenens — (4,499)
State net operating 1055 AdjUSEMENE .....c..c.coecvrcereieeeresresrsresresearseraessreses (1,588) — 836
OO .t ettt et et sttt n e reaas 225 2,501 117
Income tax provision (Benefit) ...........ccovoereverecmrecremmrsereererresrerserens b {30,893) 3 (13,172) § 1,591

At December 31, 2019, the Company had NOL carry forwards, before any uncertain tax position reserves, for federal
income tax purposes of approximately $265,000 available to offset future federal taxable income, if any, of which $256,000
expire through 2039 and $9,000 are carried forward indefinitely. In addition, as of December 31, 2019, the Company had NOL
carryforwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $208,000 available to reduce future income subject to income
taxes. The state NOL carryforwards expire through 2039.

In addition, at December 31, 2019, the Company had AMT credit carryforwards of approximately $727 for Federal
purposes. As a result of tax reform, AMT credits are refundable for any taxable year beginning after 2017 and before 2022 in an
amount equal to 50% (100% in the case of taxable years beginning in 2021) of the excess of the minimum tax credit for the
taxable year over the amount of the credit allowable for the year against regular tax liability. Thus, the minimum tax credit was
reclassified from a deferred tax asset to an income tax receivable. The Company also had AMT credits of $19 for California,
which are available to reduce future California income taxes, if any, over an indefinite period. In addition, the Company had
research and development (“R&D") credit carryforwards of approximately 320,841 for federal and $10,785 for Califormia and
Illinois, as well as foreign tax credits of $1,253 available to offset federal income tax. Federal R&D credits begin to expire in
2022 through 2039. California R&D credits carryover indefinitely.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefit follows:

Year Ended December 31.

2019 2018 2017
Balance at December 31, 2018 .........c.oovvvreer e e recenserennsresnsnrrerens $ 15,628 § 18,312 § 16,476
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year..........cccoccceene. 2.261 1,907 1,691
Additions based on tax positions related to prior years.....oooceeeceerrcine, 1,050 (3,976) 145
Reductions for settlements with taxing authorities related to prior years ... — (615) —
Balance at December 31, 2019........ccvimecrercecsce et $ 18,939 § 15,628 % 18,312

Al December 31, 2019, the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would benefit the Company’s effective tax rate. if
recognized, was $18,939. At this time, the Company estimates that the liability for unrecognized tax benefits could decrease in
the next twelve months by an estimated $6.150 as it is anticipated that reviews by tax authorities will be completed. In addition,
the full amount of related penalties and interest of $7.336 could also be released.
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The Company recognizes potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, income tax expense included $1,476 and $126, respectively, of potential
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. The Company had accrued interest and penalties of $7,336 and
$5,977 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Company files a consolidated federal income tax returm and separate tax returns with various states. Additionally,
foreign subsidiaries of the Company file tax returns in foreign jurisdictions. The Company was notified by the Intemal Revenue
Service in December 2017 that the calendar year 2015 and 2016 federal income tax returns have been have been selected for
audit by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company’s tax returns for the calendar years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and
2016 remain open to examination by the Internal Revenue Service in their entirety. With respect to state taxing jurisdictions, the
Company’s tax returns for calendar years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015 remain open to examination by
various state revenue services.

The Company's Indian subsidiaries are currently under examination by the India Tax Authority for the fiscal years
ended March 31,2019, 2018, 2017, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010, and 2008. Based on the outcome of examinations of the
Company's subsidiaries or the result of the expiration of statutes of limitations it is reasonably possible that the related
unrecognized tax benefits could change from those recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. It is possible that one or more
of these audits may be finalized within the next twelve months.

18. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. For the calculation of
diluted net income (loss) per share. the basic weighted average number of shares is increased by the dilutive effect of stock
options, common warrants, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and Convertible Notes using the treasury stock
method, if dilutive.

The Company accounts for the effect of its convertible notes (See “Note 9—Debt™) on diluted net income (loss) per
share using the treasury stock method since they may be settled in cash, shares or a combination thereof at the Company’s
option. As a result, the Convertible Notes due 2019 and Convertible Notes due 2023 have no effect on diluted net income (loss)
per share until certain criteria are met, including the Company’s stock price exceeding the conversion price of $62.88 and
$68.31 per share, respectively, or if the trading price of the convertible notes meets certain criteria. In the period of conversion,
the convertible notes will have no impact on diluted net income (loss) per share if they are settled in cash and will have an
impact on dilutive net income (loss} per share if they are settled in shares upon conversion. The Convertible Notes due 2019
were settled in cash upon maturity.
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The following table provides the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted net income (loss)
per share attributable to Envestnet, Inc.:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Basic income (loss) per share calculation:
Net income {loss) attributable to Envestmet, Inc......ccccieiciinininnnianen, by (16,782) % 5755 § (3,280)
Basic number of weighted-average shares outstanding .........c.c.ccceeivees 50,937,919 45,268,002 43,732 148
Basic net income (1085} Per ShArE........ccovremmisirmneresrrasesnseresrsceresseasesssere $ (0.33) $ 0.13 § (0.08)
Diluted income (loss) per share calculation:
Net income (loss) attributable to Envestnet, Inc.....c..oooeoiiiinnicnenenes 3 (16,782) % 5755 % (3,280)
Basic number of weighted-average shares outstanding ... 50,937,919 45,268,002 43,732,148
Effect of dilutive shares:

Options to purchase common StOCK ..o — 1,304,493 —

Unvested restricted stock units ...t — 811,590 —

Convertible NOES ..o e — — —

WAITANTS .ieveireiieiaeraereerescensessrermasessensansessasassassnssmssmssnssssressensensensensnnsnns — — —
Diluted number of weighted-average shares outstanding ...........coccoveenee 50.937.919 47,384,085 43,732,148
Diluted net income (loss) per Share ..o 3 (0.33) § 0.12 § (0.08)

Securities that were anti-dilutive and therefore excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share
are as follows:

December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Options to purchase common StOCK ... o.ovee et e 1,150,586 — 2,254,565
Unvested restricted stock units and awards..............cooooveoceieeieceeieeeee 1,572,988 — 1,766,639
Convertible NOTES . et enen s e ss s ssses s seraes 5,050,505 7,793,826 2,743,321
WaLTANLS oo 470,000 470,000 —
Total anti-dilutive SECUMLIES ...c.cc e s e 8,244,079 8,263,826 6,764,525

(1) For 2019, this amount does not include 2,743,321 of potential common shares related to the Convertible Notes due 2019 as they
were settled in cash at maturity in December 2019.

19. Segment Information

Business segments are generally organized around the Company's business services. The Company's business
segments are:

= Envestner Health Solutions — a leading provider of unified wealth management software and services to
empower financial advisors and institutions.

»  FEnvestnet Data & Analytics — leading data aggregation and data analytics platform powering dynamic, cloud-
based innovation for digital financial services.

The information in the following tables is derived from the Company’s internal financial reporting used for corporate
management purposes. Nonsegment operating expenses include salary and benefits for certain corporate officers, certain types
of professional service expenses and insurance, acquisition related fransaction costs, restructuring charges and other non-
recurring and/or non-operationally related expenses. Intersegment revenues were not material for the year ended December 31,
2019.
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See “Nole 13—Revenue™ for detail of revenues by segment.

The following table presents a reconciliation from income (loss) from operations by segment to consolidated net
income {loss) attributable to Envestnet, Inc.:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

Envestnet Wealth SOIULIONS ......cociicveie e ecerrsee e iaecaerineenes $ 67,713 % 75,491 % 75,449
Envestnet Data & Aalytics .....coovie i e (25,262) (10,013) (19,456)
Nonsegment Operating eXPenSes. ... ..o oo erenrimeieeceeemeee e s eseseeeas (58,524) (51,313) (39,573)
[ncome {1055) frOmM OPETALIONS «.v.veveceeericecee e ce e cae e e raeen (16,073) 14,165 16,420
Interest eXPense, DEL.. ... iesinisnnimiss i e s e (29,173) (22,840) (16,146)
Other expense, NEl...uvri (2,349) (487) (1,963)
Consolidated loss before income tax provision (benefit) ..........cc.ccoeeenc. (48,095) (9,162) (1,689)
Income tax provision (benefit) ... e (30,893) (13,172) 1,591
Consolidated net income (108S) .....coveiervrienirernercsrecnenieersssenesreseressee s (17,202) 4,010 (3,280}

Add: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest ..........c.coceveeiene 420 1,745 —
Consolidated net income (loss) attributable to Eavestnet, Inc................. b (16,782) § 5755 % (3,280)

A summary of consolidated total assets, consolidated depreciation and amortization and consolidated capital
expenditures by segment follows:

December 31,
2019 2018
Sepment assets:
Envestnet Wealth SOIUUONS ........ocir et ts e st e s ee st e e eressme e e 5 1,297,891 § 810,971
Envestnet Data & AnAlytics......oouivnreiniimieninnsne i s s s vos 503,993 502,776
Consolidated total assets b 1,801,884 § 1,313,747

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Segment depreciation and amortization:
Envestnet Wealth SOIUtIoNS........oviceeieeiciieeiice et sree e e e S 65,746 $ 45,139 § 26,223
Envestnet Data & ANaIYHCS ... nesisnissssssense 35,525 32,487 36,597
Consolidated depreciation and amoMizalion ... ) 101,271 % 77,626 % 62,820

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Segment capital expenditures:
Envestnet Wealth SOIUtioNns. ........oov i $ 42,395 % 36,406 S 22,434
Envestnet Data & Analytics .....cooecrcnencnrcnnnncnnnimn e 11,548 8,136 5,135
Consolidated capital expenditures ..o ceciaeens b 53,943 §% 44592 3 27,569
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20. Geographical Information

The following table sets forth property and equipment, net by geographic area:

December 31,
2019 2018
URIEA SALES....oeeerei e sttt ses et e s e s b ens e smsesas esnas $ 48,729 $ 39412
TREHA e e s e n e e en e 3,988 3,969
T ettt eseenias e s e e esm s er s s aes ere et s eemem eems sme b esen et ens stsedeResR bea et st s anba R e e sns 1,039 1,610
Total property and eqUIPMENE, NET .. .cvve et B 53,756 % 44,991

Internally developed software, net was $60,263 and $38,209 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and is
all located within the United States.

See “Note 13—Revenue” for detail of revenues by geographic area.
21. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Obligations and Indemnifications

The Company includes various types of indemnification and guarantee clauses in certain arrangements. These
indemnifications and guarantees may include, but are not limited to, infringement claims related to intellectual property, direct
or consequential damages and guarantees to certain service providers and service level requirements with certain customers.
The type and amount of any potential indemnification or guarantee varies substantially based on the nature of each
arrangement. The Company has experienced no previous claims and cannot determine the maximum amount of potential future
payments, if any, related to such indemnification and guarantee provisions. The Company believes that it is unlikely it will have
to make material payments under these arrangements and therefore has not recorded a contingent liability in the consolidated
balance sheets.

The Company enters into unconditional purchase obligations arrangements for certain of its services that it receives in
the normal course of business. As of December 31, 2019, the Company estimated future minimum unconditional purchase
obligations of $39.481.

The Company has acquired membership interests in private companies and accounts for such under the equity method
basis of accounting. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has committed $1,375 in future funding to cerlain of these equity
method investees.

Legal Proceedings

The Company and Yodlee have been narned as defendants in a lawsuit filed on July 17, 2019, by FinancialApps, LLC
(“Financial Apps™) in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. The case caption is Financial Apps, LLC v,
Envestnet Inc., et al., No. 19-cv-1337 (D. Del.). Financial Apps alleges that, afler entering into a 2017 services agreement with
Yodlee, Envestnet and Yodlee breached the agreement and misappropriated proprietary information to develop competing credit
risk assessment software. The complaint includes claims for, among other things, misappropriation of trade secrets, fraud,
tortious interference with prospective business opportunities. unfair competition, copyright infringement and breach of
contract. Financial Apps is seeking significant monetary damages and various equitable and injunctive relief.

On September 17, 2019, the Company and Yodlee filed a motion to dismiss certain of the claims in the complaint
filed by FinancialApps, including the copyright infringement, unfair competition and fraud claims. The motion to dismiss is
fully briefed, and the parties are awaiting a decision from the Court. On October 30, 2019, the Company and Yodlee filed
counterclaims against FinancialApps. Yodlee alleges that Financial Apps fraudulently induced it to enter into contracts with
Financial Apps. then breached those contracts. Financial Apps has filed a motion to dismiss Yodlee's counterclaims. The
Company believes FinancialApps’s allegations are without merit and intends to defend the action and litigate the counterclaims
vigorously.
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In addition, the Company is involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business. Legal fees and
other costs associated with such actions are expensed as incurred. The Company will record a provision for these claims when it
is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss, or a range of the potential loss, can be reasonably
gstimated. These provisians are reviewed regularly and adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings,
advice of legal counsel, and other information or events pertaining to a particular case. For litigation matters where a loss inay
be reasonably possible, but not probable, or is probable but not reasonably estimable, no accrual is established, but if the matter
is material, it is subject to disclosures. The Company believes that liabilities associated with any claims, while possible, are not
probable, and therefore has not recorded any accrual for any claims as of December 31, 2019. Further, while any possible range
of loss cannot be reasonably estimated at this time, the Company does not believe that the outcome of any of these proceedings,
individually or in the aggregate, would, if deterrmined adversely to it, have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or
business, although an adverse resolution of legal proceedings could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations or cash flow in a particular quarter or year.

Contingencies

Certain of the Company’s revenues are subject to sales and use taxes in certain jurisdictions where it conducts business
in the United States. During 2019 and 2018, the Company estimated a sales and use tax liability of $10,220 and 38,643,
respectively, was probable related to revenues in multiple jurisdictions with respect lo revenues in the years ended December
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and prior years. This amount is included in accrued expenses and other tiabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company also estimated a sales and use tax receivable of
$3,346 and $5,246, respectively, related to the estimated recoverability of a portion of the liability from customers. This amount

is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Additional future information obtained from the applicable jurisdictions may affect the Company’s estimate of its
sales and use tax liability. but such change in the estimate cannot currently be made.

22. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Quarterly results for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

2019
First Second Third Fourth
TOLAl TRVEIUES. v eterrrrretraisersessresersssresressesansensansanseeessmsessessnesassnens $ 199666 $ 224445 § 236,080 $ 239,936
Income (loss) from OPErationS. ...t (8,737} {20,257) (128) 13,049
Net income (loss) attributable to Envestnet, Inc. ...coveenenirnenee. (18,185) 893 (3,080) 3,590
Net income (loss} per share attributable o Envestnet, Inc.:
BASIC oottt b st e sr e srs s sasa e nnrnees $ (0.38) $ 002 % (0.06) $ 0.07
DA™ ettt s g (038) § 002 % (0.06) $ 0.07
2018
First Second Third Fourth
TOLAl FEVENUES. .....oieieereeiteriaririrenrseecssenrassmssmssnsnn e shes oo e e renns $ 198011 $ 201,116 $§ 203,156 § 210,080
[ncome (loss) from OPErAIONS....cvvv e veen e vt {(738) 5 3,395 11,503
Net income (loss) atiributable to Envestniet, Inc. .ocvvvvveeeeceneen 8,104 (5,526) 2,954 223
Net incomes (loss) per share attributable to Envestnet, Inc.:
BASICT) .ottt ee st a s Rt e $ 0.18 § 0.12) $ 006 $ —
Diluted™@ oo ettt ettt $ 0.17 § (0.12) $ 006 3 —

(1) Quarterly values may not sum to annual values due to rounding.
(2) Quarterly values may not sum to annual values due to differences in quarterly dilution compared to year to date dilution.

114



Table of Contents

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our interim chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures.” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a
company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms and (ii} accumuliated and communicated to our management, including its principal executive and
principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving
their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures.

Based on this evaluation, our interim chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that, as of
December 31. 2019, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

b. Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and include
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thal, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management
and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use.
or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Our management, including our interim chief executive officer and chief financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 using the criteria established in the updated Internal
Control — Integrated Framework {2013} issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO0). Based on the assessment, management determined that the Company maintained effective intemal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2019.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP. has issued a report concerning the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of Decemnber 31, 2019. See Part I, Item 8, “Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm™.

On April 1, 2019 we acquired certain of the assets and assumed certain of the liabilities of the PortfolioCenter business
(“PortfolioCenter”) and on May 1, 2019 we acquired all of the issued and outstanding membership interests of PIEtech, Inc.
("PIEtech™), collectively (the “Acquired Companies™). Since the date of these acquisitions, we have been analyzing and
evaluating the procedures and controls of these companies to determine their effectiveness and to make them consistent with
our procedures and controls. As permitted by the SEC, management has excluded the Acquired Companies from its assessment
of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. PortfolioCenter’s revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2019 totaled $6.705. As of December 31, 2019, PortfolioCenter's total assets represented $25,955 of
consolidated total assets. PIEtech’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 totaled $30,315. As of December 31, 2019,
PIEtech's total assets represented $579,832 of consolidated total assets.

c. Changes in Internal Conirel Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31,
2019. that have materially affected, or were reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal contro! over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Part 111
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, which will be filed within 120 days
after the close of the 2019 fiscal year, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Information required by this [tem relating to our executive officers and other corporate officers is included under the
caption “Information about our Executive Officers” in Part I, ltem | of this report.

We have adopled a code of ethics that applies to all of our employees, including our principal executive officer, our
principal financial officer and our principal accounting officer. This code of ethics is posted on our website. The internet
address for our website is www.envestnet.com, and the code of ethics may be found from our main web page by clicking first
on “Investor Relations™ and then “Corporate Governance,” and then on “Code of Conduct”.

We intend to disclose any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this code of ethics by posting such
information to our website, al the address and location specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, which will be filed within 120 days
after the close of the 2019 fiscal year, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, which will be filed within 120 days
afler the close of the 2019 fiscal year, and is hereby incorporated by reference. For a description of securities authorized under
our equity compensation plans, please refer to our Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this [tem will be included in our Proxy Statement, which will be filed within 120 days
after the close of the 2019 fiscal year, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this [tem will be included in our Proxy Statement, which will be filed within 120 days
after the close of the 2019 fiscal year, and is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(aK1)

(@)(2)

(b)

Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public ing Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018

Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for each of the years ended
December 31, 2019. 2018, and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders® Equity for each of the vears ended December 31,

Page Number in

Form 10-K

2019, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the vears ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017

Notes to Consolidated Fi i men

Evaluation and Qualifying Accounts

Financial statements and schedules are omitted for the reason that they are not
applicable, are not required, or the information is included in the financial statements or the
related notes.

Exhibits: The Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Index to the
Exhibits on pages 119 to 121 of this report, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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Exhibit No.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

31

32

4.7

438

4.89

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Envestnet, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165717), filed with the SEC on July 1, 2010
and incorporated by reference herein).

m nd Restated Bylaws of Envestnet, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3 m ’s Registration Statement
n Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165717), filed_with the SEC on July 1, 2010 and incorporated b
reference herein).

Indenture, dated as of May 25, 2018, by and between the Company, Envesinet Asset Management, Inc. and
LJ.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on May 25, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein).

Warrant issued to Blackhawk Investment Holdings, LLC (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 3-K filed

with the SEC on December 20, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 20, 2018, between the Company and BlackRock, Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8 -K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2018 and incorporated by
reference herein).

Technology and Services Agreement dated as of March 31, 2008, between Registrant and FMR LLC (filed as
Exhibi he Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amend i -165717), filed
with the SEC on May 6, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).**

First Amendment to Technology and Services Agrecment dated June 26, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165717). filed with the SEC on
May 6, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).

Second Amendment to Technology and Services Agreement dated May 5. 2009 {filed as Exhibit 10.3 (o the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165717), filed with the SEC on

May 6. 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).**
Third Amendment to Technology and Services Agreement dated November 16, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to

the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-1, as amended (File No. 333-165717), filed with the SEC on
May 6, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).**

Services Agreement dated December 28, 2005 between Registrant and Fidelity Brokerage Services LLC (filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Regjsiration Statement on Form S-1_as amended (File No, 333-165717),
with the SEC on May 6, 2010 ] reference herein}).**

Services Agreement effective March 24, 2005 between Registrant and Natjional Financial Services LL.C (filed
as Exhibit 10.6 to the ’s Registration Statement on Form S- File No. 333-16571
filed with the SEC on May 6, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).**

Services Agreement Amendment dated effective March 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-165717), filed with the SEC on May 6, 2010
and incorporated by reference herein).**

2010 Long- Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
as amended (File No. 333-165717). filed with the SEC on July 1, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).*

2004 Stock Incentive Plan {filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as
amended (File No. 333-165717), filed with the SEC on July 1, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).*

Form of Equity Award, filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's 2010 Form 10-K, (filed with the SEC on
March 18. 2011 and incorporated by reference herein),*

Fourth Amendment to Technology Services Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2011, between
Envestnet, Inc. and LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.1 t mpany’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 6. 2012 and incorporated by reference herein).

Amendment to Services Agreement effective December 31, 2011, between Envestnet Asset Management, Inc.
and Fidelity (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 6, 2012 and
incorporated by reference herein).

Third Amendment to Services Agreement effective December 31, 2011, between Envestnet Asset
Management, Inc. and National Financial Services LLC. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K

filed with the SEC on January 6, 2012 and incorporated by reference herein).

Envestnet, Inc. Management Incentive Plan for Envestnet | Tamarac Management Employees (filed as
Exhibit 4.3 to_the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S -8 (filed with the SEC on May [, 2012 and
incorporated by reference herein).*

First Amendment to Envestnet, Inc. Management Incentive Plan for Envestnet | Tamarac Management
Employees (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 17, 2013 and

incorporated by reference herein).*
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.18

10.19

10.2

10.21

16.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

103

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

Second Amendment to Envestnet, [nc. Management Incentive Plan for Envestnet | Tamarac Management
Employees (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13, 2013 and
incorporated by reference herein).”

Envestnet, Ing. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on February |0, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein).”

Envestnet, Inc. Director Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K/A filed
with the SEC on February 11, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein).*

2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit A to the Company’s 2015 Annual Meeting Proxy
Statement (File No. 1-34835), filed with the SEC on April 13, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein).”

Envestnet, Inc. 2015 Acquisition Equity Award Plan {filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Form $S-8 filed with

the SEC on November 19, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein).*

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2016 between the Company and Anil Arora (filed as Exhibit
10.8 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 13, 2016 and incorporated by reference
herein).*

Executive Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2016 between Judson Bergman. the Company and Envestnet Asset

Management, Inc. {filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13, 2016 and

incorporated by reference herein).*

Executive Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2016 between William Crager, the Company and Envestnet Asset
Management, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the SEC op May13, 2016 and

incorpo rence herein).*

Executive Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2016 between Peter D’ Arrigo, the Company and Envesmet Asset

Management, Ine. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13, 2016 and

incorporated by reference herein.)*

Executive Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2016 between Scott Grinis, the Company and Envesinet Asset

Management, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2016 and

ncorporated by reference herein. )*

Executive Agreement, dated as of August 2. 2016 between Josh Maver, the Company and Envestnet Assat
Management, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2016 and
incorporated by reference herein.)*

Nongqualified Stock Option Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditions for Anil Arora, dated December 12,
2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 13, 2016 and
incorporated by reference herein).*

Full Value Award Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditions for Anil Arora, dated December 12, 2015 (filed as

Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 13, 2016 and incorporated by
reference herein).*

Nonqualified Stock Option Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditions for Judson Bergman, dated May 12,
2016 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13, 2016 and incorporated

by reference herein).*

Full Value Award Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditions for Judson Bergman, dated May 2. 2016 (filed

as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13, 2016 and incorporated by reference
herein).*

Full Value Award Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditigns for William Crager, dated May 12, 2016 {filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC ori May 13, 2016 and incorporated by reference
herein).*

Full Value Award Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditions fo r D’ Arrigo, dated May 12, 2016 (fi
Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13, 2016 and incorporated by reference
herein).*

Full Value Award Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditions for Scott Grinis, dated August 2, 2016 (filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2016 and incorporated by reference
herein).*

Full Value Award Grant Certificate and Terms and Conditions for Josh Maver, dated August 2, 2016 (filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2016 and incorporated by reference
herein).*

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 18, 2017 among Envestinet, Inc., the Guarantors

from time to time party thereto, the Lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of Monireal, as
Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 24, 2017

and incomorated by reference herein).
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Exhibit No. Description

10.38  Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2017, among Envestnet, Inc., the Debtors from

time to time party thereto and Bank of Montreal, as Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 24, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.39  First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2018, among
Envestnet, Inc., the Guarantors from time to time party thereto, the Lenders from time to time party thereto, and

Bank of Montreal, as Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 30, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein}.

10.41  Second Amendment to Second Amended and Resiated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2019,
among Envestnet, Inc., the Guarantors from time to time thereto, the Lenders from time to time pa
thereto, and Bank of Montreal as Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 10-0) filed

with the SEC on November 8. 2019 and incorporated by reference herein).***

21.1  Subsidianes of the Company, filed herewith.

23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, filed herewith.

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes - Oxley Act of 2002.

321" Centification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarb -Oxley Act of 2002.

3220 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

161.INS  XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document****

101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document****
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonocmy Extension Label Linkbase Document****
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document** **
I01.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document****

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

{1) The material contained in Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 is not deemed “filed” with the SEC and is not o be incorporated by

howp

reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such
filing, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

Management contract or compensation plarn.

Certain information redacted pursuant to a grant of confidential treatment by the staff of the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Certain information identified in the exhibit has been excluded as permitted by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

*#**  Attached as Exhibit 101 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the following materials, formatted in Inline XBRL

(Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the cover page; (ii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,
2019 and 2018; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Qperations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017; (v} the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017; (vi} the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,

{vii) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements tagged as blocks of text.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ENVESTNET, INC.

Date: February 28, 2020 /s! William C. Crager

William C. Crager
Interim Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer}

Date: February 28, 2020 /s/ Peter H D 'Arrigo

Peter H. D*Arrigo
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities on February 28, 2020.

Name Position

/5! William C. Crager

— Interim Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
William C. Crager

/s’ Peter H. D '4rrigo
Peter H. D" Arrigo

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

8" Matthew J. Majoros Senior Vice President, Financial Reporting {Principal Accounting
Matthew J. Majoros Officer)
A5/ Luis Aguil
u .ws 87_'” il Director
Luis Aguilar

/st Anil Arora

- Director
Anil Arora
/5 Ross Chapin . . .
d Interim Chairman, Director
Ross Chapin
/s Gavie Crowell .
Director
Gayle Crowell
s James Fox .
Director
James Fox
s/ Valerie Mosley .
- Director
Valerie Mosley
/5" Charies Roame .
Director
Charles Roame
/8 Greg Smith .
Director

Greg Smith
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